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About Us
A 2 35 1M

As a next-generation stock investing assistant, we provide
equity investment tools, securities investment advisory, investor
education and other services for individual investors with
product offerings such as stock quote software, Stock Learning
Machine, Stock Navigator Series , Super Investor and Jiuyao
Stocks (our small-amount series products).

Implementing our  “technology + investment research”
dual-driver strategy, we have developed JF Robo-Advisor,
FinSphere Agent, FinSphere Report and other Al products
based on our Al and big data technologies, enabling us to
achieve industry leadership in innovative practice and scenario
application, and we are striving to become a lifelong partner in

investment and wealth management for our customers.

MISSION

To make investment and wealth management simpler and more
professional, and enhance the sense of happiness in investment
and wealth management

VISION

To become clients' lifelong partner in investment and financial
management

VALUES

Customer-centric

BAR B Ry

Embrace change

12k 314

Innovation

R

Integrity
B
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- Shanghai Jiufangyun was officially established.

- Shanghai Jiufangyun obtained the securities investment
consulting license.

- Yintech Holdings Group acquired Shanghai Jiufangyun.

- The 1.0 version of Hui Investment App (the predecessor of
Smartlnvest Pro) was officially launched.

- The brand was upgraded to Smartinvest.

- Elected as a council member of the Seventh General
Assembly of Members of the China Securities Association.

- Three R&D courses were selected as the online procu-
rement courses of the China Securities Association.

- Obtained the dual certifications of ISO/IEC 27001 and
ISO/IEC 27701.

- Received the industry's first Certificate for Data Security
Management Capability issued by the China Aca-demy of
Information and Communications Technology.

- Listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (9636.HK).

- Held the 2023 JF Robo-Advisor Press Conference for
the launch of the first digital human, "Jiu Ge".

- Signed a cooperation agreement with iFLYTEK to jointly
establish an artificial intelligence laboratory.

- Successfully included in the Hong Kong Stock Connect
and officially took effect.

- The stock quote software Smartinvest App was newly launched.
- Completed the filings of the deep synthesis service algorithm
of FinSphere with the Cyberspace Administration of China.

- Exclusively sponsored CBN's domestic live broadcast of

"Berkshire Hathaway Annual Shareholders Meeting" for

consecutive years.

- Listed on the "2024 My Favorite Chinese Brands" at the
China Brand Day .

- Newly launched the industry's first stock learning mac-
hine product, "Enjoy-Stock Pad".

- The Company underwent a strategic upgrade, with its name
officially changed to "JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd".

1996 SRR
R 1998 SRR

2021 SRR
2022 SRR
2023 SRR
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Corporate Information

ATEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Wenbin (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. CHEN Jigeng

Mr. ZHANG Peihong (Appointed on May 20, 2024)
Mr. CAl Zi (Resigned on April 22, 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. YAN Ming
Ms. CHEN NINGFENG

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. ZHAO Guoqing
Mr. FAN Yonghong
Mr. TIAN Shu

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Dr. ZHAO Guoqing (Chairman)
Mr. FAN Yonghong
Mr. TIAN Shu

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dr. ZHAO Guogqing (Chairman)
Mr. CHEN Wenbin
Mr. TIAN Shu

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. CHEN Wenbin (Chairman)
Dr. ZHAO Guoging
Mr. TIAN Shu

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LEUNG Wing Han Sharon
Mr. TAO Qitao

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. CHEN Wenbin
Mr. TAO Qitao
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COMPLIANCE ADVISOR

Maxa Capital Limited

Unit 2602, 26/F, Golden Centre
188 Des Voeux Road Central
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

AUDITOR

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road, Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

Unit 2001, 20th Floor of Golden Centre, No.188 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS AND HEAD
OFFICE IN THE PRC

16/F, Yintech Finance Center
88 Xumin East Road

Qingpu District

Shanghai, PRC

LEGAL ADVISOR

As to Hong Kong laws:
Linklaters

11th Floor, Alexandra House
Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong
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Corporate Information

ATIEH

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Center
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Merchants Bank, Shanghai Changde Branch
Room 310, Baohua Building

No.1211, Changde Road

Shanghai, PRC

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
Unit B B/F & G/F, Unit C G/F

1-3/F, 16/F Room 01 & 18/F

Wheelock House

20 Pedder Street, Central

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
9636

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.jfztkg.com/IR.html
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT

Five-Year Financial Summary

AFMBRE

A IR

Year ended December 31,
HE12A31HILEE
2021 2022 2023 2024

20214 20224 20235 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR

2020
20204
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Revenue g 708,675
Gross profit EF 635,630
(Loss)/profit for the year FER(HE),/
A 86,682
(Loss)/profit attributable RORAERBER
to equity shareholders (L (B518)
of the Company vl 86,144

1,451,922 1,850,141 1,965,387 2,305,986
1,258,812 1,614,865 1,643,264 1,894,142

232,331 460,554 190,719 272,365

232,178 460,554 190,719 272,365

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF (GEASHEAFIRAER

FINANCIAL POSITION

As of December 31,
®12A31H
2021 2022 2023 2024

20215 20225 20235 20244
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TR ARETR ARETR

2020

2020%F

RMB’000

AR¥T T

Total assets WEE 606,787

Total liabilities wmas 609,896

Total equity FEREE (3,109)

Equity attributable to

equity shareholders of RARERRR

the Company FEfL R (2,221)

1,183,525 1,363,164 2,458,606 3,789,389
1,114,303 833,741 943,809 2,185,055
69,222 529,423 1,514,797 1,604,334

69,222 529,423 1,514,797 1,604,334
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHE

Dear Shareholders:

In 2024, China withstood economic challenges amid complex
environment and experienced structural reform in the capital
market. Under the policy guidance of “pursuing progress while
maintaining stability, and promoting stability through progress”,
the A-share market staged a V-shaped upturn. Continuous policy
refinements together with transformation and upgrade of economic
structure laid a firmer foundation for the capital market, enabling
it to demonstrate strong resilience against volatilities and unleash
robust vitality under policy transmission.

As a “next-generation stock investing assistant”, we adhere to
the concepts of rational investing, value investing and long-term
investing. We advance side by side with investors, go through
market cycles together, and share the benefits of China’s economic
growth with them. Over the past year, with our strategic focus,
we developed a multi-dimensional product structure, promoted
the implementation of our “technology + investment research”
dual-driver strategy and deeply integrated Al technology into the
ecosystem of our products and services, solely for the aim of
providing customers with investment and wealth management
services that are simpler, more professional and happier.

Due to the strategic planning precisely made by the Company,
and thanks to the relentless efforts of all our employees and our
management team, we achieved high-quality growth, steadily
improved operational efficiency and significant revenue uplift albeit
challenges. We will continue to focus on simultaneously enhancing
our product strengths and operational efficiency. Leveraging on
our profound understanding of the capital market and individual
investors and anchoring ourselves to in-depth study and application
of investment research, we are committed to becoming “a lifelong
partner in investment and wealth management for our customers”.

n JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024
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REVIEW OF YEAR 2024

Developing a multi-dimensional product structure for the
promotion of revenue diversification

Embracing a customer-centric philosophy, we developed a
full life-cycle multi-dimensional product structure. We actively
diversified our revenue structure through deep integration and
upgrading and innovative R&D activities. Specifically, we integrated
our large-amount software products to centralize the delivery of
our expertise in investment advisory services. We launched the
industry-pioneering Stock Learning Machine to fill the market gap
and promote investor education. We enriched our product offerings
in the small-amount series to meet the diverse customer needs and
deeply explore the potential of long tail markets. We stepped up in
accelerating the platform-based transformation of Apps to further
sharpen our product strengths and operational capabilities and
comprehensively enhance users’ experience.

Currently, we have formed four main product lines, namely “Stock
Navigator Series and Super Investor”, “Enjoy-Stock Pad”, “Jiuyao
Stocks” and “Smartinvest App” for the creation of synergy effects
among products that enable us to serve a broader customer base

in a more efficient manner.

Continuing to implement our “investment research +
technology” dual-driver strategy and extensively develop
our traffic operations

As the core corporate strategy, we firmly implemented our
“investment research + technology” dual-driver approach and
continued to extensively develop our refined traffic operations.
While consolidating our own expertise in investment research,
having regarded technological innovation, research and
development as the Company’s core driving forces, we accelerated
the development of “digital intelligence” for seizing the first-mover
advantages in the “Al + investment advisory” sector.

Strengthening our “1+N” investment research system
and persisting in buyer-side investment advisory service

We strengthened our “1 research institute and N business lines”
investment research system, under which JF Financial Research
Institute became the hub covering N business lines and the whole
process. This ensured our research outcomes can respond to
customer needs and market changes in real time, directly apply to
products and empower business operations. Consistently focusing
on the “buyer-side investment advisory” concept, we boosted
the practical application of our investment research outcomes,
continued to build up stronger investment research capabilities and
consolidated our strengths in investment research, so as to bring
an enhanced investing experience and sense of acquisition.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHE

Developing the Al + investment advisory model,
continuing our R&D inputs and exploring full
empowerment for the Company

We intensively invested in R&D activities throughout the year to
actively explore all-round empowerment and practical application
of Al technology, with the direction of evolving into the JF intelligent
agent so as to foster a more complete and efficient intelligent
advisory ecosystem that creates new engines for future growth.
Specifically, we launched “FinSphere Agent”, a conversational
stock investing assistant, and “FinSphere Report”, an intelligent
investment research product, and upgraded “Jiu Ge” the digital
investment robo-advisor. We embedded smart investing tools into
our Stock Learning Machine for use in three main scenes, which
effectively improved the efficiency of knowledge conversion. We
achieved automated content production using AIGC technology.
We optimized the application of Al to the service end of
marketing thereby providing heartfelt services and doubling our
communication efficiency. We upgraded our intelligent compliance
management solution to realize full traceability of compliance,
intelligent quality inspection and risk management, which firmly set
the bottom line for business compliance through synergy between
human and machine.

Continuing to extensively develop our traffic operations
for the development of quality traffic system that can
realize traffic reuse

Drawing on the fan base that we accumulated by capitalizing on
our premium contents and long-term refined traffic operations,
we upgraded our IP matrix, enhanced our team’s professionalism
and our content compliance. In addition, we actively expanded
our presence on emerging platforms to achieve rapid growth in
fan base. Using our Smartinvest App as the media, we further
enhanced our product strengths and created a quality traffic
system that combines the converged media traffic pool in the
public domain, customers of our WeChat corporate account and
App retained users. By taking advantage of economies of scale, we
realized traffic reuse that promotes conversion of Apps and Jiuyao
Stocks towards software products and effective inter-conversion
between Jiuyao Stocks and Stock Learning Machine.

L' JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024
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OUTLOOK FOR YEAR 2025

Looking forward to 2025, we, as a “next-generation stock investing
assistant”, will continue to strengthen our competitiveness and
solidify our market leadership. To this end:

To develop a dimensional product structure to promote
business diversification

We will continue to consolidate the foundation of our large-amount
software products and enhance the products strength and
operational efficiency of our small-amount series products, Stock
Learning Machine and Smartinvest App, aiming to promote a
multi-tiered and diversified upgrade of our product structure,
strengthen internal synergy and realize revenue diversification and
sustainable growth.

To fully strengthen our team competitiveness to promote
product synergies and in-depth service delivery

In alignment with our strategy of upgrading product structure, we
will intensify our efforts on talent cultivation and internal training to
promote more professional investment research, more diversified
sales and more compliant services, in order to deliver more
precise service responsive to customers’ needs and reinforce our
comprehensive competitiveness.

To continue to deepen the all-round Al empowerment for

our product offerings, business operations and operational
management

Staying committed to innovation-driven development, we will
continue to increase our input in the research and development
of Al and other technologies. We will leverage on our in-depth Al
knowledge and carry out technological iterations to fully upgrade
the matrix of our intelligent products, explore Al applications in
the scenes of product innovation, business process optimization
and operational management, so as to achieve a comprehensive
enhancement of our product quality, operational efficiency and
management effectiveness, thereby seizing the first-mover
advantages in the “Al + investment advisory” sector.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHE

To explore opportunities for cooperation with securities
brokers to create a closed loop of services that can meet
diverse customer needs

Focusing on the innovative integration between fintech and
traditional finance, we will actively explore opportunities for
business cooperation with securities brokers and other licensed
institutions to enhance our ability in business coordination and
create a closed loop of services and scenes that can further meet
the multi-dimensional needs of customers.

Our mission and goal: Uphold our core values and
embrace long-termism

In consistent with the concepts of rational investing, value investing
and long-term investing, we will provide professional, quality and
suitable products and services to customers, help them induce right
investing concepts, deliver investor education, fulfil corporate social
responsibility through our multi-dimensional product structure. We
will also commit ourselves to promoting healthy development of the
capital market in the long run:

o We will anchor ourselves to value growth with “long-term
investing concept” and make “reasonable investment plans”
to solidify the foundation of rational investing.

° We will optimize the risk-return ratio through “investment
diversification and position sizing”, and adopt a “balanced
allocation” strategy to create scientific investment portfolios.

° We will continue to emphasize the “importance of risk
management” by maintaining investment safety margins,
make rational investment decisions with “reverence to the
market” and embrace the attitude of “lifelong learning”
throughout investment life cycles.

To put ESG in practice to drive sustainable development

We highly value sustainable development. Therefore, we promote
the integration of ESG concepts into corporate governance and
business operations, and fulfil our corporate obligations and
responsibilities at all times in such aspects as ESG governance,
investor education, data security, employee care and social
contribution:

iPAl  UF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024
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As the exclusive sponsor for CBN’s live broadcast of the Berkshire
Hathaway Annual Shareholders Meeting for years, we have
conveyed the message of “walk with time, walk with value”.
At the National Investor Protection Publicity Day on May 15,
we actively launched a series of programs to promote popular
investor education in prestigious universities. Having settled in
the “Postdoctoral Innovation Practice Base in Putuo District”,
we focus our efforts on long-term talent nurturing and promoting
fintech studies and applications. We invited the world women’s
badminton doubles champions to visit us and convey the message
of “having champion spirit and delivering paramount quality”. We
also organised poverty alleviation activities such as the “Milkyway
Charity” to promote rural revitalization.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my sincere gratitude to all of our employees and
management members for their professional contribution and
relentless dedication that enable the Company to achieve robust
development amid such a complex environment. Meanwhile,
| would also like to extend my heartfelt appreciation to our
shareholders and stakeholders for your long-standing trust and
support.

In light of the challenges and opportunities ahead, we will be
persistent in “making investment and wealth management simpler,
more professional, and enhancing the sense of happiness in
investment and wealth management”. We will actively embrace
market changes, explore emerging business while extensively
developing our principal operations, and continue to create value
for our shareholders, customers, employees and the society
through high-quality development. We deeply believe that with the
concerted effort of all our colleagues, the Company will definitely
become a trustworthy lifelong partner in investment and wealth
management for our customers, and embark on a journey of
creating long-term value with the capital market.

CHEN Wenbin
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong
April 25, 2025
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Management Analysis and Discussion

EHE 5 TR

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

As a next-generation stock investing assistant, we provide
equity investment tools, securities investment advisory, investor
education and other services for individual investors with product
offerings such as stock quote software, Stock Learning Machine,
Stock Navigator Series, Super Investor and Jiuyao Stocks (our
small-amount series products).

Implementing our “technology + investment research” dual-driver
strategy, we have developed JF Robo-Advisor, FinSphere Agent,
FinSphere Report and other Al products based on our Al and big
data technologies, enabling us to achieve industry leadership in
innovative practice and scenario application, and we are striving to
become a lifelong partner in investment and wealth management
for our customers.

Business Review

Adhering to the concepts of rational investing, value investing
and long-term investing, we insist on adopting a product-centric
approach and have developed a multi-dimensional product
structure. On top of restructuring our existing product mix,
we launched the industry’s first-ever stock learning machine,
enriched our small-amount series product matrix and advanced
the platform-based strategic upgrade of our App. Implementing
our “technology + investment research” dual-driver strategy, we
further increased our R&D investment, explored the empowerment
and application of Al and other frontier technologies to the
Company’s product offerings, business operations and operational
management. With focus on the “buyer-side investment advisory”
service, we strengthened our “1+N” investment research system
to fully penetrate our investment research into businesses and
processes, so as to professionally support our customers in
creating long-term value. Having extensively engaged in traffic
operations, we built a quality traffic system under which, we
managed to enhance our customer retention by leveraging on our
product strengths and achieved precise expansion of new customer
base. In the meantime, the Company’s operations were positively
impacted by the steady increase in trading activities and improving
investors’ confidence as the securities market staged a “V-shaped”
rebound after the introduction and implementation of a series of
favorable policies.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

During the Reporting Period, the Company realized a revenue
of approximately RMB2,306.0 million, representing a growth
of approximately 17.3% from the Corresponding Period. Profit
attributable to Shareholders amounted to approximately RMB272.4
million, representing an increase of 42.8% over the Corresponding
Period. In addition, our operating cash flow was strong. We had a
net inflow of approximately RMB1,627.8 million which represented
a significant year-on-year growth of 266.6%, fully demonstrating
the effective strategy execution and high market adaptability of the
Company.

The Company’s English name was changed from “JF Wealth
Holdings Ltd” to “JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd” and the dual
foreign name in Chinese was changed from “hA M EERER A
7 to “NABERERERAT. Given the Company’s focus on
securities-related products, the change of company name was
to accurately reflect the Company’s current principal business
and to align it with our future strategic planning of accelerating
the transformation towards digital intelligence and developing a
more comprehensive and efficient intelligent investment advisory
ecosystem.

We have always kept in mind the responsibilities of a public
company, and therefore we made our best endeavor to create
better returns for our Shareholders and investors. We had
purchased the Company’s own shares since April, 2024, and as
of June 7, 2024, share buy-back was completed. We spent a total
of approximately HKD198 million to buy back an aggregate of
17,730,000 shares. Those purchased shares were all cancelled on
June 21, 2024.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

EHE 5 TR

Developing a multi-dimensional product structure, launching
the first-ever stock learning machine and enriching our
small-amount series product matrix for the promotion of
revenue diversification

During the Reporting Period, we developed a multi-dimensional
product structure. On top of integrating and improving our existing
products, we launched the industry’s first-ever stock learning
machine and enriched our small-amount series product matrix
for the continuous enhancement of our product strengths and
promotion of revenue diversification. We have formed four main
product lines, namely “Stock Navigator Series and Super Investor”,
“Enjoy-Stock Pad”, “Jiuyao Stocks” and “Smartinvest App”. We
aim to serve a wider spectrum of customers in a more effective
manner by capitalizing on the synergies of these product lines.

° We integrated our software products and upgraded our
product strategy. In order to fully deliver our expertise in
investment advisory services and enhance our management
efficiency, we integrated our existing products under the
original “Smartinvest Pro” and “Smartinvest Info” series
into “Stock Navigator Series” and “Super Investor” based
on prices. Our “Stock Navigator Series” is built on years of
our experience in the investment advisory service industry,
which focuses around expert courses, video/text live
streaming, exclusive insights, smart investing tools and
dedicated customer service, to provide comprehensive
investment services for investors. Our “Super Investor” is
developed by our JF Financial Research Institute with the
engagement of numerous experienced investment advisors.
It encompasses features including simulated portfolios, video
live streams, expert courses, software indicators, article
columns and exclusive private investment advisory services,
and is designed to help investors induce right investing
concepts and develop scientific investment portfolios in a
comprehensive, multi-perspective and in-depth manner.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

We pioneered the industry by launching the first-ever stock
learning machine. In order to meet users’ needs, we launched
the first “Enjoy-Stock Pad (Starter Edition)” in July to fill the
market gap for professional stock learning products. This
product provides nine major areas of contents including stock
selection, timing, risk control, strategy and etc. through six
core modules, namely, course, live streaming, information,
market trends, smart investing tools and real-time trading,
based on three base systems, which are the hardware
system, Al system and investment research system. We
also launched the upgraded “Navigator Edition”, which is
equipped with the first native market software system, deeply
integrated Al features and fully upgraded hardware. The
Company expected that the launch of this product would
create a dedicated learning platform for investors, promote
popular investor education, actively fulfil corporate social
responsibilities and deepen the inclusive financial education
practice.

We enriched our small-amount series product matrix to meet
the diverse users’ needs. We launched nearly 30 lightweight
products to achieve product scalability and standardization,
which allowed us to fully explore long-tail customers.
Supported by data analysis and Al technology, these products
have all-inclusive functions including stock selection,
indicators and data, to solve customers’ problems round-the-
clock covering pre-market, intra-market, and post-market
periods, control product quality and enhance customers’
satisfaction. During the Reporting Period, our small-amount
series products were used by our subscriber customers for
more than 2.203 million times.

Platform-based transformation of Smartinvest App. We
integrated our original Smartinvest Pro and Smartinvest Info
apps into “Smartinvest App”, which benefited us in ways
of achieving strategic transformation from tools to platform
and centralizing traffic portals. Not only is it equipped with
our core products such as Stock Navigator Series, Super
Investor and Jiuyao Stocks, the App also integrates features
of market intelligence, trading, live streaming, insights and
news, providing multi-dimensional stock selection, Al stock
diagnostics, risk monitoring and other intelligent investing
services. In 2024, the App was upgraded and iterated with
20 editions to meet diverse customer needs, offer enhanced
experience and strengthen users’ stickiness.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

EHE 5 TR

Exploring full empowerment for the Company, continuing our
R&D investment and developing Al + Investment Advisory
model

We regarded innovation and technological research and
development as the Company’s core driving forces. Therefore,
we sped up the promotion of our holistic transformation towards
“digital intelligence”, vigorously developed “Al +”, actively explored
ways of all-round Al empowerment for the Company, accelerated
the development of our intelligent product offerings, digital
business operations and efficient operational management, and
promoted more in-depth Al practical applications, with the direction
of evolving into the JF intelligent agent, so as to foster a more
complete and efficient intelligent investment advisory ecosystem
that enables us to meet customer’s needs and creates new engines
for future growth.

° We explored all-round Al empowerment for the Company.

1) Empowering our product offerings: We launched
“FinSphere Agent”, a new-generation conversational
stock investing assistant, and “FinSphere Report”, an
intelligent investment research product. They provide
deep-thinking intelligent conversational investment
advisory services and intelligent research report
generation and explanation services after deep logical
reasoning and analyzing of both real-time financial news
and market data. We continuously upgraded our digital
investment robo-advisor “Jiu Ge”, which has become
more practical and user-friendly. During the Reporting
Period, “Jiu Ge” served approximately 472,000
customers, with total services reaching 32.407 million
times.

2)  Empowering our business operations: We deployed our
“Al Marketing Partners” and “Al Live Replay Summaries”
which enabled us to achieve full-process coverage
of text generation and pitch recommendations that
doubled our communication efficiency.

3)  Empowering our compliance management: The Company
developed the intelligent compliance management
solution 3.0, with which, our “Al Monitoring Officer” has
conducted approximately 1.6 billion monitoring tasks
and our “Al Inspection Officer” has assisted in over 10
million review tasks, achieving a coverage rate of 98%.
Our newly deployed “Intelligent Live Interruption System”
and “Al Smart Call” provided full intelligent control for
live streams and structured analysis of call conversations
to ensure full traceability coverage, intelligent quality
inspection, and intelligent risk control.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

Our Al research and development and privacy protection
were recognized. During the Reporting Period, we became a
member of the Chinese Association for Artificial Intelligence
(CAAI), signifying that the Company has been recognized
for its core Al R&D technologies and achievements in the
financial sector. We were one of the first investment advisory
industry players who were awarded the “One-Star Rating
for Personal Information Protection Impact Assessments
Label” by the Data Security Working Committee of the China
Cybersecurity Industry Alliance for our assurance of the
legality, legitimacy, and necessity of personal information
processing activities. We completed the filings of the deep
synthesis service algorithm under the FinSphere algorithm,
signifying that the Company has gained recognition from
both the industry and the regulators for the controllability and
security of its Al technology, which provides technical support
for the comprehensive upgrade of its financial services.

The Company established a professional Al R&D team to
deepen the collaboration among the industry, academic and
research sectors by way of externally engaging cooperation
with universities, scientific research institutions and financial
institutions. The team presented a number of research papers
at Al conferences such as the International Conference
on Computational Linguistics (COLING) and the annual
conference of the North American Chapter of the Association
for Computational Linguistics (NAACL), and three of which
about innovative conversational systems and the direction
of refinements to efficient parameters for large language
models (LLMs) were accepted. With the integration of the
industry, academic, research and application, we developed
1) the bases for our Al technology, which are FinSphere
and FinSphere Retrieval; 2) the Apps for our Al investment
advisory and research services, which are FinSphere Agent
and FinSphere Report; and 3) our intelligent marketing
platform and intelligent compliance and risk control platform,
which have been fully applied to the Company’s products and
services.

We continuously strengthened our R&D capabilities and
investment: During the Reporting Period, we invested
approximately RMB319 million in R&D activities, representing
an increase of 10.9% over the Corresponding Period. Such
R&D investment accounted for approximately 13.8% of
the Company’s total revenue. In addition, as of the end of
the Reporting Period, we had 136 software copyrights and
patents on product features, big data and Al, that was 52
more than last year.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

EHE 5 TR

Persisting in buyer-side investment advisory, achieving full
penetration of our investment research capabilities and
strengthening our “1+N” investment research system
Implementing our “technological research + investment research”
dual-driver strategy, we developed an investment research system
consisting “1 research institute and N business lines”. With the
establishment of our JF Financial Research Institute, we used our
investment research capabilities to fully empower all of our business
lines and processes. With our persistent focus on “buyer-side
investment advisory”, we leveraged on our extensive knowledge in
Chinese capital markets and individual investors and paid emphasis
on the practical application of investment research subjects, we
delivered accessible, personalized, and heartfelt services to bring
an enhanced investing experience and sense of acquisition to our
customers.

o We persisted in “buyer-side investment advisory” and
emphasized the application of our investment research. In
the single month of December, our professional stock review
programs output an average of approximately 22 shows
per day, with a total duration of nearly 13 hours, covering
pre-market, intra-market, and post-market periods every
day. We engaged active interactions with investors and
answered their questions. The average number of inquiries
per day exceeded 2,500. To further improve the system of
providing courses on our Stock Learning Machine, our JF
Financial Research Institute has designed more than 218 sets
of self-developed quality courses, with a total of more than
1,300 sessions and a total of over 12,000 minutes. It also
developed a course system on nine dimensions, which will be
continuously updated to achieve full coverage of investment
hotspots.

° We continued to build up stronger investment research
capabilities: We launched the “Investment Research Navigator
Program” and produced our “Smart Investment Research”
creative lightweight video program, to timely respond and
analyze market hotspots, helping investors immediately seize
investment opportunities. The program has broadcast 9
episodes. Moreover, we continued to deliver our professional
and authoritative investment research output through
“Quarterly Strategy Conference + Annual Summit”, providing
investors with professional and forward-looking macro
perspectives and strategic outlooks, aiming at guiding them
to practice rational investing, value investing and long-term
investing.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

° We consolidated our investment research capabilities at JF
Financial Research Institute: During the Reporting Period,
we engaged our team consisting of 119 experienced
professionals (who were specialized in research, investment,
financial engineering and other fields) to conduct 110 on-site
studies on listed companies during the year. We issued
over 1,100 in-depth analysis papers covering studies on
macroeconomy, industry trends and business fundamentals,
and designed 106 themed courses for strengthening the
development of our knowledge system. We also placed great
importance on building our team of licensed professionals
and high-caliber talents. As of December 31, 2024, according
to the information available on the official website of the
Securities Association of China, we had 342 employees who
possessed qualifications for securities investment advisors
and 1,703 employees who possessed qualifications for
securities practitioners. Moreover, we adopted a long-term
talent strategy of postdoctoral cultivation for further enhancing
our competitiveness in investment and technological research
and our strengths in corporate innovation.

Continuing extensive development of our traffic operations for
the establishment of quality traffic system and the realization of
traffic reuse

We continued extensive development of our traffic operations
by making synchronized efforts across all platforms. While
accumulating fans capitalizing on our premium contents and
long-term refined traffic operations, we further strengthened the
professionalism of our IP team and the compliance of our contents,
and used our Smartlnvest App as the media to continuously
enhance our product strengths and create synergy with our
small-amount series products and Stock Learning Machine. The
advantage of economies of scale has benefited us by realizing
traffic reuse which supports conversion of software products and
App downloading and saving, allowing us to create a quality traffic
system that combines the converged media traffic pool in the
public domain, customers of our WeChat corporate account, and
App retained users.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

EHE 5 TR

22

We continued to expand our presence on platforms. During
the Reporting Period, apart from our established presence
on Douyin and WeChat Channels, we explored Kuaishou and
tapped into platforms such as Xiaohongshu and Bilibili, to
achieve high accessibility to customers, increase our brand
exposure, optimize our live broadcast efficiency and enhance
viewers’ experience through short video + live broadcast
approach. The live broadcasts lasted over 49,800 hours
cumulatively with 26,500 sessions, representing a growth
of over 110% from the Corresponding Period. During the
Reporting Period, we operated 152 new MCN accounts on
different internet platforms. As of December 31, 2024, we
had 526 MCN accounts and attracted approximately 50.05
million followers, as compared to approximately 11.15 million
followers in the Corresponding Period.

We upgraded our IP matrix. Emphasizing the importance
of compliance operations, all our IPs are required to be
qualified as securities practitioners and undergo a full process
of compliance audit on their contents. Emphasizing the
importance of content quality, we focused on cultivating
outstanding IPs with solid professional knowledge.
Emphasizing the importance of talent resources, we
established a comprehensive talent nurturing system to speed
up our incubation of new IPs.

We actively promoted popular investor education and
enhanced brand influence. At the National Investor Protection
Publicity Day on May 15, we organized the “Shareholders
Are Here” event jointly with Everbright Securities to attract
investors’ participation in the education on rational investing
through short videos and live broadcasts on all of the
Company’s platforms, together with the active promotion
by traditional media such as Hubei TV and China Business
Network (CBN). As of December 31, 2024, we have exclusively
sponsored CBN’s live broadcast of the Berkshire Hathaway
Annual Shareholders Meeting for the fifth consecutive year.
We produced the live broadcast program “Buffett and Seven
Lunches”, in which we invited seven renowned economists
and industry experts to analyze and explore the wisdom
and insights of Warren Buffett in investing, and conveyed
the concept of “walk with time, walk with value”. The live
broadcast recorded a total online viewership of nearly 227
million. Through these initiatives, we have not only deepened
investor education but also further enhanced our brand
influence and reputation.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

Key Businesses

We principally engaged in the provision of financial software sales
and services to customers using our Smartinvest App as the media.
During the Reporting Period, we upgraded our product strategy by
integrating our existing products under the original Smartinvest Pro
and Smartinvest Info series into Stock Navigator Series and Super
Investor based on prices. Currently, our main products for sale are
Stock Navigator Series, Super Investor and Jiuyao Stocks, from
which we derive our revenue.

Business Operation

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our key operating
indicators for the Reporting Period:
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Year ended December 31, YOY change
HBE12A1HLEE FILL 2 E)
2024 2023 (%)
20245 2023F (%)
Financial software sales and services SRR SHE R RS

Gross billings (RMB million) MBS (AREBEER) 3,505.9 2,347.7 49.3
Number of paying users NERFEE 181,543 72,803 149.4

Gross Billings HEETESEH

We achieved growth in both our gross billings and the number
of paying users. During the Reporting Period, our gross billings
reached approximately RMB3,505.9 million, representing a growth
of 49.3% as compared with the Corresponding Period. The number
of our paying users reached 181,543, representing an increase
of approximately 149.4% as compared with the Corresponding
Period. Such increases were primarily driven by our determination
to thriving in our principal business through active development
of a multi-dimensional product structure; our adherence to
pursuing “technology + investment research” through increased
R&D investment in Al technology for full empowerment for the
Company’s business and practical application; our implementation
of the “buyer-side investment advisory” concept by deepening
the practical application of our investment research outcomes
and providing professional, warm and proactive services, which
enhanced customers’ investing experience and effectively boosted
subscription renewals and service upgrades; our development of
quality traffic system which allowed us to precisely expand a new
customer base; and the recovery of the capital markets which led
to stronger demand for the Company’s products and services.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

EHE 5 TR

Refund Rate

During the Reporting Period, the refund rate of our financial
software sales and services remained generally stable at
approximately 21.8%, representing a marginal increase of 1.8
percentage points as compared with the Corresponding Period
(2023: 20.0%). Given our development of multi-dimensional product
structure and continued improvement of our service quality based
on our in-depth understanding of customers needs, we maintained
a relatively high level of customers’ satisfaction. Thanks to the
efficient coordination among internal departments, our service
response efficiency was significantly enhanced. Our persistent
focus on the “buyer-side investment advisory” concept brought
an enhanced investing experience and sense of acquisition to our
customers. Coupled with the recovery of the capital markets, the
level of our refund rate significantly reduced when compared with
that in the interim period of 2024.

We have set up a special “Customers’ Satisfaction Survey” module
on our Smartinvest App. In the fourth quarter of 2024, we received
over 40,000 real user reviews, with an average score of 4.69 out of
5. Users who gave rating of satisfied or above accounted for 94%
of the total. For users who expressed dissatisfaction, we arranged
follow-ups under our review mechanism and we formulated
improvement solutions to enhance our product strengths after
multi-dimensional analysis and discussion.

Business Outlook

During the Reporting Period, China’s economy withstood challenges
from the complex environment and achieved the annual growth
target of 5%. The domestic capital market experienced structural
changes where A-stocks rallied after an initial fall and a significant
annual hike was seen in major broad-based indices. Although the
downward trend continued from 2023 through early this year, with
the intensive policy introductions and adjustments, the market
faced a pivotal turning point: With the promulgation of the “New
National Nine Opinions” in April 2024 kicking off a new round of
systemic reforms in the capital market, coupled with the roll-out of
a raft of incremental policies in September, social confidence has
been strongly boosted which drove a market rebound. The highest
daily market turnover exceeded RMB3.5 trillion and maintained
relatively high volatility. On the whole, despite a complex external
environment and weak global economy, the strong domestic policy
support and continuous optimization of economic structure in China
have laid a solid foundation for the capital market which has also
displayed strong resilience amid fluctuations. The market has been
invigorated by policy transmission mechanisms, creating abundant
investment opportunities for investors.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

We will adhere to our principles of rational investing, value
investing and long-term investing to help customers induce right
investing concepts, practice investor education, fulfil corporate
social responsibility and commit ourselves to promoting healthy
development of the capital market in the long run. In this regard,
we will: 1) target value growth with our “long-term investing
concept” and firmly lay a rational foundation by making “reasonable
investment plans”; 2) optimize the risk-return ratio through
“investment diversification and position sizing”, and adopt our
“balanced allocation” strategy to create scientific investment
portfolios; 3) continue to emphasize the “importance of risk
management” by maintaining investment safety margins, make
rational investment decisions with “reverence to the market” and
embrace the attitude of “lifelong learning” throughout investment
life cycles.

Looking forward to 2025, we, as a next-generation stock investing
assistant, will continue to strengthen our competitiveness, solidify
our market leadership and strive to make investing and wealth
management easier yet more professional, and enhance the
happiness of investment and wealth management. To this end:

° We will develop a three-dimensional product structure to

promote business diversification

While consolidating the foundation of our software products,
we will continue to enhance the product strengths and
operations of our small-amount series products, Stock
Learning Machine and Smartinvest App through upgrading
our system on a multi-layered and diversified basis to create
product synergies and a diversified revenue structure.

° We will fully strengthen our team’s competitiveness to

promote product synergies and in-depth service delivery
In alignment with our strategy of upgrading product structure,
we will intensify our efforts on talent cultivation and internal
training for more professional investment research, more
diversified sales and more compliant services, thereby driving
an upgraded comprehensive competitiveness of our business
team.
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26

We will continue to deepen the all-round Al empowerment
for our product offerings, business operations and
operational management

We will continue to increase our R&D inputs in Al and
advanced technologies, and fully upgrade the matrix of our
intelligent products, explore Al applications in the scenarios
of product innovation, business processes and operational
management leveraging on our in-depth Al knowledge
and through technology iterations, so as to achieve a
comprehensive enhancement of our product quality,
operational efficiency and management effectiveness.

We will explore opportunities for cooperation with
securities brokers to create a closed loop of services that
can meet diverse customer needs

Focusing on the innovative integration between fintech and
traditional finance, we will explore opportunities for business
cooperation with securities brokers and other licensed
institutions to enhance our ability in business coordination
and create a closed loop of services and scenarios that can
further meet the diverse needs of customers for decision-
making support and financial knowledge learning.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW B3 E1RE
Summary of Financial Results MBREHE Year ended December 31,
H#E12A31HLEE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARBT T
Revenue Wz 2,305,986 1,965,387
Cost of sales SHER A (411,844) (322,123)
Gross profit EH 1,894,142 1,643,264
Other income Hebg A 262,908 231,052
Sales and marketing expenses HEREHEBEX (1,059,513) (957,292)
Research and development expenses EER (318,780) (287,422)
General and administrative expenses —MRRITBEIX (472,807) (419,039)
Impairment reversal/(loss) on receivables 1= FRiFEEM, (B%) 1,454 (2,162)
Profit from operations G- FrEil 307,404 208,401
Finance costs g 9% (1,995) (1,660)
Profit before taxation BB Rz F 305,409 206,741
Income tax expense FreBiEx (33,044) (16,022)
Profit for the year SEREEF 272,365 190,719
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Revenue Wiz
Year ended December 31, YOY change
HE12A1HILLEE 5] &)
2024 2023
2024 20234
% of total % of total
Amount revenue Amount revenue %
e hEEE
&8 MBS x| =R d %
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBT T
Financial software CREHEERRE
sales and services 2,305,986 100 1,965,387 100 17.3
2,305,986 100 1,965,387 100 17.3
Our revenue amounted to approximately RMB2,306.0 million for HREHREZMOBRENAARY2,306.08

the Reporting Period, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 17.3%. Such increase was primarily attributable to
the increased number of our paying users and the growth of our
gross billings, driven by the development of our multi-dimensional
product structure and our continued inputs in R&D innovation. In
addition, we were also favorably impacted by the recovery of the
capital market in the fourth quarter.

Cost of Sales

Our cost of sales amounted to approximately RMB411.8 million
for the Reporting Period, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 27.8%, primarily attributable to the Company’s
continued relatively high investment in content development and
production team to focus on premium contents and strengthen its
capabilities in investment research.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit amounted to
approximately RMB1,894.1 million for the Reporting Period,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 15.3%. Our
gross margin was approximately 82.1% for the Reporting Period,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 1.5%,
primarily attributable to the increasing inputs by the Company in
investment research and content production.
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Other Income

Our other income amounted to approximately RMB262.9 million
for the Reporting Period, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 13.8%, primarily attributable to the impacts of an
investment loss and the receipt of a VAT refund. The VAT refund
increased by approximately RMB108.2 million, which was in line
with the increase in our gross billings during the Reporting Period.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Our sales and marketing expenses amounted to approximately
RMB1,059.5 million for the Reporting Period, representing
a year-on-year increase of approximately 10.7%, primarily
attributable to (i) the increased staff cost spent for the expansion
of the Company’s new business lines; and (ii) the increase in staff
cost paid to our marketing team in line with the growth of our gross
billings.

Research and Development Expenses

Our research and development expenses amounted to
approximately RMB318.8 million for the Reporting Period,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 10.9%,
primarily attributable to the acceleration of the Company’s
development of “digital intelligence”, which led to an increase in the
cost invested in research and development.

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses amounted to
approximately RMB472.8 million for the Reporting Period,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 12.8%,
primarily because (i) we spent an additional of RMB29.0 million on
the cost of our general and administrative staff to accommodate
our business growth; and (ii) the depreciation of right-of-use
assets increased by approximately RMB20.7 million, which was
attributable to the Group’s diversified business development and
expansion, for which we entered into new lease agreements to
enlarge our office and operating areas.

Income Tax Expense

During the Reporting Period, we recognized an income tax expense
of approximately RMB33.0 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately RMB17.0 million, primarily attributable to
the increase in our profit from operations.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, we realized a profit of approximately
RMB272.4 million for the Reporting Period, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 42.8%.

EHE 5 TR
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FINANCIAL POSITION

Capital Structure of the Group

By considering the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital, the Group manages its capital to ensure
that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximizing the return to shareholders through the
optimization of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure
of the Group consists of debt, mainly including contract liabilities,
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and accrued
expenses and other current liabilities, and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising share capital and reserves.
The Group does not have long-term borrowings or other interest-
bearing borrowings.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Our cash and other liquid financial resources (comprising cash
and cash equivalents, financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss and financial assets purchased under resale
agreements) amounted to approximately RMB3,220.7 million as
of December 31, 2024, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately RMB1,121.4 million. Our net cash generated from
operating activities was approximately RMB1,627.8 million as
of December 31, 2024, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately RMB1,183.8 million. Our business is primarily a cash
flow business, and therefore the significant growth in our gross
billings increased our cash inflows. We used a portion of our cash
for share buy-back.

Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2024, our gearing ratio was 57.7% (as of
December 31, 2023: 38.4%), calculated by dividing total liabilities
by total assets.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

Our capital expenditures consist of payments for purchases of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. Our capital
expenditures were approximately RMB7.7 million as of December
31, 2024, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately
RMB4.1 million.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

We have established policies to stipulate the approval process for
the purchase of funds and wealth management products, as well
as the person/department responsible of the implementation of
the policy. Our investment decisions are made on a case-by-case
basis and after thorough consideration of our cash flow and
operational needs. We have established a dedicated Investment
Decision Committee, which is responsible for the final decision on
the investment of wealth management funds and provides guiding
opinions. The core members include the CEO, the head of the
investment department, and the head of the office of the board.
Each transaction for the purchase of funds and wealth management
products is initiated by our investment department and must
be reviewed by the compliance department and internal legal
personnel, the finance department, and the general manager office.

The Company adheres to enhancing the operational efficiency
of cash by scientifically allocating idle funds, after meeting the
capital requirements for the Group’s daily operations. With strict
control over investment risks, it aims to achieve long-term and
stable appreciation of investment assets. In asset allocation, the
Company primarily focuses on low-risk fixed-income-like products,
moderately increases the allocation of quantitative neutral products,
and optimizes portfolio returns and risks. By establishing a white-
list access mechanism and a research database, it streamlines the
investment decision-making process, enhancing the scientific and
forward-looking nature of investments.
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As at December 31, 2024, the Group held one financial product
with a value of 5% or more of the Group’s total assets, with a
proportion of 5.66%. Please refer to “Notes to the consolidated
financial statements — Financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss — Note (vii)” in this Annual Report. The details
of the financial products are listed as follows:

MR2024F 128318 » AEBEFE1RERN
AEBHBREES %I ULNEHESR » LAl
£5.66% c ESEAEERE ST KR
Kt —RAFEFEEEESH T AEEN
SREE - M Vi)l - ZEREMPNFER
T

Realized gains ~ Approximate
or losses for unrealised
thetwelve  GainorLoss  Approximate
Principal month period for the Fair Value Fair value
amount as of ended  Yearended  Change as of as of
December 31, Investment December31, December31, December 31, December 31, Asset
Name of Counterparty Product Name 2024 Mandate 2024 2024 2024 2024 Ratio®!
2024
fﬁ A3t EE BEnuE
_ 12R31EL  #E20uF
120045 TERMREY FREH 12A318 2024k
12831A EERME  muken Wy 12A31B
HFheR Enehl A8 REER gBE  bEgRR  ATESE WATE ARt
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB'000)
(ARETT) (ARETR) (AR®TR) (AR%FRn) (ARETR)
Panhou Weiran (Shanghai) Private Panhou Weiran - Wisdom Selection 243,780 Note 2 (4.841) (23,984) (29,337) 214,443 5.66%
Fund Management Limited No. 10 Private Securities
Investment Fund
SERA(LB)LEES EERA-E2RE108 Hiz2
EBERAR nEE5REES

Note 1:  The asset ratio set out in this table is computed by dividing the fair
value of the relevant products as at December 31, 2024 by the total
assets of the Group as at December 31, 2024.

Note 2:  The initial subscription amount is RMB60.1 million, not exceeding

RMB330 million within 12 months commencing from the date of the
investment agreement.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

Panhou Weiran — Wisdom Selection No. 10 Private Securities
Investment Fund is issued and operated by Panhou Weiran
(Shanghai) Private Fund Management Limited (a third party
independent of the Company and connected persons of the
Company). The investment scope of Panhou Weiran — Wisdom
Selection No. 10 Private Securities Investment Fund includes: cash
management instruments, equity investment instruments, debt
investment instruments, publicly-offered securities investment
funds, financial derivatives, private securities investment funds
hosted by institutions with securities investment fund custody
qualifications, and asset management plans for securities
investment managed by securities and futures management
institutions, bank deposits, warrants or other investment
instruments as permitted in accordance with the terms of the Fund
Agreements. As of December 31, 2024, the underlying investment
of the Panhou Weiran Wisdom Select Private Securities Investment
Fund No.10 has been made to cash management instruments and
private securities investment funds.

Panhou Weiran (Shanghai) Private Fund Management Limited
(“Panhou Weiran”), is a limited company incorporated under
the laws of the PRC on December 3, 2014, which is held by Xu
Yurong as to 83.33% and Chen Xinyuan as to 16.67%. Panhou
Weiran is primarily engaged in private securities investment fund
management services. As of December 31, 2024, the cumulative
AUM of Panhou Weiran is approximately RMB9,421 million.

For more detailed information on the Panhou Weiran — Wisdom
Selection No. 10 Private Securities Investment Fund, please refer
to the announcements of the Company respectively dated May 19,
2023 and June 6, 2023.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

On March 8, 2024, JF Information, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an equity transfer
agreement to conditionally acquire the entire equity interest
of Guangfa Insurance (the “Guangfa Acquisition”). The total
consideration payable by JF Information for the Guangfa Acquisition
is RMB52,000,000. Please refer to the relevant announcements of
the Company for more detailed information. As of December 31,
2024, JF Information has paid RMB36,400,000 of the consideration.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have detailed future
plans for material investments or capital assets.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS BY THE GROUP

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not pledge any assets as
collateral for bank borrowings or any other financing activities (as of
December 31, 2023: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2024, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities (as of December 31, 2023: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

During the Period, most of transactions denominated in non-RMB
were denominated in U.S. dollars and Hong Kong dollars. The
management team closely monitors foreign currency exchange
risks to ensure that appropriate measures are implemented in a
timely and effective manner. In the past, the Group has not incurred
any significant foreign currency exchange losses in its operations.
As of December 31, 2024, the Group had not used any financial
instruments for hedging purposes. The management team will
continue to closely monitor the Group’s foreign currency exchange
risks and will consider implementing appropriate measures.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The following tables set forth the number of our employees by
function as of December 31, 2024:

EHE 5 TR

18 5 R BN B3R

TRZBEEHI KB E2024F12831H
HIEEAE :

Number of

employees % of total
Employee function B SHkREE EBEAE (HRESAE(%)
Content Development and Production ARG R EYE 537 21.8
Sales and Marketing HERZH 777 31.5
Research and Development i 437 17.7
Service and Operation PR R EE 441 17.9
Administration T 276 11.2
Total #azt 2,468 100.0

We believe that on-going and continuous development of our
employees is critical to our success. We provide our employees
with tailored training programmes designed to upgrade their skills
and knowledge. We employ and promote our employees based on
their personal on-the-job performance and development potential.
The remuneration package depends on individual performance,
working experience and prevailing salary levels in the market.

BMAE EENFERREEMANRDE
HER - AMBEEREESEHHZIIR
B BERAESHNRERAR - AFIRE
BEBANTERRRBERENREARE
WIEE - HFHSBEUAMEARE - THE
BEmSRITIEKYF -
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Management Analysis and Discussion

EHE 5 TR

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

The Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on March 10, 2023, and the Over-allotment Option
(as defined in the Prospectus) was partially exercised on April 2,
2023. The Company issued a total of 59,937,000 new shares at
an issue price of HK$17.00 per share in connection with its global
offering and the partial exercise of the Over-allotment Option®,
and the gross proceeds raised by the Company from the issuance
of new shares in connection with its global offering and the partial
exercise of the Over-allotment Option amounted to approximately
HK$984.2 million (equivalent to approximately RMB873.3 million) @,
after deducting underwriting commissions and other related
expenses in connection with its global offering and the partial
exercise of the Over-allotment Option.

As at December 31, 2024, the unutilised net proceeds amounted to
approximately RMB256.7 million (the “Unutilised Net Proceeds”).
On March 27, 2025, the Board has resolved to change the use
of the Unutilised Net Proceeds. Please refer to the relevant
announcements of the Company for further details.
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Set out below are details of the re-allocation of the Unutilised
Net Proceeds. The Unutilised Net Proceeds are currently held as
bank deposits and will be used according to the changed plans as
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated March 27,

2025.

Management Analysis and Discussion

EHE 5 TR

RERAAER

BFRENENImEBRSIM
T o AEBAMBSREFEREBLURITERS
NFE » RASREARLQT2025F3827H L
ERIFENEEENTEEA -

Approximate
actual  Approximate
amount of  amount of the
utilised net  Unutilised Net Change Revised  Updated expected
Original allocation of proceeds asat Proceeds as at inuseof allocationof  timeline of
approximate amount of December 31, December 31, the Unutilised the Unutilised  full utilisation of
Intended use of net proceeds net proceeds 2024 2024  NetProceeds NetProceeds  the balances
BENuE  BENUE
12A31BHA 12A31BRHA By FEH
FREREFEN FMERESEY  ABRRE FANEFEN REBRREY
FAREFERARE FEREFENRENEMOSE MUERESE BosE NEFERR BISE  REEHEER
(Approximately ~ (Approximately  (Approximately  (Approximately  (Approximately  (Approximately
millionin HKD)  millionin RMB)  million in RMB)  million in RMB)  millionin RMB)  million in RMB)
(WEEBL) (WARMAEER) WARREERT) WARWEER) WARYEER) WARKEER)
Improvement of content 196.8 1747 45,0 129.6 (35.0) 946  Onorbefore
production capabilities December 31, 2027
RENAEEED 202712831 RAZA
Enhancement of the traffic matrix 295.3 262.0 262.0 - - - NA
EERgt TER
Improvement of technology 295.3 262.0 222.1 39.90 - 399  Onorbefore
capabilities December 31, 2027
HERMEN 2027512831 R Z A
Investments in KOLs 9.4 87.3 02 87.2 35.0 1222 Onor before
or MCNs December 31, 2027
REKOLHMCN 2027512831 A2l
Working capital and general 9.4 87.3 87.3 - - - NA
corporate purposes
EELSR-REERE FER
Total 984.2 873.3 616.6 256.7 - 256.7
&t
Notes: ¥

(1) In April 2023, the Company has received additional net proceeds of (1)

approximately HKD5.3 million for the Over-allotment Shares.

2) The gross proceeds raised by the Company from its global offering and (2]
the partial exercise of the Over-allotment Option have been converted
into RMB upon receipt.

Fr{33K

2023%F 4 AR R phiBRE AR & AR 15 UK EREE SN
EREEA53ABEBIT

ARFGE 2 IREE R BRA AR R 1T
EMEENMSRIALRE - SRUGRIE LR
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Management Analysis and Discussion

EHE 5 TR

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF OUR
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

For details of the purchase, sale or redemption of our Company’s
listed securities, please refer to the “Report of the Board” in this
Annual Report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

Taking into account the financial and cash flow positions of
the Group, the Board recommends the payment of a final
dividend of approximately HKD148.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024, representing HKDO0.33 per share (in cash),
and the proposed final dividend is subject to consideration
and approval by Shareholders at the AGM. The Company will
publish announcement, circular and notice regarding the AGM in
accordance with the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association.
The Company will also make separate announcement regarding
the record date and date of closure of register of members for the
payment of the proposed final dividend. Payment of the proposed
final dividend of the Company is expected to be made by July 10,
2025.

SIGNIFICANT SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

For details of the significant subsequent events that have occurred
since the end of the Reporting Period, please refer to the “Report of
the Board” in this Annual Report.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND ACTIVITIES FOR INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has changed its company website to www.jfztkg.
com/IR.html and its email address for investor relations to
ir@jfztkg.com.

For details of the communication with shareholders and activities
for investor relations management, please refer to the “Corporate
Governance Report” in this Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Audit Committee, which consists of
the independent non-executive Directors, being Dr. ZHAO Guoging
(chairman), Mr. FAN Yonghong and Mr. TIAN Shu. For details of the
Audit Committee, please refer to the “Report of the Board” and the
“Corporate Governance Report”.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Wenbin (BE3CH#5E4), aged 50, was appointed as a
Director on May 3, 2021. He was appointed as the chairman of
our Board in August 2021. He was redesignated as our executive
Director and appointed as our chief executive officer in December
2023.

Mr. Chen has over 20 years of experience in the financial and
investment advisory industry. From July 1997 to July 2005, he
worked at Fuzhou Tianli Investment Consultant Co., Ltd., with his
last position as general manager. Mr. Chen subsequently worked
in certain group companies of China Finance Online Co., Lid (a
company previously listed on NASDAQ with ticker symbol: JRJC)
which was a prominent web-based financial information and
service company providing securities investment advisory, data
and analytics services from August 2007 to June 2010, with his
last position as the assistant to chairman. During such period, he
gained experiences in investment product design, development
and marketing. In May 2011, Mr. Chen founded predecessors of
Yintech Holdings (previously listed on NASDAQ from April 2016
to November 2020, ticker symbol: YIN) and was in charge of their
management and overall operation. He has served as the chairman,
chief executive officer and director of Yintech Holdings since its
incorporation in November 2015, and a director of Yinke Holdings
since July 2020. Mr. Chen’s experience in managing Yintech
Holdings, lays the foundation for our Group’s evolvement to the
present state.

Mr. Chen was appointed as the permanent honorary chairman
of the Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations in October
2018 and the honorary president of Fuging Shanghai Chamber of
Commerce in November 2019. Since April 2019, he has served as
a part-time professor at the School of Economics and Management
of Dalian University of Technology. Mr. Chen obtained a double
bachelor’s degree in chemical engineering and international
enterprise management from Dalian University of Technology in
China in July 1998 and a degree of executive master of business
administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in
China in October 2009. He also obtained a securities investment
advisor license granted by the SAC in 2003.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. CHEN Jigeng (FRE Bt 4), aged 43, was appointed as our
non-executive Director on August 20, 2021. He was redesignated
as our executive Director and appointed as our executive president
in December 2023.

Mr. Chen has over 10 years of experience in the financial services
industry. He worked in Beijing Litong Tianxia Technology Co., Ltd.
from January 2010 to March 2010, and in Shanghai Zhuosheng
Information Technology Co., Ltd. Beijing Branch from April 2010 to
May 2011. He joined predecessors of Yintech Holdings in May 2011
and served as vice president of Yintech Holdings from November
2015 to December 2024.

Mr. Chen has completed the international experimental class
program at Shanghai Advanced Institute of Finance, Shanghai Jiao
Tong University (“SAIF”) in China in 2023.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEE

Mr. ZHANG Peihong (5RIZAI5E4), aged 38, was appointed as an
executive Director on May 20, 2024. As a newly appointed Director,
Mr. Zhang fully understands and solemnly promises to fulfill his
duties as a Director, and obtained relevant legal opinions on May
10, 2024.

Mr. Zhang joined the Group in June 2020 and currently serves as
a director and vice president of Shanghai Jiufangyun Intelligent
Technology Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
where he participates in its operational decision-making process
and is in charge of its business development and customer service.
He has over ten years of experience in business development,
customer service and product investment and development.

Prior to joining the Group, from June 2011 to May 2020, Mr. Zhang
served in the predecessors of Yintech Investment Holdings Limited
(a company whose American depositary receipts were previously
listed on the NASDAQ (ticker symbol: YIN) and were delisted
from the NASDAQ on November 18, 2020) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Yintech Group”), including as the executive
director and general manager of Shanghai Jinyi Information
Technology Co., Ltd., a member of Yintech Group.

Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree of economics in finance
from Shanghai Lixin University of Accounting and Finance in
the PRC in January 2016. Mr. Zhang is currently studying at an
Executive Finance Program (EFP) in Shanghai Advanced Institute
of Finance, Shanghai Jiao Tong University in the PRC, which is
expected to be completed in July 2026, and at a joint program of
Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA) in finance
by Shanghai National Accounting Institute in the PRC and Arizona
State University in the United States of America, which is expected
to be completed in August 2025. Mr. Zhang has completed the
Dark Horse Entrepreneurship Growth training program in March
2019. He has also obtained the securities practitioner qualification
from the Securities Association of China in June 2020.
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Directors and Senior Management

Non-executive Directors

Mr. YAN Ming (E&BA3t4), aged 50, was appointed as our non-
executive Director on August 20, 2021.

Mr. Yan served as the general manager of Beijing Jinghua Times
International Culture and Entertainment Co., Ltd. from August 2003
to June 2013. He founded predecessors of Yintech Holdings in May
2011 and served as a non-executive director of Yintech Holdings
from its incorporation in November 2015 until November 2020. Mr.
Yan’s experience in managing Yintech Holdings, lays the foundation
for our Group’s evolvement to the present state. He has been
appointed as a founding chairman of the Hong Kong Federation of
Jiangxi Associations in May 2018. He has also served as a director
of Yinke Holdings since February 2021.

Mr. Yan obtained a bachelor’s degree in finance from Shanxi
University of Finance and Economics in China in December 2011,
and a degree of executive master of business administration from
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in China in September
2014. He has been a student of the Entrepreneur Fellow Program
organized by the School of Economics and Management, Tsinghua
University in China since September 2019.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEE

Ms. CHEN NINGFENG, aged 56, was appointed as our non-
executive Director on August 20, 2021.

Ms. CHEN NINGFENG worked in Fuzhou Earthquake Resistance
Office from September 1990 to March 1994, where she
successively served as an assistant engineer and an engineer,
primarily responsible for the review of the seismic reinforcement
design of key construction projects and supervision of construction
work. She subsequently served as an engineer in the Fuzhou Urban
and Rural Construction Committee from March 1994 to September
2001, primarily responsible for the review of design drawings of
construction projects and the promotion of new technologies in
the construction industry. From September 2001 to September
2003, Ms. CHEN NINGFENG served as the chief engineer of
Fuzhou Anxinda Engineering Consulting Co., Ltd. and was primarily
responsible for marketing of real estate projects. She also served
as the research consultant for the North America market at
Shanghai Naide Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd. from
September 2005 to February 2011. Ms. CHEN NINGFENG founded
predecessors of Yintech Holdings in May 2011 and served as a
non-executive director of Yintech Holdings from its incorporation
in November 2015 until November 2020. Ms. CHEN NINGFENG’s
experience in managing Yintech Holdings, lays the foundation for
our Group’s evolvement to the present state. She has also served
as a director of Yinke Holdings since February 2021.

Ms. CHEN NINGFENG obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial
and civil construction from Anhui Jianzhu University (formerly
known as Anhui Institute of Architecture & Industry) in China in July
1990, and a master’s degree in management from the University of
International Business and Economics in China in June 2003. She
also obtained a certificate in continuing studies in financial analysis
and investment management from the University of Toronto in
Canada in May 2005.
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Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. ZHAO Guoqing (#EIE1#T), aged 45, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on February 20, 2023, effective
from February 28, 2023.

Dr. Zhao is currently a partner of Zhonghui Jiangsu Certified Tax
Agents Co., Ltd. since June 2016, and the technician director of
Zhonghui Certified Tax Agents Co., Ltd.. Dr. Zhao has more than
ten years of working experience in taxation authorities in China after
graduation from Yangzhou University, having first served in the
Jiangning Local Taxation Bureau of Nanjing until November 2012
with his last position as the deputy director of the audit bureau and
subsequently served with the State Administration of Taxation Tax
Cadres Training Institute until March 2016. Dr. Zhao served as an
independent non-executive director of Hailan Holdings Limited (a
company previously listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
2278, and delisted in November 2023) from December 2018 to
November 2023, and has served as an independent director of
Nanjing Develop Advanced Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 688377) since
August 2018, and as an independent director of Piotech Inc. (a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
688072) since January 2021.

Dr. Zhao is a qualified certified public accountant in China. Dr. Zhao
graduated from Yangzhou University with his bachelor’s degree
majoring in taxation in June 2002, obtained his master’s degree
in Business Administration from Nanjing University in March 2012
and obtained his doctorate degree in Business Administration from
Nanjing University in December 2018.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEE

Mr. FAN Yonghong (GEE &4, former name: JEK4L), aged
57, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director on
August 20, 2021, effective from February 28, 2023.

Mr. Fan has extensive experience in financial management. From
1988 to 1998, he held various management positions in China
Construction Bank Corporation and Huaxia Securities Co., Ltd..
Mr. Fan also served as the general manager of China Asset
Management Co., Ltd. from 1998 to 2013. From December 2013 to
April 2015, Mr. Fan served as the chief investment officer of China
Life Asset Management Company Limited). He currently serves as
the executive director of Hongshi Capital Management Co., Ltd.
since March 2016.

Mr. Fan served as the vice chairman of Securities Association
of China from 2007 to 2011 and as a member of the Issuance
Examination Committee of China Securities Regulatory Commission
from 1997 to 2001, where he was involved in the review of
listing applications of PRC companies. Mr. Fan has served as an
independent non-executive director and the chairman of audit
committee of China Feihe Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 6186) since October
2019. He also served as an independent director of Yintech
Holdings from May 2018 to November 2020.

Mr. Fan graduated from the Postgraduate Department of Institute
of Fiscal Finance under the Ministry of Finance (currently known as
the Chinese Academy of Fiscal Sciences) in July 1998 and obtained
a doctor’s degree in economics. Mr. Fan currently serves as an
external postgraduate supervisor of the Chinese Academy of Fiscal
Sciences.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. TIAN Shu (H%F5%k ), aged 61, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on August 20, 2021, effective
from February 28, 2023.

Mr. Tian has over 19 years of experience in accounting, tax and
consulting. He worked at the General Administration of Customs
prior to working at the preparatory group of the data center of the
National Electronic Port from September 2000 to June 2001. He
worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants
LLP Beijing Branch from October 2002 to May 2006, with his
last position as a senior manager. He served as the managing
partner of Beijing Hansen Taihe Consulting Co., Ltd. from July
2005 to November 2010. He then worked at Ernst & Young from
November 2010 to June 2020, where he successively served as
a senior manager, executive director and partner. He has served
as the deputy national leader of indirect tax business of Deloitte
Consulting (Shanghai) Company Limited Beijing Branch from July
2020 to April 2024.

Mr. Tian obtained a bachelor’s degree in business economics
from Shanxi Finance and Economics College (renamed as Shanxi
University of Finance and Economics in 1997) in China in July
1986. He also obtained a degree of executive master of business
administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in
China in September 2010.

ESRSRERE

HEFSEAE ' 615% © H2021 58208 EE{E
BB IEHITEE - H2023F2H28 %
o

HEEEEA19FE5 > HEZHLER -
A 20005FE9 A £2001 56 A EHERE
OFEEEHR LSS/ S IR T EREEE
£ - A2002F10 B £2006F5 8 » H{EE:
REHEXRETNESET (BHREBEER)
(Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants LLP)dt X2 F7 » BEEBATE S 4
#518 ° 200557 AE2010F11 A » HEFdt
FERFNZAERLTANEEGRA &
72010511 B £2020%6 B A% XK (Ernst &
Young)fEH » ERIEESHRKE - HITES
REBA - B2020F78F2024F48 > H
SEEAEHEEZHA (LB BRAT LR
AATNBERERZERIEEA ©

%4 741986 F 7 B X M8 Bl 1L 7H B AR 8Bk
(1997 EFEZAILAMEARE ) FELER
BLE(y  BR2010F98EEFEREIHE
BEEREBASIHEEELTEN -

2024F 3k MAERERERAST I



Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the biographical details of Mr. CHEN Wenbin and Mr. CHEN
Jigeng, please refer to “Executive Directors” in this section.
Biographical details of other members of the senior management
are as follows:

Mr. ZHANG Pengfei (REERE4E), aged 42, was appointed as
our vice president in August 2021 and ceased to serve as a vice
president of the Company with effect from March 27, 2025.

Mr. Zhang worked at Asia Finance (Beijing) Network Technology
Co., Ltd. from February 2006 to November 2007. He served as a
designer and the head of the design department at the content
operation department of Fortune Xinying Technology (Beijing)
Co., Ltd. from December 2007 to February 2010. He joined
predecessors of Yintech Holdings in May 2011 and since then
served as the marketing director of the subsidiaries of Yintech
Holdings until December 2017. He joined our Group in January
2018 and has served as a director of Shanghai Jiufangyun and
Shanghai Fudong since then. He has also served as a director of
Shanghai Yingma since December 2020.

Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from the
Institute of Online Education, Beijing Foreign Studies University in
China in January 2020. He obtained a qualification to engage in
futures business from the China Futures Association in March 2019,
and the securities practitioner qualification from the Securities
Association of China in November 2020.
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Directors and Senior Management

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LEUNG Wing Han Sharon (25884 ), was appointed as our
joint company secretary in October 2023.

Ms. Leung is a Director of Corporate Services of Tricor Services
Limited, a global professional services provider specializing in
integrated business, corporate and investor services. Ms. Leung is
a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and
a Fellow Member of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom.

Mr. TAO Qitao (FEEE5E4), was appointed as our joint company
secretary in November 2023.

Mr. Tao has over 12 years of experience in legal profession and
corporate governance, and has developed good understanding
of the Listing Rules and the relevant Hong Kong regulatory
requirements.

Prior to joining the Company in June 2023, Mr. Tao served as a
legal specialist or head of risk control and compliance department
respectively in several companies from July 2011 to July 2017. He
served as a comprehensive legal specialist of Yintech Investment
Holdings Limited from July 2017 to June 2023. He has served as a
comprehensive legal specialist of the Company since June 2023.

During his prior working experience, Mr. Tao was deeply involved in
many regulatory matters of listed companies’ compliance. Mr. Tao
passed the National Judicial Examination and has obtained legal
qualification, fund qualification and futures in the PRC. He is also
a contract senior manager as accredited by China Employment
Training Technical Instruction Center. Mr. Tao obtained his
bachelor’s degree in law from Shanghai University of Political
Science and Law in July 2011 in the PRC and his master’s degree
in law from East China University of Political Science and Law in
December 2016 in the PRC.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEE

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
particulars of Directors and senior management of the Company
during and after the Reporting Period are set out below:

Mr. CAl Zi has resigned from his position as chief executive officer
with effect from December 20, 2023 and as executive Director
with effect from April 22, 2024. Please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated December 20, 2023 and April 22, 2024,
respectively, for details.

Mr. ZHANG Peihong has been appointed as an executive Director
of the Company with effect from May 20, 2024. Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated May 20, 2024 for details.

Mr. ZHANG Pengfei ceased to serve as a vice president of the
Company with effect from March 27, 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as of the date of this Annual Report, there
is no change in the information of the Directors or chief executive of
the Company which shall be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules.
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The Board is pleased to submit this report of the Board, together
with the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
financial year 2024.

COMPANY OVERVIEW

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on May 3, 2021. The Shares
were listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange on March 10,
2023.

OUR BUSINESS

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of financial
software sales and services to customers using our Smartinvest
App as the media. The Group’s operations and geographic markets
are in the PRC.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
businesses of its major subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Board
EEEHRE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company
purchased a total of 17,730,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange for
an aggregate consideration of approximately HKD198 million (before
expenses). The purchased Shares were subsequently cancelled.
The buy-back was effected for the enhancement of shareholder
value in the long term. Details of the Shares repurchased are as
follows:

fBE HESBREAATM LT
EH

BZE2024F12A31ALFEER A2 FE
U198 EEBTNARE CRETAEBR)E
B85 517,730,000 B B 3 BT £ T O BRAD ©
EEBRAOBACHIE RERATIES
BRRERHEE - DEROFEOT :

Purchase
consideration per Share

BREEHE
Number of Aggregate
Month of purchase HE20245 Shares Highest Lowest consideration
in the year ended 12A31HIEFEER Repurchased prices prices paid
December 31, 2024 HIFEE A EfERHEE RBEE =KE ZABBEE
HKD HKD HKD
BT BT BT
April 44 8,007,500 11.40 9.02 81,613,370
May 58 5,655,500 12.58 11.14 67,532,120
June 68 4,067,000 12.70 11.02 48,900,200
Total At 17,730,000 198,045,690

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of
the subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s securities listed on the Stock Exchange (including sale
of treasury shares (as defined in the Listing Rules)) during the year
ended December 31, 2024.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company did not hold any treasury
shares.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float at all times during the Reporting
Period and as of the date of this Annual Report as required under
the Listing Rules.
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OVERVIEW OF THE COMPANY’S
PERFORMANCE DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD

As required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), a fair review of the
Group’s business, including an analysis of the Group’s financial
performance and an explanation of the possible future development
of the Group’s business, is set out in the “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual Report.
Such discussions form part of this Annual Report. Events affecting
the Company since the end of the financial year 2024 are set out
in the “Significant Subsequent Events” of this Annual Report. A
description of the main relationships between the Company and
employees, customers and suppliers, as well as other persons
who have a significant influence on the Company is set out in the
section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of
this Annual Report.

RESULTS OF THE GROUP

The results of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in
the Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss in this Annual Report.

DIVIDEND

On March 27, 2025, the Board of Directors proposed the
payment of a final dividend of HKDO0.33 per Share, amounting to
approximately HKD148.0 million, for the year ended December
31, 2024. The source of the proposed dividend payment is from
the share premium. The proposed final dividend is subject to the
approval by shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. (2023: HKDO0.22 per Share).

The Company will publish announcement, circular and notice
regarding the forthcoming annual general meeting in accordance
with the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association. The Company
will also make separate announcement regarding the record date
and date of closure of register of members for the payment of the
proposed final dividend of the Company. It is expected that the
proposed final dividend of the Company will be distributed before
July 10, 2025.
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Report of the Board
EEEHRE

According to the dividend policy of the Company, in proposing the
dividend payment, the Board has taken into account the following
criteria, including: (1) the Group’s actual and expected results
of operations and cash flow and financial position; (2) general
business conditions and business strategies of the Group; (3)
distributable profit, retained earnings and/or distributable reserves
of the Company and the members of the Group; (4) the Group’s
expected working capital requirements and future expansion plans;
(5) the Group’s indebtedness level and liquidity position; and (6)
other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Further details on the dividend policy adopted by the Company are
set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of
this Annual Report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, extracted
from the consolidated financial statements, is set out on page
7 of this Annual Report. The summary does not form part of the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the
Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to our Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the changes in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES IN ISSUE

The Company has one class of shares with a nominal value or par
value of HK$0.00001 each. During the Reporting Period, details
of the changes in the share capital of the Company and details of
the issued shares of the Company are set out in Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the changes in the reserves of the Group in 2024 are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and Note 21
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

As at December 31, 2024, the distributable reserve of the Company
was approximately RMB301.9 million (as at December 31, 2023:
RMB606.5 million). Details of the changes in equity of the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out in the Consolidated
Statements of Changes in Equity.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board is not aware of any
arrangement under which any shareholder has waived or agreed to
waive any dividends.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, charitable and other donations made
by the Group amounted to approximately RMB0.8 million (2023:
RMB5.6 million).

BONDS ISSUED
The Group did not issue any bonds during the Reporting Period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the
Reporting Period.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

In accordance with the Articles of Association and applicable
laws and regulations, each Director, auditor or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained
by him or her as a director, auditor or other officer of the Company
in defending any proceedings in which judgment is given in his/her
favour, or civil or criminal proceedings in which he/she is acquitted.

Such permitted indemnity provision is in force during the Reporting
Period. The Company has maintained liability insurance to provide
appropriate cover for the Directors.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any bank loans
or other borrowings.

LOANS AND GUARANTEES

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group did not
provide any loans or loan guarantees, directly or indirectly, to the
Directors, senior management, controlling shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective connected persons.

ASSET PLEDGE

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any assets
pledged.

CURRENT RATIO

As of December 31, 2024, our current ratio was 1.61 (as at
December 31, 2023: 2.47).

GEARING RATIO

As of December 31, 2024, our gearing ratio was 57.7% (as at
December 31, 2023: 38.4%), calculated by dividing total liabilities
by total assets.

MATERIAL INVESTMENT

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, we did not make or hold
any material investments during 2024.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

On March 8, 2024, JF Information, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an equity transfer
agreement to conditionally acquire the entire equity interest
of Guangfa Insurance (the “Guangfa Acquisition”). The total
consideration payable by JF Information for the Guangfa Acquisition
is RMB52,000,000. Please refer to the relevant announcements of
the Company for more detailed information. As of December 31,
2024, JF Information has paid RMB36,400,000 of the consideration.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, revenue from the Group’s top five
customers accounted for 0.06% (2023: 0.05%) of the Group’s
revenue for the year.

During the Reporting Period, the cost of revenue from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for 20.65% (2023: 17.28%) of the
Group’s total purchases for the same year. For the financial year
2024, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for approximately
5.23% (2023: 4.42%) of the Group’s total purchases for the same
year.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material
disputes with its customers or suppliers.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had 2,468 employees. The
total employee compensation expenses, including Directors’
remuneration, were approximately RMB1,297.3 million in 2024. The
remuneration package depends on individual performance, working
experience and prevailing salary levels in the market.

The Group’s remuneration policies are based on the prevailing
market levels and the performance of each member of the Group
and individual employees. These policies are reviewed on a
regular basis. The Group believes that on-going and continuous
development of our employees is critical to our success. Therefore,
we recognize the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with employees. We provide our employees with tailored training
programmes designed to upgrade their skills and knowledge.
In addition to salaries, we provide other fringe benefits to our
employees, including year-end bonuses, discretionary bonuses,
allowances and benefits in kind and contributions to pension
schemes.
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The Group has also adopted the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme and 2024
Share Incentive Scheme to reward and encourage the grantees for
their services and contribution to the Group. Please see paragraphs
“Pre-IPO RSU Scheme” and “2024 Share Incentive Scheme” in this
section for further details.

For details of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals
during the Reporting Period, please refer to Note 7 and Note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements. Details of the remuneration
of the Group’s senior management during the Reporting Period
are set out in Note 8 and Note 24(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT
PLANS

Details of the Company’s retirement and employee benefits are set
out in Notes 1(n) and 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s results of operations are affected by various factors.
Some of the major risks we face include:

() We are subject to extensive and evolving regulatory
requirements in the industries we operate in, non-compliance
with which may result in penalties, limitations and prohibitions
on our future business activities or suspension or revocation
of our licenses, and consequently may materially and
adversely affect our business, financial position, operations
and prospects;

(i)  If we are unable to retain existing customers or attract new
customers to purchase or renew our offerings, or if we fail to
provide offerings to address the needs of our customers as
they evolve, our business and results of operations may be
materially and adversely affected;

(i)  We face significant competition in the industry we operate
in, and if we are unable to compete effectively, we may lose
our market share and our results of operations and financial
position may be materially and adversely affected;

(iv) We cannot guarantee the profitability of the investment
made by our customers, which are prone to unpredictable
market fluctuations and other factors out of our control, and
consequently our business and results of operations may be
materially and adversely affected by such factors; and
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(v)  Refunds or potential refund disputes may negatively affect our
cash flow, financial position and reputation. As the foregoing
is not exhaustive, investors are advised to exercise their own
judgment or consult their own investment advisers before
making any investment in our Shares.

For more details on other risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group, please refer to the section headed “Risk Factors” in the
Prospectus.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group is committed to operating in a sustainable manner while
balancing the interests of all stakeholders, including substantial
shareholders, employees, customers and suppliers.

SHAREHOLDERS

The Group recognizes the importance of protecting shareholders’
interests and effective communication with shareholders. The
Group believes that communication with its shareholders is a
two-way process and has been proactive on ensuring the quality
and effectiveness of information disclosure, maintaining regular
dialogues with the shareholders and carefully listening to the views
and feedbacks from the shareholders, which will be achieved
through general meetings, corporate communications, interim and
annual reports and results announcements.

EMPLOYEES

The Group recognizes that employees are valuable assets of the
Group, while achieving and enhancing the value of its employees
contributes to the overall goals of the Group. The Group has been
committed to providing competitive remuneration packages,
attractive promotion opportunities and respectful and professional
working environment to its employees. The Group pays social
insurance and housing provident funds for its employees in all
material respects under applicable PRC laws, regulations and
rules. The Group also provides holiday gifts and annual health
examinations for its employees. The Group will continue to attract
and retain more talents and new talents will be promoted through
merit-based remuneration packages, on-the-job training plans and
promotion opportunities.
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CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, during the year ended
December 31, 2024, no significant contracts have been entered into
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, and no significant
contracts have been entered into by the controlling shareholders
or any of their subsidiaries for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Annual Confirmation of Compliance with
Non-competition Undertaking

As disclosed in the Prospectus, Yintech Investment Holdings
Limited (“Yintech Holdings”), a company controlled by our
controlling Shareholders, and the Company entered into a
non-competition undertaking dated February 22, 2023 (the
“Non-competition Undertaking”), pursuant to which Yintech
Holdings shall not engage in any business which directly or
indirectly competes with the business of the Group. Please refer to
the Prospectus for further details regarding the Non-competition
Undertaking.

Yintech Holdings has made an annual confirmation to the Company
that during the period from the date of the Non-competition
Undertaking to December 31, 2024, Yintech Holdings has
duly complied with all of the undertaking provisions under the
Non-competition Undertaking.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
confirmation and information provided by Yintech Holdings
(including its business activities) and are satisfied that all of the
undertaking provisions under the Non-competition Undertaking
were fully complied with and enforced during the Relevant Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or terminated.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Being a socially responsible enterprise, the Group strives to strictly
comply with the laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection all the time. During the year ended December 31, 2024,
the Group’s business was in compliance with all relevant laws
and regulations regarding environmental protection in all material
respects.

The Company is aware of the importance of environmental
protection. The Company is committed to providing an eco-friendly
energy environment for our employees and formulates energy
conservation and emission reduction policies to minimize the
negative impacts on the environment.

For more details, please refer to the section headed “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” in this Annual Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of our knowledge, the Group has complied in all
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.
During the Reporting Period, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Directors are also not aware of any material litigations or claims
that are pending or threatened against the Group during or after the
Reporting Period.
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PROFILE OF THE BOARD

The Directors who held office during the Reporting Period and as of
the Latest Practicable Date are:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Wenbin (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. CHEN Jigeng

Mr. ZHANG Peihong (appointed as an executive
Director with effect from May 20, 2024)

Mr. CAl Zi (resigned as an executive
Director with effect from April 22, 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. YAN Ming
Ms. CHEN NINGFENG

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. ZHAO Guoqing
Mr. FAN Yonghong
Mr. TIAN Shu

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. CHEN Wenbin and Mr. CHEN Jigeng each has entered
into an appointment letter with the Company on December 20, 2023
for a term of three years due to the change of chief executive officer
and the re-designation of Directors. Either party may terminate the
relevant agreement by giving prior written notice. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated December 20, 2023 for
further details.

Mr. ZHANG Peihong has entered into an appointment letter with
the Company on May 20, 2024 for a term of three years due to the
appointment of executive Director. Either party may terminate the
relevant agreement by giving prior written notice. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated May 20, 2024 for further
details.
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Each non-executive Director entered into an appointment letter with
the Company on August 20, 2021 for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date. Either party may terminate the
relevant agreement by giving prior written notice.

Each independent non-executive Director entered into an
appointment letter with the Company on February 28, 2023 for an
initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date. Either
party may terminate the relevant agreement by giving prior written
notice.

The above appointments are subject to the provisions on retirement
by rotation and re-election under the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors nominated for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has entered into a service
contract with a member of the Group that the Group cannot
terminate within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

None of the Directors or any entity related to the Directors had
a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any significant
transactions, arrangements or contracts to which the Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries is
a party during the year ended December 31, 2024 or by the end of
2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR BONDS

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the
Reporting Period did the Company or any of its subsidiaries
participate in any arrangements to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
or bonds of the Company or any other corporations; and none of
the Directors, or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had
any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company
or any other corporations, or had exercised any such right.
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REMUNERATION POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code, our Company has established the Remuneration
Committee to assist the Board in formulating remuneration policies.
Remuneration is determined and recommended based on the
qualification, position and seniority of each Director and senior
management. As for our independent non-executive Directors,
their remuneration is determined by our Board based on the
recommendation from the Remuneration Committee of our Board.
Details of the remuneration of our Directors, senior management
(which is also our Company’s key management) and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in Notes 7 and 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of our Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
and there was no remuneration paid by our Group to any of our
Directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join, or upon joining our Group, or as compensation for loss of
office.

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate amount of remuneration
(including basic salaries, housing allowances, other allowances, and
benefits in kind, contributions to pension plans and discretionary
bonuses) for Directors of the Company was approximately
RMB110.6 million (as set out in Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements).

INTERESTS OF THE DIRECTORS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors of the Company
controlled any business that was similar to the principal business
of the Group, directly or indirectly competed or might compete with
the Group’s business and was required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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INDEPENDENCE OF THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received the letter of independence confirmation
submitted by each independent non-executive Director pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and the Company considers all such
Directors to be independent.

CHANGES IN DIRECTOR’S INFORMATION

Mr. CAl Zi has resigned from his position as chief executive officer
with effect from December 20, 2023 and as executive Director
with effect from April 22, 2024. Please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated December 20, 2023 and April 22, 2024,
respectively, for details.

Mr. ZHANG Peihong has been appointed as an executive Director
with effect from May 20, 2024. Please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated May 20, 2024 for details.

Save and expect for the changes as disclosed above, there were no
changes in the information disclosed and required to be disclosed
by the Directors pursuant to the requirements of paragraphs (a) to
(e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules during the Reporting
Period.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
UNDER THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, the Company does not
have any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and
13.22 of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into the following connected transactions
and continuing connected transaction during the year ended
December 31, 2024:
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One-off Connected Transactions

1.

Acquisition of the Entire Ownership of Shanghai Beixun
On December 22, 2023, JF Information, an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an exclusive
option transfer framework agreement (the “Exclusive Option
Transfer Agreement”) with Shanghai Xieluo, Shanghai
Beixun, the Existing Registered Shareholders and the New
Registered Shareholders, pursuant to which Shanghai Xieluo
conditionally agreed to sell, and JF Information conditionally
agreed to acquire, the entire economic interest in the assets
or businesses of Shanghai Beixun through contractual
arrangements (the “Ownership”) through the following
arrangements among the relevant parties:

()  Shanghai Xieluo, Shanghai Beixun and the Existing
Registered Shareholders shall enter into a termination
agreement to terminate the then existing series of
contractual arrangements entered into among Shanghai
Xieluo, Shanghai Beixun and the Existing Registered
Shareholders on July 1, 2017, pursuant to which
Shanghai Xieluo was able to exercise control over
Shanghai Beixun and consolidate all the economic
benefits generated by Shanghai Beixun and its
subsidiary;

(i)  JF Information, Shanghai Xieluo and the New Registered
Shareholders shall enter into a new series of contractual
arrangements (the “New Contractual Arrangements”),
which enable JF Information to exercise control over
Shanghai Beixun and consolidate all the economic
benefits generated by Shanghai Beixun and its
subsidiary upon completion of the acquisition of the
Ownership (the “Acquisition”).
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The Acquisition was conducted considering: (i) Shanghai
Beixun is principally engaged in the value-added
telecommunications business; (ii) Zhangzhong Weishi
(Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd. (“Zhangzhong Weishi”), the
wholly-owned subsidiary of Shanghai Beixun, is principally
engaged in the value-added telecommunications business,
audiovisual network services and production of radio and
television program services; (iii) Shanghai Beixun has
been providing management support and supervising the
business operation of Zhangzhong Weishi; and (iv) according
to applicable PRC laws and regulations, the value-added
telecommunications business (with certain exceptions) is
restricted for foreign ownership, while the audiovisual network
services and production of radio and television program
services prohibit foreign investment. Therefore, the Company
has meticulously made those arrangements in order to
achieve its business goals and minimize the potential conflict
with relevant PRC laws.

The consideration payable by JF Information for the
Acquisition is RMB38,420,000, which shall be paid in
instalments. JF Information has also agreed to assist
Shanghai Beixun in repaying its debt for the amount of
RMB31,875,111.75, and to bear the expenses of the operation
of Shanghai Beixun before the closing of the Acquisition for
the amount of no more than RMB10,000,000. As at the date
of this Annual Report, the consideration under the Exclusive
Option Transfer Agreement has been fully settled.

As Shanghai Xieluo was ultimately held by Mr. CHEN
Wenbin, Mr. YAN Ming and Ms. CHEN NINGFENG, all being
Directors and controlling shareholders of the Company, as
to 36.14%, 23.72% and 21.10%, respectively, at the date
of the Acquisition, the Acquisition constituted a connected
transaction of the Company.
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On April 10, 2024, the Acquisition has been completed. As
discussed with the auditor of the Company, the Directors are
of the view that the Company has the right to consolidate
the financial results of Shanghai Beixun and Zhangzhong
Weishi into the Group’s financial information as if they were
the Company’s subsidiaries, and the auditor of the Company
concur with the Directors’ view that the Company has the
right to direct the key activities of and to obtain benefits from
its involvement in Shanghai Beixun and Zhangzhong Weishi
to such an extent that the Company would consolidate
Shanghai Beixun and Zhangzhong Weishi when preparing
its consolidated financial information. As part of the New
Contractual Arrangements, JF Information, Shanghai Beixun
and the New Registered Shareholders have entered into a
loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which
JF Information agreed to extend a loan at the amount of no
more than RMB200,000,000 to Shanghai Beixun and the New
Registered Shareholders. The loan is strictly limited to the
purposes as prescribed under the Loan Agreement, of which
any amount extended to the New Registered Shareholders
will be injected into Shanghai Beixun through subscription of
the equity interest of Shanghai Beixun by the New Registered
Shareholders, and will not confer any benefits to the New
Registered Shareholders. For further details of the Acquisition,
the completion of the Acquisition and the New Contractual
Arrangements, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated December 22, 2023 and April 10, 2024,
respectively.
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Acquisition of the Entire Equity Interest of Guangfa
Insurance

On March 8, 2024, JF Information, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an equity transfer
agreement to conditionally acquire the entire equity interest of
Guangfa Insurance (the “Guangfa Acquisition”).

On January 17, 2025, JF Information entered into the
Supplemental Agreement with Shanghai Beixun, Qijian
Technology and Guangfa Insurance to adjust the holding
structure of Guangfa Insurance.

Accordingly, JF Information and Shanghai Beixun respectively
acquired 24.9% and 75.1% of the equity interests in Guangfa
Insurance. The total consideration payable amounted
to RMB52 million, which shall be settled in cash by JF
Information and Shanghai Beixun.

The completion shall take place on the latest of the following
days: (i) the settlement of the consideration; (ii) the fulfilment
of the closing; (iii) the completion of the registration of the
Guangfa Acquisition with the local office of the SAMR; and
(iv) the approval by the NFRA in relation to the filings of the
change of shareholders of Guangfa Insurance in relation to
the Guangfa Acquisition.

The Guangfa Acquisition was conducted considering: (i)
Guangfa Insurance focuses on insurance brokerage business,
thus the Guangfa Acquisition is a beneficial supplement to
the Company’s existing business and supports its sustainable
growth; (ii) the Guangfa Acquisition is conducive to expanding
the scope of services provided by Company, improving the
comprehensive service experience of customers and meeting
their asset allocation needs; (i) The Guangfa Acquisition can
expand the Company’s existing customer base and meet
the diverse and personalized needs of customers as well as
provide more comprehensive products and services, thereby
attracting more customers; (iv) The Guangfa Acquisition will
help the Company leverage economies of scale, integrate
resources, reduce operating costs and increase profitability.
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As Qijian Technology was ultimately held by Mr. CHEN
Wenbin, Mr. YAN Ming and Ms. CHEN NINGFENG, all being
Directors and controlling shareholders of the Company, as to
36.14%, 23.72% and 21.10%, respectively, at the date of the
Guangfa Acquisition, the Guangfa Acquisition constituted a
connected transaction of the Company.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
March 8, 2024, April 26, 2024 and January 17, 2025
respectively for further details.

Qijian Technology makes performance commitments
and compensation arrangements to JF Information.
Qijian Technology agreed to pay JF Information financial
compensation if Guangfa Insurance fails to meet the
corresponding guaranteed performance benchmark targets
for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2025 and 2026 (the
“Relevant Years”).

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the net profit of
Guangfa Insurance met the aforementioned performance
commitments.

Procurement of the Information System

Respectively on December 31, 2024 and on Feburary 14,
2025, JF Information, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the information system procurement
agreement and the supplemental agreement of the information
system procurement agreement with Yinke Chuangzhan,
pursuant to which the Group shall procure and purchase
from the Yinke Group information systems and software to
be used for the business and operations of the Group (the
“Procurement”). The aggregate amount of fees payable by
the Group to the Yinke Group shall be RMB23,540,659.88.
The consideration shall be settled in cash by the Group within
10 working days after receipt of the invoice from the Yinke
Group, which is expected to be on or around November 28,
2025.
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As Yinke Chuangzhan was ultimately held by Mr. CHEN
Wenbin, Mr. YAN Ming and Ms. CHEN NINGFENG, all being
Directors and controlling shareholders of the Company, as
to 36.14%, 23.72% and 21.10%, respectively, at the date of
the Procurement, the Procurement constituted a connected
transaction of the Company.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
December 31, 2024 and Feburary 14, 2025 for further details.

Continuing Connected Transaction

2023 Property Leasing Framework Agreement

On December 20, 2023, JF Information, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a leasing service
framework agreement (the “2023 Property Leasing Framework
Agreement”) with Shanghai Xieyu, an associate of Mr. CHEN
Wenbin who was a then Director, pursuant to which the Group
shall lease properties from Shanghai Xieyu and/or its associates
for office or office-related use. As the parties would enter into
separate agreements under the 2023 Property Leasing Framework
Agreement, covering the scope of the Original Leasing Agreements,
after the 2023 Property Leasing Framework Agreement took
effect, the Original Leasing Agreements have been automatically
terminated and are no longer effective.

The term of the 2023 Property Leasing Framework Agreement
shall commence on January 1, 2024 and expire on December 31,
2026. For further details of the 2023 Property Leasing Framework
Agreement, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated December 20, 2023.

The transaction contemplated under the 2023 Property Leasing
Framework Agreement constituted a continuing connected
transaction of the Company (the “Continuing Connected
Transaction”) for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Annual Review by the Independent Non-executive
Directors and the Auditor

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Continuing Connected Transaction outlined above, and confirmed
that such Continuing Connected Transaction had been entered
into:

(@ inthe ordinary and usual course of business of our Group;
(b) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has performed the relevant procedures
regarding the Continuing Connected Transaction in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing its findings and
conclusions in respect of the Continuing Connected Transaction
disclosed by the Group above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules.
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The auditor of the Company has performed agreed-upon
procedures regarding the Continuing Connected Transaction
entered into by the Group during the year ended December 31,
2024 as set out above and states that:

1. nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe
that the Continuing Connected Transaction has not been
approved by the Board;

2. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to its attention that causes
it to believe that the Continuing Connected Transaction was
not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

3. nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe
that the Continuing Connected Transaction was not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions; and

4.  with respect to the aggregate amount of the Continuing
Connected Transaction, nothing has come to its attention
that causes it to believe that the Continuing Connected
Transaction has exceeded the annual caps set by the
Company.

Details of material related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in Note 24
to the consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed in this
section and other than connected transactions that are exempted
under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules, none of the related party
transactions as disclosed in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements falls under the definitions of “connected transactions”
or “continuing connected transactions” under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, during the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Company had no connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions which fell to be disclosed in
accordance with the provisions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in relation to the disclosure of connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2024, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of our Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or required to be recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange under the Model Code, were as follows:

EERESTHRASRRG - #
AR SRR P AR R ER R

:
R

A2024F 128318 » KRAREERESTT
BAERARABREMEAEREZE (E&
BAEBSREBEMRG) BEXVER) KRG - 18
ARNIEEZHHEERB(ESZRBER
fBI) EXVERE TR E8E S B HME R AT R
RN EREA S (BRERE(ESFRBER
B NZERNEEFERFERAEENESR
R%ER)  HAFARBEZRBERMD
FEI2E A AT EEENETMAOERRA
2 RRBZESFRIBANE AN T R AT
HRESZSARNT :

Approximate

Number of percentage Long/Short
Name of Directors Type/Nature of interest ordinary shares of equity?” positions
{ERRHERE Y

EEpE ELER MY TEREE =574 138 %A

Mr. CHEN Wenbin Interest in controlled corporations(, 293,665,000 65.50% Long positions
interest held jointly with other persons®

BRICM S ZEEERERY  EHMATHEFENERY 39y

Mr. YAN Ming Interest in controlled corporations®, 293,665,000 65.50% Long positions
interest held jointly with other persons®

EREALE REEERERC  BHEMA T HERENER 3=

Ms. CHEN NINGFENG Interest in controlled corporations®, 293,665,000 65.50% Long positions
interest held jointly with other persons®

CHEN NINGFENGZ+  Z#EZE#EZC « EHMA T HEFANERY R

Mr. CHEN Jigeng Beneficial interest® 14,215,000 3.17%  Long positions

REREE BERERO 3oy

Mr. ZHANG Peihong Beneficial interest® 7,207,500 1.61% Long positions

RIBALAE

BiEERC
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Notes:

Mr. CHEN Wenbin holds all the issued shares of each of Coreworth
Investments Limited (“Coreworth”) and Embrace Investments Limited
(“Embrace Investments”). Under the SFO, Mr. CHEN Wenbin is
deemed to be interested in the 100,000,000 Shares and the 40,615,000
Shares held by Coreworth and Embrace Investments, respectively.

Mr. YAN Ming holds all the issued shares of Harmony Creek Investments
Limited (“Harmony Creek”). Under the SFO, Mr. YAN Ming is deemed
to be interested in the 78,050,000 Shares held by Harmony Creek.

Ms. CHEN NINGFENG holds all the issued shares of Rich Horizon
Investments Limited (‘Rich Horizon”). Under the SFO, Ms. CHEN
NINGFENG is deemed to be interested in the 75,000,000 Shares held
by Rich Horizon.

Each of Mr. CHEN Wenbin, Mr. YAN Ming and Ms. CHEN NINGFENG
has been acting in concert since January 1, 2018. As such, under
the SFO, each of Mr. CHEN Wenbin, Mr. YAN Ming and Ms. CHEN
NINGFENG is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each other.

Mr. CHEN Jigeng is entitled to receive 14,215,000 Shares pursuant to
the Awards granted to him under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme, subject to
vesting conditions. Please see paragraph “Pre-IPO RSU Scheme” in this
section for further details.

Mr. ZHANG Peihong is entitled to receive 7,105,000 Shares pursuant to
the Awards granted to him under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme, subject to
vesting conditions. Please see paragraph “Pre-IPO RSU Scheme” in this
section for further details.

The calculation is based on the total number of 448,357,000 Company’s
Shares in issue as at December 31, 2024.

fiax -
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, none of
the Directors or the chief executive of our Company had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of our Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at December 31, 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors of
the Company, the following parties (except for the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section
336 of the SFO:

Name of Shareholders Type/Nature of interest

BREE, B EREE HE

Coreworth Investments Limited Beneficial interest®
(“Coreworth”)

Coreworth Investments Limited
([ Coreworth )

BESER0

Embrace Investments Limited Beneficial interest®
(“Embrace Investments”)
Embrace Investments Limited

([Embrace Investments])

BRER0

Harmony Creek Investments Limited Beneficial interest®
(‘Harmony Creek”)
Harmony Creek Investments Limited

([Harmony Creek )

B
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Approximate

Number of percentage of Long/Short

ordinary shares equity® positions
G RRHERE LY

TiEREE BaLLe 138 %e

100,000,000 22.30% Long positions

L3y

40,615,000 9.06% Long positions

%R

78,050,000 17.41% Long positions
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Approximate

Number of percentage of Long/Short
Name of Shareholders Type/Nature of interest ordinary shares equity® positions
1ERRHERE LY
Rt E, & BREY My TiERHE EpAl 138 %A
Rich Horizon Investments Limited Beneficial interest® 75,000,000 16.73% Long positions
(“Rich Horizon”)
Rich Horizon Investments Limited BRERY He
(TRich Horizon )
The Core Trust Company Limited Trustee® 28,430,000 6.34% Long positions
The Core Trust Company Limited FEEA® =
TCT (BVI) Limited Interest in controlled 28,430,000 6.34% Long positions
corporations®
TCT (BVI) Limited ZIEEEERY wE
RSU Holding Entity Beneficial interest® 28,430,000 6.34% Long positions
ZREBDEVISEER BanEm¢ 3oy
Notes: BftaE -

1)

Mr. CHEN Wenbin holds all the issued shares of each of Coreworth and
Embrace Investments. Under the SFO, Mr. CHEN Wenbin is deemed
to be interested in the 100,000,000 Shares and the 40,615,000 Shares
held by Coreworth and Embrace Investments, respectively.

Mr. YAN Ming holds all the issued shares of Harmony Creek. Under
the SFO, Mr. YAN Ming is deemed to be interested in the 78,050,000
Shares held by Harmony Creek.

Ms. CHEN NINGFENG holds all the issued shares of Rich Horizon.
Under the SFO, Ms. CHEN NINGFENG is deemed to be interested in the
75,000,000 Shares held by Rich Horizon.

The Core Trust Company Limited, as a trustee, holds the Shares
underlying the RSUs under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme through RSU
Holding Entity. RSU Holding Entity is wholly owned by TCT (BVI) Limited,
which is in turn wholly owned by The Core Trust Company Limited.

The calculation is based on the total number of 448,357,000 Company’s
Shares in issue as at December 31, 2024.

(1)  FBRX# & EHE Coreworth XEmbrace
Investments & B M & 208 17D - BIE
(EHFREEEG)  BRXWEEHRRER
Coreworth }2Embrace Investments % Bl 4
100,000,000 &/ } 40,615,000 A% i 19 #
HEER o

2  BREALEAEFEAHarmony Creek#) & 282 1T
IR o BIBCEHF LB RO - BRALER
15 A7 Harmony Creek# 4 78,050,000 A% i&
DHEEER -

(3) CHEN NINGFENGZ% +# A& Rich Horizon
M2 BTG - BRE(EERPEK
1) - CHEN NINGFENG % +# % &% Rich
Horizon$ 4 75,000,000 B A% 7 P A #E2S -

(4)  The Core Trust Company Limited{E &= 5
A BBRZRHRMEMFHEEEREENR
NSRRI B AL ETEITE T R
IR BEAL MR o ZIRFIRGN EIFHE
EEMHTCT (BVI) Limited2&#HE - MTCT
(BVI) Limitedfi The Core Trust Company
Limited 2 & A °

(6) ARRFEE2024%F12 A31 BEBTRG
#80448,357, 000k 19 BELERTH o
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, based on
publicly available information, no other person (other than the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would
fall to be disclosed to our Company under provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein.

PRE-IPO RSU SCHEME

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Pre-IPO
RSU Scheme approved and adopted pursuant to a resolution of the
Board dated June 1, 2021 (the “Adoption Date”) and amended on
February 20, 2023.

The Pre-IPO RSU Scheme is not subject to the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as it does not involve any grant of
share options or awards by the Company after the Listing.

(1) Purpose
The purpose of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme is to reward the
grantees for their services and contribution to the success
of the Group, and to provide incentives to them to further
contribute to the Group.

(2) RSU Awards

An award of RSUs under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme
(“Award(s)”) gives the participant a contingent right upon
vesting of the Award to obtain either Shares or an equivalent
value in cash with reference to the market value of the Shares
underlying such Award on or about the date of vesting, as
determined by the Board in its sole discretion.

(3) Participants

Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the Pre-IPO RSU
Scheme are any director, full-time or part-time employee of
the Group who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, has
contributed or will contribute to the Group (the “RSU Eligible
Persons”). The Board selects the RSU Eligible Persons
to receive Awards under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme at its
discretion.

V£l JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024

BMEMIEEI » R20245128318 ' 18
BRI AMESHER  MEEMAL (KA
AEERBREITHRAERIN) RIRHHIEEH
BHOPHEEREBECGESRBEKRA) XV
FoORFEINEWHEEAB A QAR ENER
KA - RALARB(EFRBERM) 5
33T ENETMAIERIRE ©

BRAMBEE TR EAL
st

LT H&£2021F6 8108 ((RHAHHES
ERBEMERFMNITR2023F2 520 H1&
R ER DR SRS IR EIR DB EIK
FEBRARHE -

BARARMABREMZRE RN EMTEBRE
FETRAFTLEGRINATE  FRARH
YA HRARBREHEEMR G BRER
REHITH -

(1) B
ERABRERSREIRD BN
B KT B EHRE AR EB R I E
IR R SR WRRSHAEENE
— S ERIIR LR o

(2 ZBRHIAXMHEECIZERED
BRARBEAZRAIRMDEMTEE
THZREIRDECERD (TR )4
F2RE-RNEEN - EREREN
ERKESS2ERE A NRAEEE
RESENRBHHENSENETEE
NROBEERE -

(3) £mE
SERBERE R AR ER 2 IR 5k 5
BB T SRAIROEMNALS
EEe2ARBEEERSE AR EeY
AEBELERNAEEEAES - 2
BEERES ((SRIRBEBEMS
BAL))  c ESERBEZERENE LA
BB AT S PRI AR EE A S BB T 52 R
HERHIRBEMEERAL o



(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

Term

The Pre-IPO RSU Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years, commencing on the Adoption Date
(the “Scheme Period”), after which period no further Awards
shall be granted or accepted, but the provisions of the Pre-
IPO RSU Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in order
to give effect to the vesting of Awards granted and accepted
prior to the expiration of the Scheme Period.

Maximum number of Shares pursuant to the Awards

Unless otherwise duly approved by the shareholders of the
Company, the Shares in aggregate underlying all Awards
made pursuant to the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme (excluding the
Awards that have lapsed or been cancelled in accordance
with the rules of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme) and any other
schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the
number of Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date.

Vesting of Awards

The Board has the sole discretion to determine the vesting
criteria (if any) and the time schedule when the Awards will
vest, which may also be adjusted and re-determined by the
Board from time to time.

Awards granted

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has granted
Awards with an aggregate of 28,430,000 underlying Shares,
representing 6.34% of the Company’s Shares in issue as at
December 31, 2024.

(4)

®)

(6)

(@)
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REBEBERAMBERZRHIIR G ENT
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Details of the Awards granted pursuant to the Pre-IPO RSU
Scheme to our Director and employee are set out below:

T:
Number
of Shares
underlying Approximate
Awards Vesting percentage of

Name of Participants Position held within the Group Grant Date granted® Period shareholding

bk

smENRE RARERERER RHBH HRRGEEY BEHY  HRESES

Mr. CHEN Jigeng Executive Director February 3, 2023 14,215,000 60 months 317%

RERLE WITES 20232 A3H 6018 A

Mr. ZHANG Peihong Executive Director February 3, 2023 7,105,000 60 months 1.58%

RBAKE HTES 20232 A3H 6018 A

Mr. CAl Zi Executive Director February 3, 2023 7,110,0009 60 months 1.59%

(Resigned on April 22, 2024)

FTFRE HITES (K2024F4 522 AFHF)  2023%2A3A 6018 A

Notes: MisE -

(1) The Awards granted will vest pursuant to the following schedule: (1) RBFNEBEEEATEBREE
40% of which will be vested upon the second anniversary of the REREBHE _RFEEREBESRN
grant date, 20% of which will be vested upon the third, fourth and 40%; WIXEBHEIE= - FOEER
fifth anniversary of the grant date, respectively. BAEEEORIGEEETE20%

(2)  The fair value of the Awards at the RSU grant date was @) ESREERMOEMETHE - 25
approximately RMB398,992,983. The accounting standards and M RARBELD A ARE398,092,983
policies adopted as well as methodology and assumptions used IT o SRFEH e s ERI B ER LA R {E A
are set out in “Note 1 Material accounting policies — (n) Employee M AENBREIRNEHFIERE
benefits” to the consolidated financial statements. (M1 EESER —NEERF -

()] As of December 31, 2024, the Board at its absolute discretion has @3) HE2024F12A831H 2%

cancelled the Awards granted but not vested by way of forfeiture,
namely 7,110,000 Shares granted to Mr. Cai Zi are forfeited due
to the vesting conditions not satisfied and the corresponding
expense of RMB32,228,000 are reversed.
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As of December 31, 2024, save as 7,110,000 Shares granted
to Mr. Cai Zi cancelled by forfeiture, none of the Awards were
vested or lapsed and all of the Awards were outstanding. As
all Shares underlying the outstanding Awards have already
been issued to RSU Holding Entity, the outstanding Awards
will not have any dilutive effect on the shareholding of the
Company.

2024 SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the 2024 Share
Incentive Scheme approved and adopted pursuant to a resolution
of the Board dated September 27, 2024 (the “Adoption Date”). The
2024 Share Incentive Scheme shall be funded solely by existing
Shares and shall be subject to applicable requirements under Rule
17.12 of the Listing Rules.

1

)

(3)

Purpose

The purpose of the 2024 Share Incentive Scheme is to reward
the RSU Participants for their services and contribution to the
success of the Group, and to provide incentives to them to
further contribute to the Group.

Awards

An award of restricted share units (“RSUs”) under the 2024
Share Incentive Scheme (“Award(s)”) gives the participant
(the “RSU Participant”) a contingent right upon vesting of the
Award to obtain either Shares or an equivalent value in cash
with reference to the market value of the Shares underlying
such Award on or about the date of vesting, as determined by
the Board at its sole discretion.

Eligibility

Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the 2024 Share
Incentive Scheme are any director, full-time or part-time
employee of the Group who the Board considers, at its sole
discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the Group (the
“RSU Eligible Persons”). The Board selects the RSU Eligible
Persons to receive Awards under the 2024 Share Incentive
Scheme at its sole discretion.
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(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

82

Effectiveness

The 2024 Share Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective
for a period of ten (10) years, commencing on the Adoption
Date to September 27, 2034 (the “Scheme Period”), after
which no further Awards shall be granted or accepted, but the
provisions of the 2024 Share Incentive Scheme shall remain
in full force and effect in order to give effect to the vesting of
Awards granted and accepted prior to the expiration of the
Scheme Period.

Scheme Limit

Unless otherwise duly approved by the Board, the Shares in
aggregate underlying all Awards made pursuant to the 2024
Share Incentive Scheme (excluding the Awards that have
lapsed or been cancelled in accordance with the rules of the
2024 Share Incentive Scheme) shall not exceed 5% of the
number of Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date, which is
22,417,850 Shares (the “Scheme Limit”). There is no specific
maximum entitlement for each eligible participant. If the
Awards granted to an individual exceed the limit stipulated
in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, they must comply with
the additional approval requirement under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

Vesting of Awards

The Board has the sole discretion to determine the vesting
schedule and vesting criteria (if any) for any Award, which may
also be adjusted and re-determined by the Board from time to
time. Unless otherwise determined by the Board, the vesting
of Awards is not subject to the achievement of performance
targets.

Awards granted

As of the date of this Annual Report, the Company has
granted Awards with an aggregate of 1,753,177 underlying
Shares, representing 0.39% of the issued Shares.
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Details of the Awards granted pursuant to the 2024 Share
Incentive Scheme to our employee are set out below:

Name of
participants

Stz

Employees

£

19 employees of -
the Company

191K

Bl

]

Number of
Shares
Position underlying
held within Awards
the Group ~ Grant date granted®
i
R3] EERS
BEMRL  RHEY (U
September27, 1,683,177
2024
204598278

Vesting period

=
il
E=3

1,538,177 RSUs tobe
vested on September 27,
225

1533 1T RARAEL
BHasE
9AITREE

40,000 RSUs to be vested
on January 8, 2026

H000RSERHRHELA
w61 38RER

40,000 R3Us to be vested
on January 8, 2027

DIERRARAELE
Ho0TE1R8AEE

40,000 R3Us to be vested
on January 8, 2028

DIEERARAELE
Ho08E1 B8R EE

Approximate
percentage
of
shareholding

U
34

037%

Awards
vested
during

the
year

FARE
i
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average
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dateof  onthe date Awards  cancelled  lapsed
Purchase grant  ofgrant®  vestedduring  duing  during
price (HKS) (RMB) theyear) theyear  theyear

REER

ReRt L) T

Bath  RHBsy T
BiAE  AREY  KERER  EREE  ERKY
EER (%) (ARW)  BENEE) HRE  6ER
NA 615 13,198,832 N/A - -
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Number of Awards
Shares Approximate  vested
Position underlying percentage  during
Name of held within Awards of the
participants ~ the Group  Grant date granted®  Vesting period shareholding year
s
L] HRR Ry £RGE
SEERE  BENBL REEH L Mt pER
An employee of - Qctober 14, 100,000 25,000 RSUs to be vested 0.02% -
the Company 2024 on October 14, 2025
WiARAkE AUE BINEERARNELS
10A14R RS0 14RER
25,000 R3Us to be vested
on October 14, 2026
BINEERARNELS
HOWsE10R 14RER
25,000 R3Us to be vested
on October 14, 2027
BINEERARNELS
HWTEI0R14RER
25,000 R3Us to be vested
on October 14, 2028
BINEERARNELS
H8EI0R14RER

Notes:

(1)  The fair value of the Awards at the RSU Grant Date was
approximately RMB14,016,856.28. The accounting standards
and policies adopted as well as methodology and assumptions
used are set out in “Note 1 Material accounting policies — (n)
Employee benefits” to the consolidated financial statements.

(2)  The outstanding RSUs as at the beginning and end of the
Reporting Period was nil and 1,753,177, respectively.

All of the grants made during the year ended December 31,
2024 were made without any performance targets.
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As at December 31, 2024, none of the Awards were vested
or lapsed and all of the Awards were outstanding, the
outstanding Awards will not have any dilutive effect on the
shareholding of the Company.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

The Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on March 10, 2023, and the Over-allotment Option
(as defined in the Prospectus) was partially exercised on April 2,
2023. For further details of the use of proceeds from the Global
Offering of the Company, please refer to “Management Analysis
and Discussion” in this Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this Annual
Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board of Directors has established the Audit Committee,
which consists of the independent non-executive Directors, being
Dr. ZHAO Guoging (chairman), Mr. FAN Yonghong and Mr. TIAN
Shu. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise financial reporting process and internal control of the
Company.

The Audit Committee, together with the management and auditors
of our Company, has reviewed the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2024.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
audited by KPMG. The firm, a Certified Public Accountant and
registered Public Interest Entity Auditor, will retire at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

The Company did not change auditors in previous three years.
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SIGNIFICANT SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 17, 2025, JF Information, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the supplemental
agreement with Shanghai Beixun, Qijian Technology and Guangfa
Insurance to adjust the holding structure of Guangfa Insurance.
Pursuant to the supplemental agreement and upon the completion
of the Guangfa Acquisition, (i) Guangfa Insurance will be held by
Shanghai Beixun and JF Information as to 75.1% and 24.9%,
respectively; and (ii) Guangfa Insurance will be consolidated as
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Please refer to the
relevant announcements of the Company for further details.

On April 3, 2025, the Company, Yintech Holdings, Yintech Financial
and Shanghai Feixiu (an indirect subsidiary Yintech Holdings)
entered into the sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which
the Company conditionally agreed to acquire the entire equity
interest in Yintech Financial and the Core Information Systems.
Upon completion of the acquisition, members of Yintech Financial
and its subsidiaries will be held as to 100% by the Company and
will be consolidated as wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company.
The Company will obtain ownership and control of the Core
Information Systems. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated April 3, 2025 for further details.

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there were no important
events affecting the Company which occurred from the end of the
Reporting Period to the Latest Practicable Date.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. CHEN Wenbin

Chairman
China, April 25, 2025
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to report to our Shareholders on the corporate
governance of the Company for the year ended December 31,
2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE AND
STRATEGIES

As a next-generation stock investing assistant, we provide
equity investment tools, securities investment advisory, investor
education and other services for individual investors with product
offerings such as stock quote software, Stock Learning Machine,
Stock Navigator Series, Super Investor and Jiuyao Stocks (our
small-amount series products).

Implementing our “technology + investment research” dual-driver
strategy, we have developed JF Robo-Advisor, FinSphere Agent,
FinSphere Report and other Al products based on our Al and big
data technologies, enabling us to achieve industry leadership in
innovative practice and scenario application, and we are striving to
become a lifelong partner in investment and wealth management
for our customers.

We declare that the Shareholders are important to the Board
and the Group as a whole, and are committed to providing
diversified and reliable products and services that create value for
Shareholders through sustainable growth and development.

The Board provides guidance on the conduct and behavior of the
employees and business activities of the Group by setting out the
following values and ensuring that these values are integrated into
the Company'’s vision, mission, policies and business strategies:

Customer focus, embracing changes, teamwork, innovation,
concentration, compliance, living mindfully while working joyfully.

The Group will continuously review its business strategies and
adjust them when necessary, and keep abreast of the evolving
market conditions to ensure prompt and proactive measures to
respond to changes and meet market demand, thereby promoting
the sustainable development of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving corporate governance
standards. The Board believes that a high standard of corporate
governance is essential in providing a framework for the Group
to protect the interests of shareholders, improve corporate
value, formulate business strategies and policies, and enhance
transparency and accountability.

The Board has adopted the principles and code provisions as set
out in the CG Code and Corporate Governance Report contained in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. Continuous efforts are made to
review and enhance the Group’s internal controls and procedures in
light of changes in regulations and developments in best practices.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
practices and is satisfied that the Company has complied with
all the code provisions of the CG Code during the year ended
December 31, 2024, save and except for the deviation from code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as disclosed in the section below
headed “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” of this Annual
Report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C8 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ dealings in the securities of the Company.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors and all
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code during the year ended December 31, 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is led by an effective Board, which assumes
the responsibility of leadership and control and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and overseeing the affairs of the Company. The Directors make
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.
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The Board strikes a balance between the diversity of skills,
experience and perspectives to meet the requirements of the
Company’s business, and regularly reviews the contributions
required of the Directors to fulfill their responsibilities to the
Company, as well as whether the Directors have spent sufficient
time fulfilling the duties related to their roles and the responsibilities
of the Board. The Board consists of a balanced composition of
executive and non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) so that there is a strong independent
component on the Board that can exercise independent judgment
effectively.

Board Composition

As at December 31, 2024, the Board comprised the following eight
Directors.

Executive Directors
Mr. CHEN Wenbin (Chairman of the Board, the Chief
Executive Officer)

(Executive President)

(appointed as an executive Director with

effect from May 20, 2024)

Mr. CHEN Jigeng
Mr. ZHANG Peihong

Non-executive Directors
Mr. YAN Ming
Ms. CHEN NINGFENG

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. ZHAO Guoqing

Mr. FAN Yonghong

Mr. TIAN Shu

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this Annual Report.
The relationships among the Directors are disclosed in note (4)
to “Interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief
executive in shares, underlying shares or debentures” in the
section headed “Report of the Board” of this Annual Report. Save
as disclosed above, there are no relationships (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships) among the
members of the Board.
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Board Meeting

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year either in person or through
electronic means of communication and at approximately quarterly
intervals. Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all
regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity
to attend and include matters in the agenda for regular Board
meetings.

For other Board meetings and Board committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. Minutes of meetings are kept
by the company secretary of the Company with copies circulated to
all Directors for information and records.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the matter shall be dealt with by holding
a physical Board meeting rather than by a written resolution.
The independent non-executive Directors who and whose close
associates, have no material interest in the transactions, should
attend and vote at such Board meeting.

Ten board meetings were convened during the year ended
December 31, 2024 and the attendances of each Director at these
meetings are set out as follows:

Board Meeting

e e b
[~ o
=R=1

RARRAZOBEERRITNRESES
#(RSABBEFEANFRONES - AX
BEFRT-R FEFRESSERAR
HADPR+TERBER - UEZRESSEI
HEKSNHARRESETRRRTHNE
18 o

HRHEMESEERNESEESEE  —
REBEHAGERA - SRLEHAEFLTAN
REREBETRE  ARBREZERESEME
AN MR T AT o

HEBRRRAESHEARESEERZEE
THRAEFERRBERZANZER  ZF
HEUBTEEESZSEER (MFEEERE
RNHHEE - ERXZPEERATINHE
ALTHEERNENEUFANTESRLUFE
HEESEERIRBERR -

REBE2024F 12831 BILEE » XATH
FHRTTAREEE2E  SESHLESE
ZHECERVNT

Attended/
Eligible to attend
EHERE e ERE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. CHEN Wenbin PR ST A 10/10
Mr. CHEN Jigeng PRE R4 10/10
Mr. ZHANG Peihong RIFAL .
(appointed on May 20, 2024) (FR2024F5 20 HEZ ) 5/5
Mr. CAl Zi FFEE
(Resigned on April 22, 2024) (2024 4 B 22 HEHE) 4/4
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. YAN Ming EREASEE 10/10
Ms. CHEN NINGFENG CHEN NINGFENGZ + 10/10
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHERITEE
Dr. ZHAO Guoging HEEEEL 10/10
Mr. FAN Yonghong SWEREE 10/10
Mr. TIAN Shu HEFEE 10/10
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ANNUAL AND EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL

MEETINGS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with
the Shareholders and in particular, communicates with them in
annual general meetings or other extraordinary general meetings
and encourages their participation. One annual general meeting and
no extraordinary general meeting was convened during the year
ended December 31, 2024 and the attendances of each Director at
the annual general meeting are set out as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHEN Wenbin
Mr. CHEN Jigeng
Mr. ZHANG Peihong

Non-executive Directors
Mr. YAN Ming
Ms. CHEN NINGFENG

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. ZHAO Guoqing

Mr. FAN Yonghong

Mr. TIAN Shu

Annual General Meeting

REAFEXRE

PITEE

BRI L
BRERLLE
SRIFALEE

FHTEE
BEALE
CHEN NINGFENGZ &
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Duties, Responsibilities and Contributions of the Board
and Senior Management

The Board is the core function of the Company’s corporate
governance structure. The principal responsibilities of the Board
are to set an overall framework of corporate governance within
which senior management conducts business and to monitor
the Company’s operations. The Company has formulated overall
framework of corporate governance, containing internal guidelines,
internal control policies and procedures.

The Board has formulated a clear policy that stipulates the
circumstances under which senior management should report
to the Board and obtain approval from the Board before making
any decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the
Company. The Board regularly reviews corporate governance
practices and updates them as and when appropriate.

The Board, through its committees, directly and indirectly leads and
guides the management, formulates strategies and oversees their
implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and financial
performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the
Board for its efficient and effective operations. The independent
non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a high
standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and playing a
balanced role for the Board in exercising effective independent
judgment on the Company’s initiatives and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses
for discharging their duties to the Company. Upon reviewing
the implementation and effectiveness of the above, the Board
is satisfied that such mechanism can ensure the availability of
independent views and input to the Board.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.
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The Board is entitled to make decisions at its discretion on all
significant matters relating to policy matters, strategies and
budgets, internal control and risk management, significant
transactions (particularly transactions that may involve conflicts
of interest), financial information, appointment of the Directors
and other significant operational matters of the Company. The
management is responsible for implementing the decisions of
the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operations and
management of the Company.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance for the
responsibilities of Directors and senior management, to respond to
any legal proceedings against Directors and senior management
due to the activities of the Company.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, companies listed
on the Stock Exchange are expected to comply with, but may
choose to deviate from the requirement that the roles of chairman
of the board and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. With effect from December
20, 2023, Mr. CHEN Wenbin has served as both the chairman of
the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company. Mr.
CHEN Wenbin is the founder of the Company, who has in-depth
knowledge of the management and business operations of the
Company. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer in the same
individual provides the Group with solid and consistent leadership
and enables efficient business planning and decision-making.
The Board also believes that the balance of power and authority
under this arrangement will not be impaired, as all major decisions
must be made after approval and resolution by the Board and
the relevant committees under the Board. All independent
non-executive Directors also provide independent insights to the
Board and monitor the management and operation of the Company.
The Board will periodically review and consider the effectiveness of
this arrangement by taking into account the circumstances of the
Group as a whole.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing no less than one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election

All Directors (including the non-executive Directors) have entered
into service contracts or formal letters of appointment, which set
out the main terms and conditions on their appointments. Their
fixed term of office is three years.

The Company may from time to time elect any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or to increase the number of the
Directors. Any Director so appointed shall hold office until the
convening of next general meeting of the Company and shall be
eligible for re-election at the meeting, provided that he/she shall not
be included in determining Directors or number of Directors who
have to retire by rotation at the meeting. In accordance with our
Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting, one third of
the Directors for the time being (or if their number is not a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one third)
shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Retiring
Directors are eligible for re-election at the general meeting of the
Company, at which retiring Directors may fill the vacancy.
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Continuous Professional Development of the Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of the responsibilities as a Director
and of the conduct, business activities and development of the
Company, and advance with the times.

Every newly appointed Director has received a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction training on the first occasion of his/
her appointment, and subsequently such briefing and professional
development are also available as necessary, to ensure that he/she
has a proper understanding of the operations and business of the
Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal
requirements and other regulatory requirements and the business
and governance policies of the Company.

Pursuant to the applicable code provisions as set out in the CG
Code, all Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that the informed and relevant contribution
continuously made by them to the Board. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, all Directors, namely Mr. CHEN Wenbin, Mr.
CHEN Jigeng, Mr. ZHANG Peihong, Mr. YAN Ming, Ms. CHEN
NINGFENG, Dr. ZHAO Guoging, Mr. FAN Yonghong and Mr. TIAN
Shu, have participated in continuous professional development
by attending training courses or external seminars to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to
the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

There are three committees under the Board, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, which are responsible for supervising specific areas of
the Company’s affairs. All the Board committees of the Company
have specific written terms of reference, which clearly define their
powers and responsibilities. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee are published on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.
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The numbers of Committee Meetings attended by each Director
during the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in the
following table.

Name of Director
HEpE

Executive Directors
WITES

Mr. CHEN Wenbin
BRICHE e

Mr. CHEN Jigeng
PRERELE

Mr. ZHANG Peihong
RIBAL A

Non-executive Directors
HHITESE

Mr. YAN Ming

BREASEE

Ms. CHEN NINGFENG
CHEN NINGFENGZ *

Independent Non-executive Directors
BIEHITES

Dr. ZHAO Guoging

HEEELT

Mr. FAN Yonghong

BERELE

Mr. TIAN Shu

HEFEE

On December 27, 2024, the chairman of the Board and the
independent non-executive Directors held one meeting without the
presence of other Directors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three members, all of whom are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. ZHAO Guoging,
Mr. FAN Yonghong and Mr. TIAN Shu. The chairman of the Audit
Committee is Dr. ZHAO Guoqing.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are no less stringent
than those set out in the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial
information and reporting process, the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and the internal audit
functions, the scope of the audit and the appointment of the
external auditors, as well as to enable employees of the Company
to raise questions about possible misconduct in the Company’s
financial reporting, internal control or other matters.

The Audit Committee is also responsible for fulfilling the functions
set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Audit Committee
held a total of two meetings, during which the Audit Committee
has, among other things, performed the duties of reviewing annual
financial results and reports, significant issues relating to financial
reporting, operational and compliance controls, effectiveness
of the risk management, internal control systems and internal
audit functions, appointment of the external auditors and related
work scope, connected transactions, as well as questions from
employees regarding possible misconduct for the year 2024.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely
Dr. ZHAO Guoging (an independent non-executive Director), Mr.
TIAN Shu (an independent non-executive Director) and Mr. CHEN
Wenbin (an executive Director). The chairman of the Remuneration
Committee is Dr. ZHAO Guoqing.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management; and establishing a transparent process for
formulating such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that
no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding
his/her own remuneration.
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held a total of three meetings. The Remuneration
Committee has performed the following major duties: (1) reviewing
the remuneration policies, remuneration packages and remuneration
structure of the executive Directors and senior management; (2)
reviewing and approving the remuneration of the Directors and
senior management; (3) determining the remuneration packages
of newly appointed Directors and senior management; and (iv)
reviewing the 2024 Share Incentive Scheme and the Company’s
Restricted Share Grant Agreement (for the specific contents, please
refer to the section of the 2024 Share Incentive Scheme in the
“Report of the Board”).

The Company offers our executive Director and senior management
members various compensation in the form of fees, salaries,
retirement benefit scheme contributions, discretionary bonus,
housing allowances and other benefits in kind, which is determined
based on individual performance, achievement of business targets,
and the performance of the Group. Moreover, the discretionary
bonus is determined based on the annual performance evaluation
by the management, combined with job rank coefficient, salary,
and other factors. Our non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors receive compensation with reference to
their respective positions and duties, including being a member or
the chairman of Board committees. The independent non-executive
Directors receive compensation in accordance with their duties for
the period of their continuing engagement.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. CHEN Wenbin (an executive Director,), Dr. ZHAO Guoqing
(an independent non-executive Director) and Mr. TIAN Shu
(an independent non-executive Director). The chairman of the
Nomination Committee is Mr. CHEN Wenbin.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the composition of the Board, formulating and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of Directors, reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

In assessing the composition of the Board, the Nomination
Committee would take into account various aspects set out in the
Board Diversity Policy of the Company and factors relating to board
diversity.
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In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant
criteria as set out in the Nomination Policy that are necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity,
where appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Nomination
Committee held a total of two meetings. The Nomination
Committee has performed the following major duties: (1) reviewing
the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board; (2)
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
redesignation of Directors; (3) reviewing the policy and procedures
for nomination of Directors; and (4) assessing the independence of
all the independent non-executive Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognizes the benefits of having a diversified
Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of the Company’s
strategic objectives and sustainable development. The Company
seeks to achieve diversity of our Board through the consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to professional
experience, talents, skills, knowledge, cultural and educational
background, gender, age, ethnicity and length of service.

Our Board Diversity Policy is well implemented as evidenced by
the fact that there are both female and male Directors ranging
from 38 years old to 61 years old, and that our Directors have a
balanced mix of experiences from different industries and sectors,
including overall management, information technology, business
development and finance experiences.

As the Company is committed to maintaining an appropriate
balance of diversified perspectives that are relevant to the
Company’s business growth, we intend to promote gender diversity
when recruiting staff at the middle to senior level in order to develop
a pipeline of female senior management and potential successors
to the Board. In addition, we will engage more resources in training
female staff who have long and relevant experience in our business,
with the aim of promoting them to the senior management or
directorship of the Group.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
Diversity Policy, formulating and reviewing measurable objectives
for implementing the policy, and overseeing progress toward
achieving those objectives.
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An analysis of the current composition of the Board based on RETHENEEZHESSEAMNARER

measurable objectives is as follows:

Gender

51

Male: 7 Directors
Female: 1 Director

B .78E=E
Z 1BREE

Position

B

Executive Director: 3 Directors

Non-executive Director: 2 Directors

Independent non-executive Directors: 3 Directors
HITES 3RES

FHITEE 2FES

BYFYITES 3RES

Nationality
EFE

Chinese: 7 Directors
Canadian: 1 Director
HE 7TRES
MEX 1ZES
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Age group
Fitdl

35-40: 1 Director
41-50: 2 Directors
51-60: 4 Directors
61-65: 1 Director
35-40: 1 BEH
41-50: 2 BEE
51-60: 4 BEE
61-65: 1B &=

Educational background

BEER

Business management: 3 Directors
Accounting and finance: 3 Directors
Law: 2 Directors

HEEE 38ES

SR 3RES

AR I2EES

Business experience

[GE 300

Accounting and finance: 3 Directors

Experience related to the Company’s business: 5 Directors
SRR 3EES

BEARNREBEBENLER 58ES
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The Nomination Committee and the Board believe that the current
composition of the Board has met the objectives set forth in the
Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee will review at least annually the Board
Diversity Policy and measurable objectives to ensure the continued
effectiveness of the Board.

Gender Diversity

The Company attaches importance to gender diversity for positions
of all levels of the Group. The following table sets out the gender
ratio of the Group as at December 31, 2024:

Board =
Senior management SHREEE
Employees ==

The Board aims to achieve, and has achieved, a minimum of 12.5%
(1) of female Directors, and considers the above gender diversity to
be satisfactory at present.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has delegated its responsibility and authority for
the selection and appointment of Directors to the Nomination
Committee of the Company.

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) for the Director nomination
procedures, which sets out the selection criteria, nomination
procedures and the Board succession planning considerations
relating to the nomination and appointment of Directors, with the
aim of ensuring that the Board has a balance of corresponding
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives, as well as the
continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at the Board
level.

The nomination procedures set out in the Director Nomination
Policy are as follows:
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NOMINATION PROCEDURES

(i)

(i)

(i

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

102

the Nomination Committee may consult any source it deems
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates,
such as referrals from existing Directors, advertising,
recommendations from third-party agency firms and
proposals from the Shareholders of the Company with due
consideration given to the criteria;

the Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates,
such as interviews, background checks, presentations and
third-party reference checks;

the proposed candidates will be required to submit necessary
personal information for the Nomination Committee’s
consideration. The Nomination Committee may request the
candidate(s) to provide additional information and documents,
if considered necessary;

upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship,
the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by
way of written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the
recommendation to the Board for appointment;

the Nomination Committee will provide the relevant
information of the selected candidate to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration of the remuneration package of
such selected candidate;

the Nomination Committee will thereafter make
recommendations to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment, and where a non-executive Director is
considered, the Remuneration Committee will make
recommendations to the Board on the proposed remuneration
package;

the Board may arrange for selected candidate to be
interviewed by members of the Board who are not members
of the Nomination Committee and the Board will thereafter
deliberate and decide the appointment as the case may be;
and
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(viii)y all appointments of Directors will be confirmed by the filing
of the consent to act as Director of the relevant Director (or
any other similar filings requiring the relevant Director to
acknowledge or accept the appointment as Director, as the
case may be) to be filed with the Companies Registry of Hong
Kong and updating the Register of Directors. The Director
shall consent to the public disclosure of their personal data
on any documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of
or in relation to their appointment as a Director.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters concerning its
recommendation of candidates for election at any general meeting.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the criteria for assessing
the suitability of proposed candidates and their potential
contributions to the Board, including but not limited to:

° reputation for character and integrity;

° accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries
in which the Company’s business is involved and other
professional qualifications;

o commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest;

o diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
perspectives, skills, knowledge and length of service;

° contribution that the candidate(s) can potentially bring to the
Board;

o plans in place for the orderly succession of the Board; and
° whether the independent Director candidates satisfy the
requirements for independence under Rule 3.13 of the Listing

Rules.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination
Policy as appropriate to ensure its effectiveness.

(vii)
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In accordance with the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee periodically reviews the structure, size and composition
of the Board and, where appropriate, gives suggestions on changes
to the Board in response to the Company’s corporate strategy,
thereby ensuring a balanced composition of the Board in terms of
diversity. In reviewing and evaluating the composition of the Board,
the Nomination Committee aims at achieving diversity at all levels
and takes into account various aspects including, but not limited
to, gender, race, language, cultural and educational background,
industry experience and professional experience.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board recognizes its responsibility for risk management
and internal control systems and reviews their effectiveness.
These systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate,
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board is fully responsible for assessing and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Company’s strategic objectives and for establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control mechanisms.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee
is responsible for reviewing our financial control, internal control
and risk management systems. The Company has established an
independent internal audit department reporting directly to the
Audit Committee.
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To monitor the ongoing implementation of our risk management
policies and corporate governance measures, we have established
relevant risk management systems and processes and formulated
the following risk management measures:

1. Establishing the Audit Committee to review and monitor our
financial reporting system and internal control procedures;

2. Establishing an internal audit department to conduct
independent and objective supervision, inspection, evaluation
and reporting on the implementation of risk management
policies and internal controls;

3. Having developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and standards and defined executive authority for
key business processes and office functions, including project
management, sales and leasing, financial reporting, human
resources and information technology;

4.  Providing trainings on anti-corruption and anti-bribery
regulations to senior management and employees to enhance
their knowledge and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, and setting out such issues in the Company’s
relevant systems, which will be conveyed during staff training
with relevant policy requirements updated from time to time;

5. Providing training sessions for Directors and senior
management on the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules
and the duties of directors of Hong Kong listed companies.

Each department of the Company is responsible for conducting
the daily work of risk management and promoting the internal
control assessment to identify the operational management issues
which may have an impact on risks. The Company conducts an
annual self-evaluation to ensure that each department is in proper
compliance with internal control policies.

The management, in coordination with department heads, assesses
the likelihood of risk occurrence, formulates the treatment plans,
monitors the risk management progress and reports to the internal
audit department.
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The management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and the
internal control systems during the Reporting Period. Based on the
internal controls established and maintained by the Group and the
reviews performed by the management and the Audit Committee,
the Board, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee, is of the
opinion that the internal control and risk management systems are
adequate and effective.

The internal audit department is responsible for providing
internal audit functions and performing independent review of
the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems associated with our major business processes,
identifying deficiencies and opportunities for improvement,
providing recommendations on remedial measures and reviewing
the implementation status of such remedial measures.

The Board conducts an annual review each year, on risk
management and internal control systems, financial reporting
and internal audit functions and staff qualifications, experience
and relevant resources. The Board, as supported by the Audit
Committee and the management report, has reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems, including financial,
operational and compliance controls for the year ended December
31, 2024 and, is of the opinion that they are effective and adequate.
The annual review is also involved in financial reporting, staff
qualifications and experience and relevant resources.

The Company has established the reporting procedures, which
are set out in relevant policies and systems, for employees to
raise concerns about possible misconducts in relation to financial
reporting, internal controls or other matters.

The Company has established the Insider Registration Management
System to stipulate the scope of inside information and insiders, the
registration, filing and reporting of insider files, and the confidentiality
and liability investigation, etc. The Company narrows the scope of
insiders, reports the inside information to the regulatory authorities
as soon as possible and makes public announcements in time
to shorten the duration of inside information and prevent insider
trading.
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The Company has also formulated the anti-fraud, anti-money
laundering and anti-bribery policies to prevent corruption and
bribery within the Company. The Company has an internal
whistleblowing channel for the Company’s employees to report
any suspected corruption or bribery behaviors. Employees can
also make anonymous reports to the internal audit department,
which is responsible for investigating the reported incidents and
taking appropriate action. The Company continues to carry out
anti-corruption and advocating integrity activities to foster a culture
of integrity and actively organizes anti-corruption training and
inspection to ensure the effectiveness of preventing corruption and
promoting integrity.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company
conducted 30 anti-corruption training sessions and briefings for
the Directors and employees. During the year ended December 31,
2024, there was no violation related to bribery and corruption in the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are aware that they are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements with the support of the
accounting and finance teams.

The Directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance
with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Appropriate
accounting policies have also been used and applied consistently,
except for the adoption of revised standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubts on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors
consider that the financial statements truly and fairly reflect
the financial position, results and cash flow of the Group as at
December 31, 2024, and other financial information disclosures and
reports comply with relevant legal requirements.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company regarding
their reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this Annual Report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the remuneration paid and
payable to the external auditors of the Company in respect of audit
services and non-audit services is set out below.

A2 S50 B s

BZE2024512A31BLILEE » BBERE
RIIEBZRIEC AR ES AR A T INE
BEETEB Y RN T o

Service Category BRFSEER Fees Paid/Payable
eft EfER
Currency: HKD
B BT
Audit services ERRE 1,335,000
Non-audit services: BRI
Consultation report fee BHBREEH 581,158*
Total st 1,916,158
*Note:  The consultation report fee was priced in US dollars at USD74,800, Mz HBAMSERMUELFE - A74,800
and the amount is approximately HKD581,158 calculated based on ET BARBENEXRFERSBHAR
the exchange rate on the payment date. 581,158/8 7T °
COMPANY SECRETARIES ATHE

Ms. LEUNG Wing Han Sharon has been appointed as a joint
company secretary of the Company with effect from October
25, 2028. Ms. Leung is a director of Corporate Services of Tricor
Services Limited, and possesses the qualifications of a company
secretary as required under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. TAO Qitao, an employee of the Company, has been appointed
as a joint company secretary with effect from November 10, 2023.
The main contact person of Ms. Leung in the Company is Mr. Tao.
For biographical details of Mr. Tao and Ms. Leung, please refer to
“Directors and Senior Management” in this Annual Report.

All Directors will have access to the advice and services of the
company secretaries on corporate governance and general matters
of the Board.

The two joint company secretaries have confirmed that they have
each received no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules for the year ended
December 31, 2024.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
the Board may convene an extraordinary general meeting at any
time as it deems appropriate. Any one or more members holding, at
the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company, shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for any transaction or resolution (if any) specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself/herself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Cayman
Islands Company Law concerning the procedure for Shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings. Shareholders who
intend to put forward a proposal at general meetings may convene
a general meeting according to the procedures set out in above
paragraphs, in order to review the transaction specified in the
requisition.

Inquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send written inquiries to the Company for any
inquiries to the Board. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous inquiries.
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Contact Details:

Shareholders may send the above inquiries or requests to the
following address:

Address: 16/F, Yintech Finance Center, 88 Xumin East Road,
Qingpu District, Shanghai, PRC

Unit 2001, 20th Floor of Golden Centre, No.188
Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

(Recipient: Board)

Tel: +86 21 6015 0919

Email: ir@jfztkg.com

For avoidance of doubt, Shareholders shall deposit and send the
originals of duly signed written requests, notices or statements or
inquiries (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full names, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. The information of Shareholders may be disclosed
as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company believes that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential to enhance investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategy. The Company is committed to maintaining continuous
communication with Shareholders, particularly through annual
general meetings and other general meetings. At annual general
meetings, the Directors (or their representatives, if appropriate) are
available to meet with Shareholders and answer questions.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s Shareholders
communication activities during the year ended December 31, 2024
and is satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders communication policy.

In order to protect the interests and rights of Shareholders, a
separate resolution shall be proposed at a general meeting in
respect of each material matter, including the election of an
individual Director. All resolutions proposed at general meetings will
be voted on by poll in accordance with the Listing Rules and the
poll results will be published on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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ACTIVITIES FOR INVESTOR RELATIONS
MANAGEMENT

Investor relations management is one of the most important tasks
for the regulated development and compliant operation of the
Company, and is highly valued by the Board of the Company.
The Company plans, arranges and organizes a variety of activities
for the management of investor relations with a strong sense of
responsibility, including coordinating on-site visits, maintaining
liaison with regulators, investors, intermediaries and news media,
etc.

The Group involved in over 400 engagements with a number
of domestic and overseas fund companies, asset management
companies, individual investors as well as investor and researcher
representatives from research institutes of securities brokers
through various channels such as offline activities and onsite
studies, offline non-deal roadshows and online communications.
It worked conscientiously on the daily investor consultation by
answering their questions in detail. Meanwhile, to facilitate the
release of periodic reports and keep the capital markets informed
of the Company’s latest developments on business operations in
a timely manner, the Company held 2 results press conferences
and 2 online business briefings. The Company also actively
attended strategy conferences and investment forums organized
by domestic or overseas securities brokers. During the Reporting
Period, the Company attended approximately 40 strategy
conferences and investment forums at which it fully communicated
and exchanged ideas with investors and researchers on issues
such as the development trend of the industry and the operating
performance and business development strategy of the Company,
which has effectively deepened the understanding of the investors
and researchers on the Company’s business operations and
results performance. The Company persisted in collecting,
analyzing and collating the queries raised by institutional investors
and researchers, in order to further enhance the professionalism
and standardization of the management of the Company’s
investor relations and improve the quality of its investor relations
management.
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SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has established a Shareholder Communication
Policy. The policy is designed to ensure that the Shareholders have
equal and timely access to information about the Company so as to
enable them to exercise their rights in an informed manner and to
enable them to participate actively in the activities of the Company.
The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders Communication Policy with satisfactory results.

The Company has established a series of channels to maintain an
ongoing dialogue with its Shareholders, as follows:

Shareholders’ Enquiries

° Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s share registrar.

° Shareholders may at any time make a request for the
Company’s information to the extent such information is
publicly available.

° Shareholders shall be provided with designated contacts in
order to enable them to make any query in respect of the
Company.

Corporate Communication

o “Corporate Communication” refers to any document issued
or to be issued by the Company for the information or action
of holders of any of the securities of the Company, including
but not limited to, the directors’ report and annual accounts
together with a copy of the auditor’s report, the interim
report, a notice of meeting, a circular and a proxy form. The
Corporate Communications will be provided to Shareholders
in plain language and in both English and Chinese versions
to facilitate Shareholders’ understanding. Shareholders have
the right to choose the language (either English or Chinese)
or means of receipt of the corporate communications (in hard
copy or through electronic means).

° Shareholders are encouraged to provide amongst other

things, in particular, their email addresses to the Company in
order to facilitate timely and effective communications.
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Company’s Website

The Company’s website has a dedicated “Investor Relations”
section: www.jfztkg.com/IR.html. Information on the
Company’s website will be updated regularly.

Information released by the Company to the website of the
Stock Exchange is also posted on the Company’s website
immediately thereafter. Such information includes financial
statements, results announcements, circulars and notices of
general meetings and associated explanatory documents, etc.

Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in the general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings
for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the
meetings.

Appropriate arrangements for the annual general meetings
shall be in place to encourage Shareholders’ participation.

The process of the Company’s general meeting will be
monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and, if necessary,
changes will be made to ensure that Shareholders’ needs are
best served.

Board members, in particular, the chairmen of Board
committees or their delegates, appropriate management
executives and external auditors will attend annual general
meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the Dividend Policy to set out the criteria
based on which the Board may declare and pay dividends to the
Shareholders. Such declaration and payment of dividends shall
remain to be determined at the absolute discretion of the Board
and subject to all applicable requirements (including without
limitation restrictions on dividend declaration and payment) under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association of the Company. The Board may from time to time
pay to the shareholders such dividends subject to the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association of
the Company. Any dividends declared by the Company must be
approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders at a general
meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended by the
Board. Dividends may be distributed in the form of cash or shares
subject to and in accordance with the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association of the Company. In
proposing any dividend payment, the Board shall take into account
the following criteria, including:

° the Group’s actual and expected results of operations and
cash flow and financial position;

o general business conditions and business strategies of the
Group;

° distributable profit, retained earnings and/or distributable
reserves of the Company and the members of the Group;

° the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

° the Group’s indebtedness level and liquidity position;

° legal, regulatory and other contractual restrictions on the
Group’s declaration and payment of dividends; and

° other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Period, in light of (i) the latest regulatory
requirements regarding the expansion of the paperless
listing regime and the electronic dissemination of corporate
communications by listed issuers, as well as the relevant
amendments to the Listing Rules that came into effect on December
31, 2023; and (ii) better aligning the amendments to the existing
Articles of Association for house-keeping purposes with the Listing
Rules and the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, at the annual
general meeting of shareholders held by the Company on June 20,
2024, the Company’s second amended and restated articles of
association were approved and adopted by a special resolution.The
latest version of Articles of Association of the Company is set out
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. CHEN Wenbin
Chairman

April 25, 2025
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ABOUT US

As a next-generation stock investing assistant, we provide equity
investment tools, securities investment advisory, investor education
and other services for individual investors with product offerings
such as stock quote software, Stock Learning Machine, Stock
Navigator (BRIE%EM), Super Investor (BAKZIKREXR) and Jiuyao
Stocks (L BR).

Implementing our “technology + investment research” dual-driver
strategy, we have developed JF Robo-Advisor (J1/5 & REIREEEL
F A), FinSphere Agent (L7 E&E), FinSphere Report (J1.75 &)
and other Al products based on our Al and big data technologies,
enabling us to achieve industry leadership in innovative practice
and scenario application, and we are striving to become a lifelong
partner in investment and wealth management for our customers.

RESPONSIBILITIES AND GOALS

We will adhere to our principles of rational investing, value
investing and long-term investing to help customers induce right
investing concepts, practice investor education, fulfil corporate
social responsibility and commit ourselves to promoting healthy
development of the capital market in the long run.
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BOARD STATEMENT

The Group has established a systematic governance framework
on sustainable development, creating an ESG (environmental,
social, and governance) management structure with clearly defined
responsibilities. The Board, as the supreme decision-making body
for ESG matters, is fully responsible for formulating and overseeing
the Group’s ESG strategy, and continuously monitors ESG
issues that could have a material impact on business operations,
shareholders, and other stakeholders. An ESG Committee has
been established under the Board to identify and assess ESG risks
related to the Group, establish and maintain effective mechanisms
on risk management and internal control, and regularly report
to the Board on progress towards relevant ESG goals and
recommendations for improvement. For details on the governance
structure, please refer to the section “ESG Governance”.

During the Reporting Period, the Board was engaged in assessing
and determining the significance and priority of ESG issues.
Through interviews, questionnaire surveys, meetings, and other
means, the Board provided insights and recommendations on ESG
issues that could impact the Group’s long-term sustainability, and
evaluated their priority levels. For details, please refer to the section
“ESG Topic Materiality Assessment”.

Regarding ESG performance management, the Group has
established a system of quantifiable targets covering core areas
such as carbon emissions, waste control, energy efficiency, and
water resource utilization. The Board has conducted targeted
reviews of progress toward these targets and has made timely
adjustments to management measures, to ensure the steady
advancement of sustainability goals. Going forward, the Board will
continue to oversee and improve the Company’s ESG management
and practices, collaborating with stakeholders to drive green
transformation and develop its ability to create long-term value.
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The Board and all directors guarantee that this environmental, social
and governance ("ESG") report (the "Report") does not contain any
false representations, misleading statements or major omissions,
and assume responsibility for the authenticity, accuracy and
completeness of the Report. The Report systematically discloses
the progress of the Group’s ESG practices and management in
2024. All data has undergone multiple internal audits to ensure
its reliability. This Report has been reviewed and approved by the
Board on March 27, 2025.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group is pleased to release this Report. This is the third ESG
report since its listing. The Report has been prepared in both
English and Chinese and has been uploaded to the Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEX”) and the Group’s website
(www.jfztkg.com/IR.html). If there is any inconsistency between the
English and Chinese versions of this Report, the Chinese version
shall prevail.

The Report comprehensively discloses the policies, measures,
outcomes, and various environmental and social key performance
indicators of the Group in the areas of environment, social, and
governance for the year 2024. Its purpose is to assist various
stakeholders in gaining a deeper understanding of the policies
adopted by the Group, the specific measures implemented, and the
achievements made in key issues such as environment, social, and
governance.

Scope of the Report

The Report discloses in details the ESG performance of the Group
for the Reporting Period. The coverage scope of the performance
information disclosed for the year includes the principal operating
locations of JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd and its subsidiaries in
Shanghai, the PRC. The Group will regularly review the scope
of the Report in accordance with the principle of importance to
ensure that comprehensive and accurate information is provided to
investors and other stakeholders.
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Reporting Criteria

The Report complies with the “Comply or Explain” requirement
of the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide”
(the “Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules issued
by the Stock Exchange, with the four reporting principles set out
therein as the basis of preparation of the Report, i.e., Materiality,
Quantification, Balance and Consistency.

Materiality Principle: We have identified and assessed the key ESG
issues of concern to both the Group and its external stakeholders.
For details on the process and results of the materiality assessment,
please refer to the “ESG Topic Materiality Assessment” section.

Balance Principle: This report presents an unbiased overview of our
performance in areas such as the environment, employees, supply
chain, products and services, and communities.

Quantification Principle: We regularly make statistics on key
quantitative indicators across the ESG categories, and compile and
disclose them in this report. For details on the calculation methods,
reference standards, and parameters for the ESG quantitative data
in this report, please refer to the relevant sections of the report.

Consistency Principle: This report has been prepared in a manner
consistent with previous years. Any changes that may impact
meaningful comparisons with past reports have been explained in
the corresponding sections.

Comments & Feedbacks

The Group values the comments of our stakeholders, and
stakeholders’ opinions are regarded as crucial drivers for upgrading
the Group’s sustainable development strategy. If you have any
enquiries or suggestions about the content or presentation of the
Report, please contact the Group via the contact details set out in
the “Corporate Information” section of the 2024 Annual Report of
JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd.
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GOVERNANCE

Corporate Governance

Guided by the principles of promoting effective internal monitoring
measures, enhancing transparency in Board operations, and
strengthening the Board’s accountability to all shareholders,
the Group is committed to upholding and implementing strict
corporate governance standards. There are four committees
under the Board, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, and the ESG Committee,
which aim to oversee the Group’s management of its affairs and
provide professional review and guidance on the Group’s policies,
decisions, and strategies. For more details on principles, practices,
and performance of the Group’s corporate governance, please
refer to the “Corporate Governance Report” section in the Annual
Report.

Board Independence and Diversity

We place significant emphasis on the independence, diversity,
and professional expertise of the Board. We explicitly require
that the nomination process for Board members should take into
account various diversity factors, including professional experience,
competence, skills, knowledge, cultural and educational
background, gender, age, ethnicity, and years of service. The
Group has formulated the “Board Member Diversity Policy,” which
is reviewed annually by the Nomination Committee. As of the end
of the Reporting Period, the Board consists of eight directors,
including three independent non-executive directors and one
female director. The ages of the directors range from 38 to 61, and
the Board composition is balanced, with diverse experience across
various industries and sectors, including overall management,
information technology, business development, and financial
expertise.

We aim to promote gender diversity when recruiting mid-
and senior-level employees in order to develop female senior
management and potential successors in the Board. Furthermore,
we will invest more resources in training female employees with
long-term and relevant experience in our business, with the goal of
promoting them to senior management positions or the Board of
directors within the Group.
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Risk Management

To monitor the continuous implementation of risk management
policies and corporate governance measures, we have established
the relevant risk management system and processes and
developed the following risk management measures:

1. Establish the Audit Committee to review and oversee our
financial reporting system and internal control procedures;

2.  Establish the internal audit department to independently
and objectively monitor, inspect, evaluate, and report on the
implementation of risk management policies and internal
control measures;

3. Develop, adopt and implement various procedures and
guidelines on risk management, defining the executive
authority for key business processes and functional
departments;

4. Provide training on anti-corruption and anti-bribery rules
for senior management and employees to enhance their
knowledge and ensure their compliance with applicable laws
and regulations, and setting out such issues in the Company’s
relevant systems, communicate them during employee
training sessions, and update them from time to time to reflect
relevant policy requirements;

5.  Provide training sessions regarding the requirements related
to the listing rules and the responsibilities of Hong Kong-listed
companies’ directors to directors and senior management.

All departments of the Company are responsible for supporting
daily risk management tasks and advancing internal control
assessments to identify potential risk-related operational issues.
The Company conducts an annual self-assessment to ensure that
all departments properly comply with the internal control policies.

For details regarding our specific risk management and internal
control mechanisms, please refer to the “Corporate Governance
Report” section.
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Integration of ESG into Risk Management

We have integrated ESG-related factors into the Company’s risk
assessment and internal control management processes. Through
regular risk identification and evaluation, we prioritize risks based
on the evaluation outcomes and develop corresponding risk
response measures accordingly.

ESG Governance

Driven by our vision of “becoming a lifelong partner in investment
and wealth management for our customers,” the Group’s ESG
strategy is aligned with our business strategies for customers, the
industry and the society. Our ESG strategy has become an integral
part of our corporate culture, serving as a bridge between past
achievements and future development while driving the Group’s
sustainable growth. We implement a systematic approach for
the ESG management framework through three key approaches:
(i) Establishing an ESG governance structure that encompasses
the Board, ESG Committee, and ESG Task Force; (ii) Embedding
ESG principles into our corporate culture and integrating ESG
practices into daily business operations; and (iii) Publishing the
standardized ESG annual reports to enhance transparency and
enable stakeholders to track our ESG commitments and progress.
In 2024, the Group once again won the “ESG Pioneer Award” from
Cailianshe.com.cn (818#%t) in 2024, reflecting broad recognition of
our ESG efforts and achievements.

ESG Governance Framework

The Group has established a top-down ESG governance framework
led by the Board, systematically driving improvements in ESG
governance and performance through three levels: oversight and
planning by the Board, promotion by the ESG Committee, and
execution by the ESG Task Force, During the Reporting Period, the
Board provided guidance and oversight on the ESG efforts through
regular assessments of the progress towards ESG performance
targets and the review of the annual ESG Report.

{78 JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024

ESGRI N E R EE

HHCELESCGHBREZRALR A RNER
AR ABEHEERERE  LEHRRER
MBI - RIBF A EREARAEIRIR
FFEITHES - Bt RIERRA R R T o

ESGE&
BFRIXEEFREENNLEHE IWWE
S AEENRE - HEREABELEKM
ABAEF 7% HENEEERKE IR
AEH o RMMESGERKEMARBLEX
ftWREZ— REET  BHLOETEE
BR - -KMBBER=ESHERESGEE®
AL (VBN EEESE  ESGEERLUR
ESGI{E/NAMESGE RS ; (i) IEESGHE
SHEADEVCRESGERMAXKAEE
B (i) A A EENESGFEERSE - U
REEHE  EEMEEEIRMEESGE
AR U RER o 2024 F - ANEEEREEL
Bt [ESGHEE | » RMEREKRMESGT
YEF R BRI ZE D FRT] o

ESGEQ%E1E
AEBCEEHESSHEENBLMTH
ESGEREE BREESEELRRE -
ESGZEZHE - ESGIENAEARE=E
BEZSEEESGRIBMENUIEH « MEH
N EEEBEBEHEEESGEM B ZHIT
EE - BHESGEERESHAYESGIHE
ETIREMES -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRE - HERELGRE

o
B

®

ESG Governance Framework ESGE

Board of Directors

Ezg

ESG Committee
ESGZE®

ESG Working Group:
Composed of responsible personnel
from functional departments
and business departments

ESGI{E/h#H :
ZERAEERFY - EBIAEEASAK

Board of Directors

Takes full responsibility for assessing the key ESG risks to
which the Group is exposed (such as supplier management,
understanding sustainable needs of the society and other
major ESG issues related to the Group)

Takes full responsibility for assessing and determining the
nature and extent of risks, including ESG risks, that the Group
is willing to accept in achieving its strategic objectives, and
establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

ESG Committee

Advise the Board on the effectiveness of the Company’s ESG
strategy, clarity of the Company’s purpose, the application
of its values and its management of environmental and social
risks and opportunities.
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Monitor the Company’s ESG performance and execution
ensuring the Company addresses matters of material impact
and is in alignment with accepted sectoral, national and
international standards and any other applicable standards
from time to time.

Assist the Board in leading the management and overseeing
their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems; formulate or refine
policies and procedures to address major risks (including
ESG risks in the course of operation; and regularly review
the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems;

Review current and emerging ESG trends, relevant
international standards and legislative requirements; identify
how these trends impact the strategy, operations, and
reputation of the Company; and determine if and how these
trends are incorporated into or reflected in the company’s
ESG policies and objectives.

° ESG Task Force: Composed of Heads of Various Functional
and Business Departments

Continuously assess and identify risks that may have potential
impacts on the business and all aspects of Group, including
ESG-related risks and deficiencies in internal control during
the course of operations.

Report any identified risks to the management.

Integration of ESG Principles into Corporate Culture
“Customer-centric, teamwork, focus, integrity, embrace change,
innovation, and living mindfully while working joyfully” are our
cultural values, which steer the Company’s long-term sustainable
development. Our corporate cultural values are recognized by
employees. In the 2024 corporate culture survey, employees fully
affirmed the effectiveness of the implementation of these cultural
values.

As a key support for our ESG strategy, over the past year, we
integrated ESG principles into our corporate culture through various
initiatives.

We continuously share practical content on topics such as
building DEI (diversity, equity, and inclusion), privacy protection,
and data security through the Company’s platform, fostering
greater awareness and engagement with ESG principles among all
employees.

In building a workplace ecosystem, we organize events focused
on gender equality and cross-cultural communication, such
as the “Sizzling women” sharing sessions and the “Heartfelt
Thanks: Thanksgiving Event”. These initiatives promote employee
engagement and integration, enabling the principles of “teamwork”
and “embracing change” to take hold through these interactions.
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Data security and privacy protection are manifestations of our
dedication to “focus” and “diligence”. We incorporate relevant
training into our onboarding process and provide advanced courses
tailored for key roles involved in handling personal information.
These cover topics such as security awareness, vulnerabilities
and defenses, and standards for research and development,
ensuring that employees maintain data security standards with
professionalism and comply with regulatory requirements. For more
details, please refer to the “Data Security and Privacy Protection”
section of the Report.

Regarding social responsibility, we encourage employees to
engage in public welfare endeavors with a sense of “integrity”. We
consistently organize events such as the “September 9 Charity Day
(99 A% H)”. In 2024, our employees took part in the “guardianship
program for struggling families”, providing targeted assistance to
disadvantaged families in Mangshi City, Yunnan Province, helping
improve their living conditions and environment, while contributing
to rural revitalization. This effort reflects our human care of “living
mindfully while working joyfully”. For more details, please refer to
the “Practicing Public Welfare and Giving Back to Society” section
of the Report.

ESG Topic Materiality Assessment

The Group values its stakeholders and dedicates to understanding
and addressing their views and concerns on environmental, social
and governance (ESG) issues through constructive communication
and strong relationships. While formulating operation strategies and
sustainability plans, the Group takes into account stakeholders’
expectations on ESG issues through mutual cooperation with
stakeholders and their active engagement. This process enables
us to implement our ESG initiatives and relevant strategies in
accordance with their considerations, so as to address any gaps
and deficiencies.
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FOESBNEIEY - BEAARKRER
[REEER T3

The following table sets out the major concerns, communication
channels, response and feedback of stakeholders:

Types of General Communication
Stakeholders Major Concerns Channels Response and Feedback
&R BAEEER —RiBERE 830
Employees e Training and career e Direct communication e Provide a healthy
E& development e HIZERB and safe working
o EIIEERFEERE e Performance assessment environment
e Remuneration and o BRUER o RMRERE - ZEMIE
benefits e Health examination RIE
o HENERRER o BmM * Establish a fair
e Health and safety e Training courses and transparent
o REHZZE o IZHIIFRE performance
e Consulting about assessment mechanism
employee comments o EVATEBRMEBENE
s EEEREWH A 1l
e Safety management e Organize staff activities
e LTERER o HBIEESEE
Suppliers e Standardized supplier e Order/contract execution e Fulfill contractual
AR management and and communication obligations
procurement process o FIE ERHITESR s BITERAZRE
o REMMEREERK  Direct communication e Maintain long-term
BRI o HEESR cooperation with
e Performance of e Supplier management excellent suppliers
contracts on time system o HIEFMUERREFRE
o REHITEE o HEREESE a1k
e Corporate reputation e Supplier questionnaire e Payment on time
o HEER o MHEBMS o IREFRK
e Ensure that products
and services comply
with quality and safety
standards
s BREMRBRBHEE
BERRRE
e Complete supplier
management files
s EBERHNHEEHEEER
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Types of
Stakeholders
HirEER

Customers
TP

Government/
Community

B HE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Major Concerns

BAEERS

e Diversified products
and services

o LZRIMERKRERE

e Quality of products

e EmHEE

e Customer service and
satisfaction

s EFRBHEREE

e Customer privacy and
data security

s EFBAHEZEZRE

* Responsible marketing

s BEMEMNEH

e Compliant business

operations

ERNEEEE

e Contribution to social
and community
development

s ERHERUEHRRE

General Communication
Channels

—RiBERE

e Social media

o HRIEEE

e Company’s official
website

e NTFEH

e Email and telephone
communication

s HHUREFZBRE

e Market activities

o TIHEE

e Government visits and
guides

s BFZEIES

e Attend government
meetings

. SHEENSE

e Community services

o EARK

R - HERESRE

Response and Feedback

RS 6

e Establish customer
communication
channels

s BYRFBBRE

e Product updates and
iterations

o EmEMEAN

e Establish the marketing
compliance control
system

o RUEHARIEHEAR

e Protect data security
and customer privacy
security

s REBBREFEBALZ
S

e Strictly adhere to laws
and regulations

o BRBREPEEER

e Strengthen data and
financial security
management

o INBBEHEEMZEE
b3

e Actively undertake
corporate social
responsibility

o BRAELELSER
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Types of

Stakeholders Major Concerns
RrEER BEER,

Media * Responsible marketing
e o BEEMNEH

General Communication
Channels

— R

Annual and interim
results presentations

Response and Feedback

RS 6

Fulfill the responsibility
of timely and accurate

During the Reporting Period, we communicated with stakeholders
to identify potentially significant sustainability issues relating to
the ESG that could affect the Group. We have collected relevant
information to assess the impact of these ESG issues on the Group.
Through analysis, we identified and sorted 23 issues to set up the
Group’s ESG materiality matrix.
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welfare Social media BITRREERNEER
o ZHEHUENH RIS BB
¢ News interviews e Establish a good
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mechanism with the

media

s EVHEHERNRIFER
B

e Innovation cooperation
with KOLs

o EEKOLBHIRAIFIE/E

RI|EHR - RAEFDEEBE - LIH5IR
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High

Moderate

Low
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00 00

th
Importance to the Group
HEASEMNEEMS

&

Importance to stakeholders

HIFNENEEY
Low Moderate High
& H =
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Governance Society Environment

EAR e =iE

1. Risk Management 4. Customer Service 20. Water Resources
AREE and Experience Management
N
2. Corporate Governance EERBRBRER KEREE
AERE 5. Data Security 21. Emissions Management
3 Stakeholder and Privacy Protection PR ER
Engagement B =2 RELRE 22. Addressing
BHESHR 6. Talent Attraction Climate Change
and Retention EHREEL
AT REIRRE 23. Energy Use
7. Employee RREEA
Rights Protection
BT RERRE
8. Employee Health
and Safety
ETIRFEHRERZS

9. Employee Training
and Development
BTHEIIRE

10. Diversity,
Equity and Inclusion
Zn - FPEEER

11. Business Ethics
and Anti-Corruption
BMEBEERERES
12. Responsible Marketing
EEIMNEH
13. Prevention of
Child Labor
and Forced Labor
FritBEFET
RIRELEE

14. Sustainable
Supply Chain
A E L gE

15. Intellectual

Property Protection
HIEEERE

16. Product Quality
and Safety
EmEERRTE

17. Product
Technology Innovation
FE Bl Rl

18. Technological Ethics
B fRE

19. Technological
Inclusiveness and
Community Welfare

BREEREEQR
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INVESTOR EDUCATION

Investors are the cornerstone of the market, and it is crucial to help
investors establish a rational and scientific investment philosophy.
The Group is committed to actively fulfilling its corporate social
responsibility. Through an approach driven by both “technology and
investment research”, we have established an investor education
service system. We continuously innovate in investor education
formats, assisting investors in cultivating rational investment, value
investment, and long-term investment concepts. Through these
efforts, we actively uphold corporate social responsibility and
advance the practice of financial inclusion education.

RIE - HEREARE

REEHE

REERMHZA  BOREERLEMH
BREFSZHEZ - FAEEBRFHEERE
ThEHSEML  BBIRE+ R LHE
B BEREEHERBER - THANRK
EEHERN  BHEAREEREEMR
& BERE  REREED BEETH
EHEEMR RMEMEEHEEE -
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Innovating Investor Education Products

Guided by user needs, we launched our first stock learning
machine, the “Enjoy-Stock Pad”, during the Reporting Period,
creating a groundbreaking solution for the sector. The machine
features over 200 proprietary premium courses, comprising
approximately 1,300 lessons with a total duration exceeding 12,000
minutes. This comprehensive curriculum spans from fundamental
concepts to advanced strategies, designed to meet the investment
needs of investors at all proficiency levels. Meanwhile, to enhance
learning efficiency and engagement, Enjoy-Stock Pad incorporates
intelligent tools such as Al assessments, Al notes, and Al mind
maps, making the process of learning to invest more efficient, and
enjoyable.

We expect that the launch of this product can create a dedicated
learning platform for investors, promote popular investor education,
actively fulfil corporate social responsibilities and deepen the
inclusive financial education practice.

@ Three Base Systems
=REERS

B 3sE

Nine-dimensional
Course System

NEREZBR

Three Categories
of Learning Content

=HEERR

Investor Education Base

We have established the Investor Education Base, which includes
unique sections such as securities classroom, themed activities,
anti-fraud zone, risk education, investment announcements, and
simulated experience. These initiatives aim to enhance investors’
understanding of financial knowledge, strengthen risk awareness,
and safeguard their legitimate rights and interests.
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Integrating Investor Education into the Campus

In response to the national call to “promote the integration of
investor education into the national education system”, we have
proactively fostered cooperation between the Company and
universities to nurture rational investors for the capital market from
the very beginning. We have visited prestigious universities such
as Dalian University of Technology, Beijing Jiaotong University,
and Shanghai University of International Business and Economics,
aiming to bolster the financial concepts and risk awareness of
college students. Additionally, we have collaborated with Shanghai
World Foreign Language Early Childhood Education Group to
facilitate the widespread adoption and lifelong learning of investor
education.

Multi-dimensional Educational Activities

We exclusively sponsored CBN’s live broadcast of the Berkshire
Hathaway Annual Shareholders Meeting and produced the live
broadcast program “Buffett and Seven Lunches” to convey the
investment concept of “walk with time, walk with value”. We
organized a series of activities for the National Investor Protection
Day on May 15, actively promoting them through short videos, live
broadcasts, and other formats on our Company’s platform, as well
as traditional media channels like Hubei TV and China Business
Network (CBN), calling on the investors’ participation in the
education on rational investing.

TECHNOLOGY-DRIVEN FINANCE

Adhering to the philosophy of “technology-driven finance”, the
Group comprehensively advances the transformation of “digital
intelligence” and vigorously develops “Al +” to enhance and
empower scenarios including compliance, investment research,
investment advisory, and customer service. Meanwhile, we actively
explore external digital collaboration and build a comprehensive
Al-driven business system, laying a more solid technological
foundation for the Company’s sustainable development.
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FinSphere Agent

Upgrades the stock investment
chat assistant by integrating the
FinSphere with open - source
models like DeepSeek.

hEERE
ERNEZBHBESAER > &0
DeepSeekEBIRAER - ARKR
EREHEDTF -

FinSphere Report
A one - stop intelligent investment
research platform. It intelligently
interprets industries and compa-
nies and automatically generates
research reports.

NFEEH
— X ERRT T EERERET
¥ DT BEEMR-

Enjoy-Stock Pad

Al - powered learning tools such
as Al notes and Al mind maps
empower diverse learning scenar-
ios.

‘BAKRE" REBEH
AIER  AMES2E T AR
ZRBEER -

Products

Em

Compliance Content
and Risk Control ---© Production
BREE ABREE
s * ' e ‘
Pursues digital-intelligent transforma- ¢ Leverages Al features including AIGC,
tion and constructs a Compliance Marketin facial and voiceprint recognition to
Management 3.0 system. ) 9 assist efficient content production.
and Services
BOTUELEE  BRAREEI 0N T RS FIAAIGC - AR ERREASAIT
( é Y

The “Intelligent Conversation Summary” function efficiently formulates
customer follow-up strategies.

The “Al Marketing Partner”
customers around the clock.

EREEAE MESRERTFRERRE -
ATERE RERAFFRHAEARENSEEBRY -

provides high-quality, personable services to
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During the Reporting Period, we became a member of the Chinese
Association for Artificial Intelligence (CAAI), signifying that the
Company has been recognized for its core Al R&D technologies
and achievements in the financial sector. We completed the filings
of the deep synthesis service algorithm under the FinSphere
algorithm, demonstrating that the Company has gained recognition
from both the industry and the regulators for the controllability and
security of its Al technology. This provides technical support for the
comprehensive upgrading of financial services.

In addition, we established a professional Al R&D team to deepen
the collaboration among the industry, academic and research
sectors by way of externally engaging cooperation with universities,
scientific research institutions and financial institutions. During
the Reporting Period, we successfully settled in the “Postdoctoral
Innovation Practice Base in Putuo District”, helping the industry
nuture leading and skilled talents to drive development and
application of emerging technologies. In addition, we presented
a number of research papers at Al conferences such as the
International Conference on Computational Linguistics (COLING)
and the annual conference of the North American Chapter of the
Association for Computational Linguistics (NAACL), and three of
which about innovative conversational systems and the direction of
refinements to efficient parameters for large language models (LLMs)
were accepted.
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Overall Management Policy

The Group adheres to the overall information security policy of
“compliance and security, shared responsibility, risk control,
and continuous improvement,” committed to protecting the
security of the Company’s core information assets, preventing
data breaches, and ensuring the integrity, confidentiality, and
availability of information systems. In practical operations, we have
established a security protection system covering the entire life
cycle of data, which promotes release of the value of data elements
while safeguarding the bottom line of security. It establishes a
data classification and grading system and a risk assessment and
emergency response mechanism to implement strict control over
core data, strengthen the application of full-process encryption and
access control technology, and execute core principles such as
“minimal collection” and “informed consent of users”. These form a
systematic protection framework spanning from strategic planning
to technology application, and provides a dual protection for data
security and privacy compliance.
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Data Classification and Grading Management BESESRER

We have established a differentiated data control system based BMBETUSEIRAER  EHAER
on classification and grading of data and by adopting a labeling AFBENEBEZELEERA  BERSHA
management approach to precisely protect highly sensitive data FESEDEAPIBERE  BROTEIE
throughout its entire life cycle and ensure the safe and reasonable ZEAEFER -

use of the Company's data.

Business Data: Key information such as

/—0 E] customer information.

EBRE EEFEEERRER -

Human Resources Data: Employee information,
salary and benefits, etc.

ANEE  ETER - HMERNS -

Financial Data: Financial invoices,

Data Classification
statements, etc.

Management

HESRER MBEHIE  BERE  ®/RE -

Operation Data: Operation models,
meeting minutes, etc.

EgHE EEES  SEI8E -

Technical Data: Software development data,

\o |<7>: database information, etc.

BRITEIE - AR EE EREENS -

G4

Management Details for Data at G3 and Above:

Access Control:

Set password - based access. During the use process, inquiries and changes by internal and external entities
require approval from relevant responsible persons. Determine access rules based on the principle of minimi-
zation, record and audit access situations, and clean up invalid accounts.

Transport Security:

Divide security domains. For cross - domain transmission, especially for data at G3 and above, use protocols
such as SSL/TLS or IPSEC to encrypt the link and use the AES256 algorithm to encrypt data. Internal
transmission requires approval from the compliance and security departments, and external transmission

requires an additional approval at the director level. Unauthorized transmission of sensitive data is prohibited.

Storage Protection:

Store data in different areas and at different levels. Files of data at G3 and above are encrypted in their entirety
using nationally recognized cryptographic algorithms, and keys are stored and backed up by dedicated
personnel.

G3R U EBIEEEAA

AR

REOSHE - ARG ANBEIRER  SEFCHEBEFEAFL  BRMURBBEHERA - 28K
WEHEER  FERMIRS
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Customer Privacy Protection

We strictly adhere to the principles of legality, fairness, and
necessity when processing customers’ personal information. In
terms of customer privacy collection, we fully inform the scope
of information collection and use scenarios, and obtain full
authorization from users. In terms of data storage, we provide
graded protection (transaction logs are stored for more than 5
years, and important business data are stored for more than 20
years) and implement de-identification in line with the benchmark
standards in the financial industry. In terms of data use, we
enforce minimum-privilege access control and implement pre-
approval, real-time monitoring and post-audit mechanism for key
operations, special authorization and desensitized display for
sensitive operations. We have also established a pre-assessment
mechanism for sensitive scenarios to protect customers’ rights of
making inquiries and corrections, etc. We guarantee to complete
verification of account cancellation within 15 working days, and
have channels in place for responding to complaints.
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Security Technical Measures and Certifications

During the Reporting Period, we were one of the first investment
advisory industry players who were awarded the “One-Star Rating
for Personal Information Protection Impact Assessments Label” by
the Data Security Working Committee of the China Cybersecurity
Industry Alliance for our assurance of the legality, legitimacy, and
necessity of personal information processing activities. Additionally,
the following certifications remain valid and effective:

No. Quality Certification/Quality Inspection Report
4Rsik EEE EERRREEE

1 Data Security Management Capability Certification
BER2EEENRE

2 ISO/IEC 27701
3 ISO/IEC 27001
4 Information System Security Protection Record Certificate

EERRLTEERREBRFEH
5 ISO 9001 QMS certification
BEETERAIAFSHKEFEZ(1S09001)

6 Digital Software Product Service Capability Certification
BFLEHERRBENDERE

RIE - HEREARE

REFNEEREE

BEHR > BAESTERRZ2EXHRA
HEZ2THEZESHBRBITEAHUIE
AEERELETE - 2R IRE - BR
BAGEREEFHNGE EE - 4E
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Inspection Institution

eI E

TL Certification Centre Co., Ltd.
RRAREROERAT

SGS-CSTC Standards Technical Services
Co., Ltd.
BIEEERREER AR

SGS-CSTC Standards Technical Services
Co., Ltd.

BEREERMREERA A

Shanghai Information Security Testing
Evaluation and Certification Center

BT EEZRRFTRERL

Shanghai Quality Certification Centre
EEEERMREFPO

Sinocurity Faith Certification
TRPZAEREFOERAA
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Continuous Improvement and Optimization

We attach great importance to continuous improvement in
information security and privacy protection by regularly conducting
security audits, risk assessments, and employee training to
continually refine our protection systems. The Information Security
Committee regularly proposes management recommendations
and strategic adjustments on the risks, countermeasures and
effectiveness of measures related to data security and privacy
protection. At the same time, we also focus on enhancing the
employees’ awareness of information security. Relevant training
and assessment should be attended by all employees at least once
a year and by key personnel for no less than 20 hours every year, in
order to strengthen their capabilities in security protection and risk
response.
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CUSTOMER SERVICE AND PRODUCT
RESPONSIBILITY

We always adhere to a “customer-centric” philosophy to build a
customer service system with warmth. In addition, we regulate the
entire product process with stringent responsibility standards to
effectively safeguard customers’ rights and interests.

Core Mechanism:
Establish an "Intelligence + Human"
Hierarchical Service Mechanism

BB

Intelligent Customer Service:

Solve standardized and
high-frequency customer in-
quiries through the intelligent
customer service system

‘.___
HREER: :
EREEERAAHEREE 5 :
it BIEREFEH ooooooo0 O e

Service Effect:

BY “Bee+ AT DRERBHS

RIE - HEREARE

EFRRGRERSE

BMRARBIUEFAHL] BEBERE
MEFRBER - BEFUBRENEETRER
HERDRNE  EREEFES -

Human Customer Service:
A professional customer serv-
ice team handles personalized
and complex needs

ALER:
EXRREREE@MEL -
BREER

Achieve the combination of technological
empowerment and human touch

FRIEKR :
BERRMBEEARERES
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During the Reporting Period, we set up a special “Customers’
Satisfaction Survey” module on our Smartinvest App. In the
fourth quarter of 2024, we received over 40,000 real user reviews,
with an average score of 4.69 out of 5. Users who gave rating
of satisfied or above accounted for 94% of the total. For users
who expressed dissatisfaction, we arranged follow-ups under our
review mechanism and we formulated improvement solutions to
enhance our product strengths after multi-dimensional analysis and
discussion.

The Group strictly regulates the advertising of products and
services. Before publishing promotional contents, we will carefully
verify all contents to be published on various channels (including
web pages, Apps, videos, etc.) to ensure the contents are accurate.
The Group actively organizes special compliance training on false
and misleading promotion to raise the employees’ awareness on
advertising and ensure the compliance of the Group’s advertising.
Additionally, the Group rigorously screens suppliers and regulates
their behaviors. Clear advertising promotion requirements
are specified in the signed contracts to ensure the integrity,
authenticity, and accuracy of promotional materials, thereby
avoiding violations of laws, regulations, and platform rules. Due to
its business nature, the Group is not involved in product recalls or
product retrieval situations for safety and health reasons.

For learning machine products, we adopt an OEM (Original
Equipment Manufacturer) model for production and quality
inspection, adhering to the principle of “inspection for every batch”,
with a sampling inspection rate of 5%e..

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any
complaints and lawsuits affecting its business operation and
relating to significant product quality issues, and processed all
customer feedback. We have a dedicated customer complaint
handling team, offering various complaint channels to customers,
ensuring that issues are handled in a timely and appropriate manner
and significantly improving the efficiency and quality of complaint
resolution.
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We have a set of comprehensive complaint management system,
and also formulated Customer Complaint Management Policy,
Refund Management Procedures and other related policies. During
the delivery of our offerings, customers are entitled to report certain
issues about the service experience. We maintain a customer
complaint interface in our Apps to ensure a timely response to any
complaints from customers within 24 hours, helping us maintain
high quality control standards for our customer services.

In order to comply with relevant laws and regulations as well as
our internal policies, we implement a comprehensive complaint
handling procedure for all complaints filed through internal
and external channels, which includes general procedures,
investigation guidelines, communication guidance and complaint
record management rules. This aims to ensure that all complaints
are handled in a standard manner and recorded properly. Our
complaint handling procedure primarily includes the following:
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Acceptance of Complaint

The After-Sales Department receives customer complaints initiated
through various channels such as on-site visits, complaint hotline,
email, mail, or referrals from other departments. Complaints are
categorized based on their severity, and customer complaint
files are created. Upon receiving a complaint, the After-Sales
Department will conduct a customer follow-up within one business
day to understand the relevant details.

Complaint Investigation and Verification

The After-Sales Department needs to verify the complaint
information according to the system record, and initiate an
investigation when there is insufficient information. The relevant
departments should cooperate with feedbacks and supply
materials. Investigation is conducted based on its level. If it is a
low-level complaint, it may contact the department directly; if it is a
high-level complaint, it may apply for joint investigation. A deadline
is set for the investigation and feedback, which can be extended
under special circumstances, and priority is given to urgent
complaints.

Handling Complaint

The After-Sales Department promptly follows up on the status of
handling and maintains relevant records. Based on the verification
results, compliance investigations, and relevant Group policies, the
department actively engages in communication and negotiation
with customers. The After-Sales Department addresses customer
complaints through methods such as appeasing the customers and
providing explanations, re-assigning service personnel, modifying
services, issuing product refunds, offering product extensions,
product replacements, or providing complimentary gifts to
appease customer emotions. Relevant departments are required to
actively and closely cooperate with the After-Sales Department to
ensure effective complaint handling and prevent the escalation of
complaint risks.

Handling situation feedback

The After-Sales Department maintains timely communication with
relevant service departments, providing updates on customer
status and the progress of complaint handling. The relevant service
departments engage in timely reflection on the identified issues and
adjust customer service approach and content accordingly.

File Management

The After-Sales Department creates and maintains customer
complaint files, which are properly safeguarded by dedicated
personnel.
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PROTECTION OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

As a company with technology as one of its core driving forces, we
regard intellectual property protection as a critical cornerstone for
sustainable development. Adhering to the principles of “compliance
management, innovation-driven, and risk prevention,” the Group
has developed the Intellectual Property Management Measures
and established a management system that covers the entire
lifecycle of intellectual property. This system effectively safeguards
technological innovation achievements, maintains the Company’s
core competitiveness, and contributes to the high-quality
development of the industry.

As of the end of the Reporting Period, we applied for 9 patents, 101
trademarks and 127 copyright registrations in the PRC, and applied
for 6 trademarks in Hong Kong.
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Full-Process Confidentiality and Risk Management

We implement full-process confidentiality management for trade
secrets, covering such areas as generation, storage, use and
protection of technical and business secrets. As the primary
responsible persons, all departmental heads are required to take
measures such as restriction of authority and physical segregation
to strengthen day-to-day management. The president’s office
standardizes the process of inspection and deployment of
confidential documents and supervises the implementation of
confidentiality within the Company. Employees are required to
strictly keep business secrets related to their duties confidential
during their employment, return the carriers containing business
secrets in a timely manner when they leave their jobs, and continue
to fulfill the confidentiality obligation within two years after
departure, so as to ensure that the business secrets are effectively
protected throughout the entire process.
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Compliance Operations and Infringement Prevention and
Control

All employees are required to assume the responsibility of
protecting intellectual property rights and must not commit
unauthorized use, disclosure, counterfeiting and other infringement
acts. If any third-party infringement or internal misuse is discovered,
we shall promptly report to the legal department and assist in
evidence collection. Before using any third-party intellectual
property right, we must confirm that we are legally authorized
and prevent unauthorized use or sublicensing beyond the scope,
to ensure the compliant operation and effective protection of
intellectual property rights.

BUILD AN IDEAL WORKPLACE

The Group has always strictly adhered to compliance with
employment laws and regulations, and is committed to building
a comprehensive and efficient human resources management
system. This system covers key areas such as talent acquisition
strategies, compensation and performance management, career
development planning, and welfare systems.

We have developed and implemented a series of rules and
regulations, including the Employee Onboarding Management
Regulations, Code of Business Conduct for Employees,
Regulations for the Management of Financial Certifications, Code
of Professional Integrity for Managers, and Employee Welfare
Management Regulations for Newly Weds and Employees with
New Born Babies. Through these initiatives, we provide systematic
and comprehensive support throughout employees’ entire career
lifecycle, offering thoughtful and warm care to create a positive
and uplifting work environment. Additionally, we act on our values
of “customer-centric services, teamwork, embracing changes,
integrity, innovation, focus and living mindfully while working
joyfully”.
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To maintain long-term stability and competitiveness, we have
refined our workforce structure and improved organizational
efficiency. As of December 31, 2024, the total number of employees
of the Group was 2,468, all of whom are working in mainland
China, down 11.06% year-on-year. The total number of employee
departures in the Group was 1,635, with a turnover rate of 40.19%,
representing a year-over-year increase of 7.89%. For details on
employee headcount and the number and proportion of employee
turnover as of December 31, 2024, categorized by different
dimensions, please refer to the appendix: Key ESG Performance
Indicators — Employee Metrics.

The Group consistently adheres to labor contracts and relevant
laws and regulations, and has carefully established a standardized
process for employee departures (covering voluntary resignation
and statutory dismissal) to comprehensively protect employees’
legal rights and interests. When employees leave, we uphold the
principle of open communication and arrange exit interviews to gain
a deeper understanding of their reasons for leaving and to gather
valuable feedback for the Group.

Talent Recruitment

The Group is dedicated to recruiting outstanding talents in the
market. Through diversified recruitment channels and a rigorous
interview process, we ensure a precise match between job positions
and candidates, thus enhancing talent recruitment efficiency. To
attract outstanding talents, we have developed multiple recruitment
channels, including graduate recruitment, external hiring, employee
referrals, cooperation between universities and the Company, and
internship programs.

During the recruitment, we focus on evaluating candidates’
professional knowledge, skills, overall qualities, and potential. To
ensure fairness and professionalism in interviews, interviewers
should undergo a rigorous selection and assessment process,
and are subject to regular evaluations. Once candidates pass the
interview, we verify their identity documents, such as ID cards,
with their consent and in compliance with personal privacy and
information security policies, to confirm the authenticity of their age
and other personal information, ensuring that all employees hired
by the Company meet the legal working age.
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Employee Rights

To prevent forced labor, the Group has established fair work
schedules that encourage employees to complete their tasks within
regular working hours, maintaining a standard workweek of 40
hours. We provide all employees with reasonable compensation
for overtime and ensure their entitlement to various leave benefits,
including paid annual leave, sick leave, marriage leave, maternity
leave, work-related injury leave, and bereavement leave.

During the Reporting Period, the Group confirmed that no instances
of child labor or forced labor were found after a thorough review.
Since the inception of the Group, we have maintained a zero-
tolerance policy towards such practices and have never employed
any child labor. Nevertheless, to prevent any potential issues, we
have developed and implemented a series of preventive measures
in advance to ensure that, in the unlikely event of child labor, we
can respond and address the situation quickly and appropriately:

o Cease the work of child labor immediately.

° If a child worker suffers from an occupational disease, we
should report the situation to the local labor bureau, conduct
a health checkup for him or her as soon as possible, and give
priority to treatment until rehabilitation.

° Contact the parents or guardians of the child labor, make
arrangements for sending him or her back to his or her original
residence as soon as possible, and hand back to the custody
of his or her parents or guardians.

The Group takes a zero-tolerance approach to any form of
discrimination. According to our internal policies, the employees
shall not be discriminated against or deprived of such opportunities
on the basis of gender, ethnic background, religion, color, sexual
orientation, age, family status, retirement, disability, pregnancy
or any other discrimination prohibited by applicable laws and
regulations.
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Employee Compensation and Incentives

The Group is committed to developing and implementing
competitive compensation and benefits programs to attract,
motivate, and retain talents, including the base salary and bonus
incentive plans.

Our performance evaluation system aims to assess employees’
performance fairly and objectively while promoting personal
development and team collaboration. Performance evaluations
are conducted twice a year for all employees. Setting and
tracking Objectives and Key Results (OKRs) are at the core of our
performance management system. At the start of each evaluation
cycle, the team should set the team-level OKRs and decompose
them into individual OKRs for each member to collectively work
towards. Throughout the evaluation cycle, the team regularly
reviews progress, maintains open communication, and adjusts
strategies as needed to achieve the goals. If an employee disagrees
with the evaluation results, he or she can submit a formal appeal
through the system platform or via email.

Through our employee equity incentive plan, we reward the
employees who have made outstanding contributions to the
Company’s core products or technologies. Moreover, we have
established a talent recognition and incentive system to honor
exceptional teams and individuals who have made significant
contributions to the Company.
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Staff Training and Development

The Group attaches great importance to the staff development and
training, and regards it as a key element in promoting their career
growth. Our training programs are meticulously tailored according
to our business needs, to ensure that our employees are equipped
with practical and specific knowledge and skills.

As of December 31, 2024, 78.96% of the Group’s employees
accepted training, representing a year-on-year increase of 12.12%.
The average duration of staff training was 24.9 hours, representing
a year-on-year decrease of 55.69%, which was primarily
attributable to our efforts of optimizing our organizational structure
during the year, which promoted a more precise training system,
and our focus on cultivating core competencies. Please refer to
the appendix: Key ESG Performance Indicators — Training Metrics
for employee training indicators and percentages by different
dimensions as of December 31, 2024.

The Group has designed and implemented a variety of distinctive
training programs to meet the practical work needs of employees
at different levels. We encourage voluntary participation among
employees and promptly optimize the training programs through
satisfaction surveys to ensure maximum training efficacy.

Our workplace skills training focuses on communication and
collaboration, office software, and Al applications, with an
experiential program designed for graduate recruits to help them
integrate into the Company. Our business skills training follows
a “structured training + mentorship + structured training” model,
catered to employees at various stages of their development. Our
professional skills training enhances skills through a dual-track
approach of industry summits and internal training, and promotes
certification programs such as securities industry qualifications.
Our leadership training integrates external insights with internal
development systems to build efficient management teams.
Additionally, we conduct anti-corruption and anti-fraud training to
strengthen a culture of integrity and compliance.
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AIGC Reshaping the Business Landscape and Driving
Efficiency Breakthroughs
(AIGC EZHERRE BRMERRE) FERIIE

"Pioneer Program" Training Initiative
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Staff Welfare and Care

We have developed a comprehensive welfare system that covers
medical insurance, retirement benefits, work-related injury
insurance, ensuring our employees enjoy adequate and equitable
welfare benefits. We also provide our employees with commercial
medical insurance and accident insurance to further enhance the
coverage. We organize regular health check-ups to care for the
physical and mental well-being of each employee. Additionally,
we offer supplementary benefits such as birthday gifts, wedding
packages, and holiday allowances, so that every employee feels
the warmth and care.

The Group attaches great importance to improving employees’
sense of well-being and actively organizes diverse activities to
enrich their spiritual and cultural life.
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Employee Communication Mechanism

The Group listens to employees’ voices and always regards it as a
crucial element in improving management effectiveness. We focus
on creating an open and transparent communication atmosphere,
while encouraging employees to embrace a sense of ownership
and contribute suggestions for the development of the Group.

Management Communication Meetings: Communicating
Company’s Strategies

The Group organizes large-scale internal communication events
regularly, including the annual anniversary celebration series and
strategic communication meetings, to help employees better
understand the Group’s strategies and management updates.
Among these events, we initiate the “Meet the Boss” session
ahead of each anniversary, where we gather employees’ questions
in advance, covering topics such as strategies and plans,
improvements for processes, team collaboration, and career
development challenges. During the anniversary celebration,
all management members are present to engage in open
communication with employees and address their questions on
site.
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Multiple Feedback Channels for Timely Response to Requests
We have established internal communication platforms such as
“Constructive Suggestions”, covering topics including products,
system processes, and workplace issues. We have assigned
dedicated personnel to track and handle these suggestions,
providing feedback within five working days. Feasible suggestions
are integrated into performance assessments, and outstanding
suggestions are explicitly rewarded. During the Reporting
Period, over 200 employees provided their opinions, and several
suggestions were implemented. Additionally, we periodically
distribute questionnaires for satisfaction surveys to employees on
matters such as corporate culture, cafeteria meals, and property
services, and proactively make improvements based on the
feedback received.

Internal Communication Platform, Expressing Ideas Freely

In 2024, we added the anonymous workplace “Cultural Treehole”
platform themed “See You, Hear You”, to create an open space
for communication. On this platform, employees can seek help
in work or life, provide feedback on the Company’s issues, give
praise to colleagues, or share moments of joy in the workplace,
encompassing a wide range of emotional and opinion expression
scenarios. In addition to the online access through WeCom, the
platform is equipped with offline signboards in the break rooms
and meeting rooms on each floor, making it easy for everyone
to employees to participate and helping to foster an open and
inclusive workplace environment.
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Occupational Health and Safety

The Group places a high priority on the health and safety of its
employees and is committed to minimizing various potential health
and safety risks, with the aim of creating a safe and healthy work
environment. To this end, we continuously conduct in-depth
and thorough risk assessments and inspections in areas and
workplaces with higher occupational hazard risks. To ensure the
safety of employees’ work environments and effectively prevent
potential occupational hazards, the Group continuously strengthens
safety management procedures, improves preventive measures,
and intensifies efforts in risk control. During the Reporting Period,
the Group actively implemented the following series of effective
control measures:

° Strengthen employees’ safety awareness in the office by
clearly outlining prohibited behaviors and safety precautions
related to environmental safety, fire safety, traffic safety, and
safety during severe weather, guiding employees to take
responsibility for their own safety.

° Arrange the administrative management team to regularly
conduct thorough inspections of high-risk areas such as
office buildings, fire safety equipment, and escape routes,
ensuring the timely identification and resolution of potential
safety hazards.

° Maintain and improve daily hygiene standards in the
workplace by implementing regular disinfection, ventilation,
and waste disposal practices to create a clean and hygienic
work environment.

° Develop and refine emergency response plans for severe
weather, emergencies, and other unforeseen situations,
effectively mitigating potential threats to employee safety
through proactive planning and preparation.

° Deploy AED emergency equipment throughout the workplace
and regularly organize first aid training to enhance emergency
rescue capabilities, ensuring employees’ life safety and
improving their ability to perform self-rescue and mutual
assistance.

Our management team follows the "Plan-Do-Check-Act" principle

to supervise the continuous implementation of the above measures
and ensure their effectiveness.
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To further enhance employee health protection, we have equipped
a gym and a swimming complex with all-inclusive advanced
facilities, and regularly organize a variety of fitness classes and
other activities for our employees. In addition, during the Reporting
Period, we organized 12 free staff health and medical consultations,
benefiting nearly 1,000 employees and helping them to work and
live in a healthier state.

During the past three years including the Reporting Period, the
Group reported zero cases of work-related fatalities. The total
number of working days lost due to work-related injuries during
the Reporting Period was 259 days, all of which were due to traffic
accidents happened to employees during commuting, instead of
potential safety hazards in the office environment.
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BUSINESS ETHICS

Anti-corruption

To systematically prevent corruption risks, the Group has
established and strictly enforces the “Guidelines on Integrity and
Professional Conduct Management”. This policy explicitly prohibits
any form of improper benefits exchange, bribery, and unfair trade
practices, including violations such as promising unauthorized
profits, disclosing customer information, selling financial products
privately, and accepting or requesting gifts from business partners.
The scope of this policy covers all employees, as well as interns,
temporary workers, and other non-formal positions. Additionally, we
integrate anti-corruption clauses into cooperation agreements with
suppliers and clients, requiring partners to strictly adhere to integrity
commitments, ensuring compliance in business relationships from
the outset.

We view integrity education as the cornerstone of our anti-
corruption efforts. During the Reporting Period, we organized 30
training sessions on clean operations and ICAC integrity training
seminars, and provided our employees training programs on the
strict compliance with laws and regulations in investment advisory
and related businesses, the requirements of China Securities
Regulatory Commission and the self-discipline rules in the industry.
Our employees were required to comply with the social morality,
business ethics, occupational ethics and code of conduct, to be
loyal, diligent, honest and trustworthy, and to refrain from directly
or indirectly transferring or soliciting improper benefits from others.

We have internal reporting channels for our employees to report any
fraudulent activities and corruption in our business operations. The
reporting channels and procedures for employees are set out in our
Management Measures for Anti-fraud and Compliance Reporting.
We also encourage employees to report such behaviors through
an incentive mechanism. We investigate the reported incidents
and take legal and other measures as appropriate. The Group is
committed to protecting the security of whistleblowers’ identity and
information and keeps strict confidentiality of personal privacy or
important issues.

In case of fraud, the Group will actively assess and investigate if
there is any loopholes in its internal control and improve its internal
control measures. The Group will seriously deal with the personnel
who are found to have committed fraudulent acts in accordance
with the relevant rules and regulations. If the relevant acts violate
laws and regulations, the Group will submit the case to the judicial
authorities for legal actions and notify the results to the internal and
external third parties as necessary.

During the reporting period, the Group did not identify any cases of
corruption, extortion, fraud or money laundering.

@ JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024

[EE 3L

R&S5

RESMBEET AR - ANEEFIEILEE
Bie(RAREERIE) - ZHERARE
IHEAEXOFIZEE - BRETERSZT
5 BEERAHEEE  REFEFEE A
EcHER  EXIRNBEBFERS
ERSEREZBEIREELE  BEIZ
FIEXEM - B - RPIEREMUEEREF
MNEFEHETRARBITHRSR - EREHES
BT REEH  WREREBEARN
BN -

BPURZHEARBESTHESD  HEB
W RMHZHET 305 RRRERE I KRB
DEHEEIBE - DESFIFRIRER
BT KA ER T A A BRB BT AU ERE
B PERSEEEEZESENREMITE
BERA  EREEBTHEQLE  BEE
B BXERNTARE  TEHY  HE
SE o TEESEREOMABXTEER
BHERMTEERE ©

BMREABEFREVHESHREME
BELINENREEBRESTR - XA
(REERSFBEERERIE) PRES
VRS BRTEEAFIERE - BBREHES
SEESEHERITRETER -HMSAE
HBEHARIEZERSEETH - A%
BAHEREEBBANENEERRE - HF
EHEARLREZBERBRE

WARBEEERN  ARESEBIME
BERTIZFIFR - SCERIPIEHIERR - &
EEFEZRTANALR  KEKRIENEEE
REFEBRREE  WAERITAEILDARE
B KEEBARAKBOREE - 5§
BROAADBRLBNIDE=TER -

BEHRRN  AEERBEEMNES PR
MEFRIARERA o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Supply Chain Management

The Group’s core suppliers are categorized into marketing service
and technology infrastructure, covering areas such as media
agencies, content creation, and technology companies. For
products and services of different categories and characteristics,
we have established detailed procurement guidelines and
standards. When screening suppliers, we conduct comprehensive
evaluations of the supplier’s corporate background, market
reputation, environmental and social responsibility risks, and
industry experience. Based on this, we give priority to product or
service quality and pricing, to ensure that procurement precisely
aligns with our business needs.
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All first-time suppliers must undergo our rigorous internal supplier
qualification review process before entering into a supply
agreement. Given the diverse range of industries covered by our
suppliers, we adhere to the specific regulations and practices of
each industry and sign tailored framework cooperation agreements
with each supplier. The Group is committed to ensuring that all
procurement activities follow the principle of optimized benefits and
strives to maintain and improve the supplier management system.

The Group places great emphasis on maintaining strong
relationships with suppliers and implementing strict management
of risks along the supply chain. The goal is to establish
long-term, stable, robust, and trustworthy partnerships with
compliant suppliers. To achieve this, the group has developed a
comprehensive management system for the supply chain, including
“Measures on Supplier Management,” “Measures on Procurement
Sample Management,” and “Measures on External Partner Master
Data Management,” to meticulously manage the procurement
process, ensure compliance, and effectively protect the legal rights
and interests of both the group and its suppliers. In the “Measures
on Supplier Management,” we clearly outline the principles for
managing all suppliers:

° All suppliers must be included in the procurement system’s
supplier database for unified management.

° For all procurement matters, purchasing agents should
prioritize qualified suppliers from the supplier database as
potential candidates.

° Suppliers not included in the database may only participate
in procurement projects with a value below RMB20,000 and
must be added to the database once awarded the contract.

° The process for supplier admission, evaluation, and
classification is completed within the procurement system,
with resulting evaluation documents, meeting minutes, and
other related files uploaded to the system for record-keeping.
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Additionally, the Group’s procurement function has established
a six-dimensional integrity control mechanism to ensure the
compliance of procurement activities:

Case Sharing and Cultural Advocacy

Regular case sharing, integrity training,
and commitment letters ensure ethical
procurement.

RPIRLEE

EHMDERD  MRRZERE 28
BRI RZAEE ©

Review Control

Procurement results are approved by
department heads and supervisors,
who check supplier qualifications and
bid prices.

BREE

RBERCRBHRAEARS ERE
FHt REHEREE  ERSE
Mo

Separation of Duties
For purchases over RMB 500,000,

supplier sourcing and bidding/inquiry

are handled separately by adminis-
trators and purchasers.
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ix-dimensional
Integrity Control
Mechanism
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Record-keeping Control

All online interactions between purch-
asers and suppliers are recorded,
audited monthly.
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BIRAEERBEY T REENRZEE
i 2ERERBEBNSHRMLE

Supplier-side Control

Specialized staff promote sunshine
procurement to new suppliers and
conduct return visits for suppliers of
projects worth over RMB 100,000.
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System Control

All projects bid and inquire via the
procurement system to curb bid -
rigging risks.
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The Group conducts project-based and periodic evaluations of all AEEHRAEHERHERERSZREEAR
suppliers, using a 10-point system. Suppliers are assessed based MEZ > KRR 102 HIELE  #AA -
on four key dimensions: cost, quality, service, and delivery. Each BE - R%  RTNEEEHEHERETES
dimension is assigned a different weight, and the suppliers are then ¥ BEEREERETRINESR  GREMm

graded based on the weighted total score from all dimensions: BHEENMEAS HHERETIH
Supplier Rating Evaluation Score  Management Standards
HREREETR EESH ETHRE

Excellent Supplier 9 and above Included in the longlist of potential suppliers while meeting the project

requirements;

BEMERD 97 Lk o REEAZERNARTHIASREERHEHREEY
o Eligible for the largest share of order allocation.;
o  EBGRAITENHEIRER
o Given preferential consideration for selection in the project contract renewal
phase.
o  HHEBBNBET FEELHEEE-

Good Supplier 8-8.9 o Given preferential consideration in the supplier selection phase of the sourcing
process;

RFitER 8-8.9% o  ESRBETEEELWEREER

o Given preferential treatment in the allocation of orders during the distribution
phase.
o HERIESERBRET  ZAEBLHROE EMNER -

Average Supplier 6-7.9 o Entitled to receive invitations for procurement competitive bidding projects
upon fulfillment of documentation criteria;

EEMED 6-7.9% o  ERREERTERRBFASMKBHLEER

o Entitled to participate in preliminary consultations and project communications
for relevant procurement initiatives, and to provide suggestions and feedback.
o  FREZEMBESKBEENAPZANEEERE  URLEZENER -

Frozen Supplier Below 6 ° Suppliers with an initial assessment score of less than 6 points will have their
qualification to engage in request-for-quote and bidding activities temporarily
revoked;

REEMIER 60 UT o NMRAHEBE-RZBRIBEN6T  BRERTILSMABRERSER ;

o The procurement officer will issue a rectification notice to the supplier, follow
up on the implementation of corrective actions, and request the submission of
a rectification report;

o HEBEHTMERREELEAN  WREMENETIEEERRIERERRE

o The procurement officer, along with the requestor and the head of the
procurement department, will review the rectification report. If approved, the
supplier’s evaluation score will be restored to 6 points; if not approved, further
rectification will be required;

o HKBERERIREBHEEAHBIREETER  EHBEREZMERNZ
RERMEZ6D ; MEMTBBAEESEY

o If a supplier scores below 6 points twice consecutively in the evaluation, the
supplier will be placed on the blacklist (except for irreplaceable suppliers).
o MENEZRTUNREZHBEMIZBER6DNER  ZMHEBENAREE

frem (BRA A B A HRER) o
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Supplier Rating Evaluation Score
HrEm TR ERSY

Blacklist Supplier -

REEMER -

RIE - HEREARE

Management Standards

EEEE

The supplier forges business licenses, qualification certificates, or other
documents, or their certificates have expired and cannot be renewed within the
specified time;

HEDREIHRR EEREE XU IRBBPELRTHBIRE

The supplier has caused the Company to suffer losses due to one or more
contract breaches in the current year;
AAFEEARBE1RULERENERDREBXK

The supplier violates the terms of the “sunshine procurement agreement” and
engages in improper cooperation;

ER(BARBGR) R FEREESHETR

The supplier has an undisclosed relationship with employees of the Company
involved in the project, who have a vested interest;
HEMEFEEENSERENARETRE TERAMER AR LB |

The associated companies of a blacklisted supplier will also be classified as
blacklisted.

BEEHENHERCE IR ERBEE -

As of December 31, 2024, there are a total of 342 suppliers who BZE2024F 128310 » BAREBEZHTHE
have signed supply agreements and cooperated with the Group, & BESFENHEREE342R - BEt
representing a year-on-year increase of 32.05%. The primary #1032.05% @ TEFRREBXEFER » He
reason for this growth lies in the expansion of the Group’s business. 02REEFEREN LIET » 42REEFR
Among these suppliers, 202 are from Shanghai, 42 from Beijing, BRdEEm  19XEHERRERNEITH > 7
19 from Shenzhen, seven from Hong Kong, and the remaining REEFERENRNTEESE  EftttER S H
suppliers are located in other provinces and municipalities across EFRAREEMEOGREED °

mainland China.

2024FH AFERERERAS QLEE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B HEREARE

Practicing Public Welfare and Giving Back to Society

Fulfilling social responsibilities remains our original aspiration
and unwavering commitment. Once the journey of public welfare
begins, there is no end - just as sustainable business growth
requires continuous dedication. Driven by mission and guided by
responsibility, we embed care for society into every action we take,
striving to become a responsible and accountable enterprise.

B EERZT RS
e = N A ok
ZGreen20WEBE

8 8 :
A :?‘ & <1

ﬁ \ﬁﬂﬁﬁq‘ia
BOTHEEAREMTENDLERANE
T RmZBRBRE RBKE IEZIEIJL
RBRRBEFERY - RPUEREES -
EBAT  BEHENRIERAS — /ﬂﬁ@
RERBERENEEDLRE -

SRR H7 SHTL, THARRAFHRE

Public Welfare for the Elderly in Qingcongquan Poetry & Painting Offllne Events at” September 9

the Spirit of Lei Feng Exhibition Event on World Autism  Charity Day”
FEWMELS Awareness Day 9N HARTIEE

RREMERFEREE

Agriculture Assistance, Medical Support, and Childbirth Aid Campaign in Yunnan
TR - BE - BE

In the future, the Group will explore diversified public welfare
models, continue to contribute to social welfare, actively fulfill its
social responsibility, and spread warmth through its corporate
actions.
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MANAGING ENVIRONMENTAL FOOTPRINT

Our business and operations do not cause significant environmental
harm. Given the current environmental situation, widespread
social concerns, and the Group’s strong sense of responsibility,
we actively embrace social responsibility by deeply practicing
environmental protection concepts in our daily operations
and contributing to sustainable social development. While
delivering high-quality services, the Group also contributes to the
development of a green, paperless society. Our corporate values
are closely aligned with environmental protection principles, and
we are committed to promoting advanced green management
concepts and widely promoting the idea of sustainability
development. During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly
complied with all applicable environmental laws and regulations
and continuously explored and implemented effective paths to
reduce carbon emissions. We actively encourage employees to
participate in building a green work environment and follow the
core principles of “reduce, reuse, recycle,” taking responsibility for
the environmental impact of our employees.

Energy Saving Targets and Achievements

The carbon emission density this year is

KEEBRFERBER

1 43 tons per person
™ T/ A

During the reporting period, the generation density of harmless waste is

FREPNRERRNELBRESD

[ i
0.1952 &

The electricity consumption density this year is

AEEEBHEEESR

kilowatt-hours
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5y |
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As of December 31, 2024, as the Group’s business operations
do not involve production or manufacturing, the only source
of emissions during the Reporting Period came from exhaust
emissions generated by the operation of company-owned vehicles.
During the Reporting Period, the emissions of NOx, SOx, and PM
showed a decrease compared to the previous year. However, the
Group remains committed to minimizing exhaust emissions and
optimizing reduction measures over the next five years, including
the predominant use of plug-in hybrid vehicles.

The Group considers that the use of vehicles in our business
operations is minimal and that the associated air emissions and
direct GHG emissions from the Company’s vehicles are relatively
immaterial to its business and stakeholders when compared to
other ESG issues. Therefore, The Group does not plan to set a
numerical emissions target for its air emissions. Should there be
any subsequent changes in its business model that would result
in a significant increase in air emissions from the Company’s
owned vehicles, the Group will further assess the need of setting a
numerical target. That being said, the Group has set a directional
target to minimize its air emissions and optimize its emission
reduction measures in the next five years.

The majority of the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions are indirect
Scope 2 emissions from energy, primarily stemming from the
consumption of purchased electricity, totaling approximately
3,514.80 tons of CO, equivalent. The carbon emission intensity
stood at 1.43 tons per person this year, representing a 6.94%
decrease compared to the previous year. We have achieved the
target set in 2023, which aimed for a 5% reduction in annual
carbon emission intensity over the next five years, with 2022 as the
baseline year.

@ JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024
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The non-hazardous waste generated in daily operations mainly
comes from domestic waste produced by employees’ everyday
office activities, such as food packaging, beverage cans, and
office supplies. During the Reporting Period, the non-hazardous
waste generation intensity was 0.1952 tons per person, a 7.88%
decrease year-on-year. We have achieved the target set in 2023,
which was to maintain non-hazardous waste generation intensity
at approximately 0.2 tons per person over the next five years, with
2022 as the baseline year.

We provide equity investment tools, securities investment advisory,
investor education and other services for individual investors,
and therefore did not generate any hazardous waste during the
Reporting Period and does not plan to set a target for hazardous
waste accordingly. Should there be any subsequent changes in
its business model that would involve the discharge of hazardous
waste, the Group will further assess the need of setting a target.

In addition, given such business model, we do not use packaging
materials in the course of our principal business.

As our operations are primarily based in the West Honggiao
Business District of Shanghai, China, the Group currently faces
no issues related to water extraction or regional water source
pressure. This year, the water consumption intensity was 25.43
tons per person, up 2.58% year-on-year. This rise was primarily
due to business growth, which led to an increase in water demand
this year. The electricity consumption intensity reached 2,396.75
kWh per person, down 6.95% year-on-year. In terms of water
consumption intensity, we remain on track to meet our 2023 target
of reducing annual water and electricity consumption by 5% over
the next five years, with 2022 as the baseline year. Notably, we
have already met our target for electricity consumption intensity.

The Group will continue to monitor energy and resource
consumption and implement stringent measures to align with
its energy-saving targets. For detailed environmental indicators
and performance as of December 31, 2024, please refer to the
appendix: Key ESG Performance Indicators — Environmental
Metrics.

Green Office

Through such environmental actions and measures as digital office
practices, green commuting, and reducing energy consumption,
the Group advances the construction of digital office platforms,
enhances energy efficiency and reduces unnecessary energy
waste.
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Workplace

The office building leased by the Group in Shanghai is a landmark
international 5A-grade smart building in the West Hongqgiao
Business District. With a core design philosophy of “smart, eco-
friendly, and forward-thinking,” the building has established a green
ecological system through two prestigious certifications: the Three-
Star rating, the highest level of green building certification in China,
and the LEED Gold certification by the U.S. Green Building Council.
As a result, it stands as a model for low-carbon buildings that blend
international standards with local practices.

The building was principally designed by Gensler, one of the
most influential architectural design firms in the world. Upholding
a design philosophy that organically integrates architecture with
nature, it uses eco-friendly curtain walls which brilliantly combines
the insulating glass curtain walls with scientific mechanical and
electrical systems. Micro-ventilation window sashes are used
to elevate the garden to a different level, thereby to realize a
harmony between architecture and nature and create a healthy and
comfortable working environment for employees. In addition, the
building is equipped with new energy-powered outdoor furniture,
delivering good performance in energy saving and environmental
protection.

LGN UF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2024
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Digital Office

We are committing to green environmental protection principles
and actively promote the practices of smart and paperless office
environments. By implementing technologies such as wireless
screen sharing, online smart meeting rooms, and remote working
via VPN, we have successfully applied these solutions in various
scenarios, including supplier meetings and remote interviews,
enhancing work efficiency while reducing our environmental impact.

In document management, we leverage online collaboration tools to
reduce the need for physical space, encourage electronic archiving,
and enhance document transfer efficiency through cloud services,
thereby reducing energy consumption and carbon emissions.
Additionally, the Group promotes the use of electronic signatures
and seals, streamlining the document signing process and reducing
paper and mailing usage.

Energy-saving Measures
The Group has implemented the following energy-saving measures
in 2024:

° Adopting energy-saving technologies and equipment
B Use energy-efficient devices such as LED lighting and

high-efficiency motors to reduce energy consumption;

| Set AC temperature based on national recommended
standards and actual weather conditions;

[ ] Increase the use of plug-in hybrid vehicles.
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Promoting green office practices
[ | Encourage paperless operations in offices to reduce
paper usage;

| Promote electronic file transmission and storage to
reduce the need for printing and copying;

[ | Post conspicuous signs at water points such as
washrooms to remind employees to turn off taps in time
and save water;

| Advocating use of recyclables and calling on reducing
the use of disposable tableware and other supplies;

u Optimize office supply usage, by practices such as
double-sided printing and reusing scrap paper.

Optimizing Energy Management
| Establish an energy management policy to regularly
monitor and evaluate energy consumption;

u Implement meticulous energy management practices,
such as installing smart meters and optimizing electricity
loads;

[ ] Encourage employees to engage in energy-saving
actions, such as turning off lights and unnecessary
power sources.

u Implement scheduled power shutdowns for electrical

equipment in public areas to prevent unnecessary
energy consumption during non-working hours.
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CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate Risks and Responses

We act on the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
(TCFD) recommendations in managing climate change risks. This
entails managing and disclosing information from governance,
strategy, risk management, and metrics & targets perspectives,
thereby mitigating the adverse effects of climate change on the
Company.

Governance: We have established a comprehensive ESG
management structure encompassing the Board, the ESG
Committee and the ESG Task Force, to oversee ESG issues,
including climate change. For details, please refer to the section
headed “ESG Governance” of this Report.

Strategy: We identify and assess climate-related risks encountered
in our operations, outlining potential risks, opportunities, and
impacts. Based on these assessment results, we formulate
corresponding risk and opportunity response plans.

Risk ldentification and Assessment

We have conducted an in-depth analysis of the short-term and
long-term risks that may arise from environmental, social, and
climate factors, aiming to comprehensively and accurately assess
their potential impact on our business. Since our business model
does not involve the operation of any physical production facilities,
we currently bear no significant responsibilities related to health,
workplace safety, or environmental protection. Furthermore,
we do not foresee any future liabilities in these areas that could
have a substantial negative impact on our business and financial
performance.

RIE - HEREARE
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Moreover, it is noteworthy that our main business activities
do not require any approvals or permits mandated by China’s
environmental laws and regulations. This provides us with a certain
degree of convenience and flexibility in our business operations.
However, although the environmental, social, and climate-related
risks we currently face are relatively low, we will remain highly
vigilant and continuously monitor developments in these areas to
ensure the sustained and steady growth of our business.

Risk type
REEER

Physical risk
EREE

Acute risks

ST R

Risks related to the
physical effects of
climate change, can
result from events
such as floods and
typhoons.
HRRE L ERTER
BErE TR R
REEEEMHEH -

172

The impact on the Group

HAKEMHE

Personnel vacancy risk:

ABRTEM

Our main business is located in
Shanghai, which is a southeast
coastal area, where extreme weather
such as typhoons and storms are
more likely to occur. Extreme weather
not only affects the commuting of
our employees and thus affects our
normal operations, but may also
cause casualties in metropolitan
areas.

BMNEEXERVR LS ARENE
HE - BSERERERG KRB EPEER
K BHRRTEEFERMEEED
EmMEERMNETEE  EREmi
BIRAERABEBT °
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Response methods

FEE B

The Group maintains constant
vigilance regarding weather alerts
issued by meteorological authorities,
mandating immediate staff evacuation
when natural disasters or extreme
weather events occur.

AEEFERIRSFBEMNEBRRR
BE  REARKETRE BrRRBLE
RERETREBE -

For all kinds of extreme weather
scenarios, the Group has
established an early warning and
hierarchical response mechanism
for emergencies, weather disasters
or safety accidents, and established
a cross-departmental emergency
response coordination mechanism
by formulating emergency operation
plans and cultivating the awareness
of timely replacement of employees
in key positions, to ensure that the
Group’s business continuity will
not be affected by the absence of
employees.

HERERIH AR S RFIEEIRER
R EEERRUEERFFHLER
RIZHRBBM  RRALEHLR2EN
MTRE DR BTS2 EEPIRE
SO RS - REARERBEER
MIZEEREMIETE -
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Risk type The impact on the Group Response methods
= PREE R HEAREHE EHBX
Risk of network infrastructure failure: e The Group arranges special personnel

AR ER e R E

Extreme weather is caused by climate
change in the place of business
operation, which results in server
crash or system failure;
EBEEMBERRBCEHNRIFTR
R MERBRAEHRLHE -

The national backbone network is
interrupted or malfunctioned due to
extreme weather, which prevents
users and customers from accessing
the Group’s online and mobile
platforms.

B R B 48 4% R MR KSR BT
BEAFREFELSBAREBNER
RBEFE -

The network of third-party partners
is interrupted or insufficient due to
extreme weather, which leads to the
interruption of the services we provide
to users and customers.
FE=FEERFNRRERBIR KR E
XTE  BFEMOAFREFRMHEN
PR Ef o

to pay close attention to the daily
weather forecast of the location of
the network equipment, and timely
inform the management and network
equipment management department
of extreme weather conditions in
advance, so that corresponding
effective measures can be taken in a
timely manner.
KFEBLHEPIA SRR RERE
FRfEith HE RRER - REFEBIHRE
BEREAIEANEREERBEREBEERE
P9 > DAE R RS EREVAEFE R UE HE ©

Pay attention to extreme weather
conditions in various regions in a
timely manner, and promptly inform
users that they may not be able to
access the Group’s online platform
due to network problems.
REEESHERBRARER  RESE
HMAF AR AR ERE LR ER
EHRFR -

Establish an unimpeded mechanism
of supplier information, timely learn
of the situation that suppliers cannot
provide services normally, formulate
emergency plans, and confirm the
replacement of service providers.
EVHERERIGERG  REEAM
EREEIERRERBE BN - HIERE
SR BRERREE -
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Risk type
[ BREE R

Chronic risks

R

Risks related to the
physical effects of
climate change, such
as continued high
temperatures and
rising sea level.

BSRIRBCERTER
BERER - NESR

REFELH o

Transition Risks

48 5 B

Policy and regulation
risks

BURERE R A

Technological risk

o b

The impact on the Group

HAREERE

The impact of chronic changes such
as melting glacier and rising sea level
caused by global warming on future
working environment and equipment
operation.

2RBEEHUKIRIE
ML AR RITFRIE
R

E

SR ELEAEE
RBBITFEE

Our operating costs may increase due
to the government’s implementation
of stricter climate-related policies and
regulations, including stricter resource
use and sustainable development
practices such as carbon emissions.
BB EMBRENREEERRRE
R BREBRNEREAURRIERS
AEBERRER  ERMANEERLSTEHR
20 o

Changes in Internet technology may
result in the complete replacement of
the Group’s products by new technology
products.

BB MEAERREERBHRIME
T2 HUL ©
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Response methods

FEE B

The Group continues to monitor global
warming, supervise property inspections
and equipment updates in office spaces,
and improve the working environment for
employees.

EESERE 2 RRERR - BRBLS
FUIERE  EIRE  REBT TR

15 o

The Group continues to pay attention
to the regulatory trend to ensure that
the emissions of the Group comply
with the latest legal requirements. We
will continue to develop and implement
measures in accordance with the latest
climate-related policies and regulations,
thereby promoting the fulfilment of
our commitments on environmental
protection.

SEETEEBE  BREAEBNIEMRS
BRIEEER - RAKSEZRBEREHNN
RIFHBEBRERTHFERER —F
DEHE - (RERMEITHRIBREMNEAGE o

The Group continues to encourage
research and development and
innovation, focus on new market trend
and the emergence of new product
technologies and attract a wide range of
talents.

FESBABENRF - BIHEHEM
BOXERMBIMAHE - BZRAAL -



Risk type
= PREE R

Market risk
TS EE

Reputational risk

FEEAR
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The impact on the Group

HAREHRE

The changes in market preferences
may lead to a decrease in the market
competitiveness of the Group’s products.
TS RIFNEILEREEERMISHRE D
PEAK -

Customers or communities have a poor
impression and evaluation of enterprises
that do not focus on low-carbon and
environmental protection, and therefore
do not invest or purchase their products,
which affects profitability and market
share.

BEERMBFAHR T IERMRARNELES
EREMNONREFE  AETRENBE
TENER > EMEERARHIZLHEE -

RIE - HEREARE

Response methods

FEE A

Real time tracking of market conditions,
exploring green procurement paths,
selecting third-party partners with strong
commitment and potential in energy
conservation and carbon emission
reduction. Using green technology to
produce green products, increasing the
proportion of green products year by
year, and providing more low-carbon
services and products.
BRERTISRE  RELERBER
4204 3 Bk 2R 71 B RE AR A i HE RS TH B2
REEERBNNE=ZLEERME - R
RERMEERCER  BFENZEE
mitf) - REHENMEBRNBRBRER °

Continuously taking measures to
reduce carbon emissions, disclosing
and promoting the Company’s ESG
contribution to society, and calling for
carbon reduction actions.
FEREBUE R DB 0 ML EiRER
EERARNESGHEMNER & MWFRRRIT
& o
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Opportunity Identification and Assessment:

Opportunity
Category
#iaEnl

Operational Efficiency
Enhancement
BEMEEL

Energy Structure
Transformation

RERAEREEA

Specific Opportunities
Rigs

Implement higher-efficiency operational
practices

ERAESHENELERR

Recycle and reuse resources

EIRE BT A

Transition to energy-efficient buildings
BERESREMNEEY

Reduce water consumption

B KR

Substitute traditional energy sources
BERENR

Apply clean and renewable energy
ERREIRR AT BEREIRIE R

W4} JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024

HeiE R B! BART AL

Key Impacts
EEHE

— Reduce operating costs through
direct efficiency improvements

- BREELRAS (BBMEREAEESN
Fx)

— Reduce compliance costs related to
carbon emission regulations

— BABPERBER SR

- Enhance the Company’s
environmental reputation

- RALXRRBE



Opportunity
Category
HiasEn

Product and Market
Innovation
EmEmEAIE

Cost and Asset
Optimization

BAEEERL

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Specific Opportunities
RSB

Develop digital services for low-carbon
management and lean production
FRERERE - BREERBREFLRE
Address customer needs for climate
adaptation solutions

wmEE P RIREREER

Reduce operating costs through
efficiency improvements and low-cost
emission reduction measures

PRAKIEE R A (RRRA MBS
i)

Further diversify financial assets

ResmEES T

Metrics and Targets: Since 2022, we have established a five-
year emissions reduction target, implemented corresponding
reduction initiatives, and closely tracked our progress. During the
Reporting Period, we successfully achieved our targets in carbon
emissions intensity, zero waste generation intensity, and electricity

consumption intensity.

RIE - HEREARE

Key Impacts
FEXE

— Create new revenue streams by
catering to emerging market demands

- BRHAFRARE GRETHEER)

— Improve product competitiveness
by aligning with customer green
preferences

- BAEGRBFEN (REFFEERET)

— Increase profit margins directly

- HERAFBEZEE

— Diversify investment portfolio risks in
line with green investment trends

- PHREACRERE (FEREREB

)

EEREERE 1 2022F 8 HARETHEFR
BB R - SUERBEENE - FURMEERE
BN - MEMA - RPERFHEE - &
BRERYELEZE BSEHEETREAEYCE
JpASE: B
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APPENDIX 1: KEY ESG PERFORMANCE

fiigk1: T EESGENUBIE —IRIE

INDICATORS - ENVIRONMENTAL METRICS B8R
2024 2023
20244 20234
Emission Emission Emission Emission
amount density amount density
(gram) (gram/person) (gram) (gram/person)
Types of exhaust gases  Emission source HRE HREE B E B EE
BERES HEWR (%) CYON (%) (%/A)
NO, Company vehicles
NGIEEL ] 1,828.14 0.7407 2,147.52 0.7739
SO, 128.69 0.0521 189.96 0.0685
PM 111.73 0.0453 120.80 0.0435
Notes: BfRE -
(1) Due to changes in the calculation method for emissions, the 2023 (1) HBREEREFEOREL  RRAFENE

emissions are reported according to the calculation criteria for this year.

) Emission density = Emissions during the Reporting Period/Total number 2

of employees at the end of the Reporting Period.

2024
20244

Greenhouse gas
emission amount

(tons)
Greenhouse gas emission sources mEREHRE
B RIS HERUR (mg)
Scope 1: vehicles of the Company 3.72
HBE— : ATRE
Scope 2: purchased electricity 3,514.80
HE= : SMEED
Total 3,518.52
at

Note: Due to changes in the emission calculation scope, the emission data for
2023 is reported based on the current year’s calculation methodology.

W4 JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024

R ET 2023 FHE R E B

FREE=-REHNERENE BERE
HRESBH
2023
2023%F

Emission Greenhouse gas Emission
density  emission amount density
(tons/person) (tons) (tons/person)
HHEE BEREHNRE PHEE
(WE,” ) (M) U VON
0.0015 4.44 0.0040
1.4241 4,247.19 1.5305
1.4257 4,251.62 1.5321

MiE : R ER BT E REE L - RRAFEHE
RSt Et 2023 FHE R E B



Waste type
EEZEMITELR

Non-hazardous waste

BERRM

Note: Due to changes in the calculation method for the generation amount,
the 2023 generation amount is reported according to the current year’s
calculation criteria.

Types of energy and resources

AER R ERER

Water resources
KER
Unleaded petrol
BT

Electricity consumption

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IR HEREGRE

2024

20244
Waste
Waste generation
production intensity
(tons) (tons/person)
BEYELE BEVELEERE
(mg) (g, N)
481.80 0.1952

2024

20244
Consumption
Consumption intensity
HEE HEBE
62,756 tons  25.43 tons/person
62,756 25.43H A\
3,290 liters 1.33 liters/person
3,200 A% 1.338% /A
5,915,180 KWh 2,396.75 KWh/person
5,915,180 2,396.75
F B FRE A

2023

2023%F
Waste
Waste generation
production intensity
(tons) (tons/person)
BEYELE BEYELETE
(M@ ) (W8, A)
588.00 0.2119

Mz - mREESFEREE L - BRAFEHE
AfEAat 2023 FEEE BN

2023

20235
Consumption
Consumption intensity
HFER HEZRE
68,779 tons 24.79 tons/person
68,7790 24.79W,/ A
3,799 liters 1.37 liters/person
3,799 F 1.3727%,/ A
7,147,740 KWh 2,575.76 KWh/person
7,147,740 2,575.76
TRE TRE/A

202453 NAERIEERERAS W
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APPENDIX 2: KEY ESG PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS - EMPLOYEE METRICS

Classification Group

SEER

Gender

E33])

Age
Fik

Classification Group

SEER

Rank

Employment type

ERER

Geographical region

i

Female
T
Male
Bt

<30
<30%%
30-40
30-40%%
41-50
41-508%
>50
>50%5%

Senior management
BREBAE
Middle management
HREEAE
General staff

—RES

Full-time
20
Part-time

R

Mainland China
lEIPN

FEESGENIER 8T

Piig%2:
EF
2024

20244
Proportion of
Number of the Group to
employees which it belongs
1EFTBARRZ
EEAE 741
1,043 42.26%
1,425 57.74%
868 35.17%
1,487 60.25%
100 4.05%
13 0.53%

2024

20244
Proportion of
Number of the Group to
employees which it belongs
1EFTB AR Z
EEAY Le il
38 1.54%
232 9.40%
2,198 89.06%
2,466 99.92%
2 0.08%
2,468 100%

m JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024

2023

20235
Proportion of
Number of the Group to
employees  which it belongs
TR
EEAH nl]
1,176 42.38%
1,599 57.62%
1,115 40.18%
1,540 55.50%
106 3.82%
14 0.50%

2023

20235
Proportion of
Number of the Group to
employees  which it belongs
hETEAE R
BEEAH Ee 45
33 1.19%
251 9.04%
2,491 89.77%
2,736 98.59%
39 1.41%
2,775 100%



Classification Group

SEAER

Gender

(E3])

Age
Fik

Geographical region

b1

Note: Due to changes in the calculation method for employee turnover rate,
the employee turnover rate for 2023 is reported based on the calculation

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

2024
20244
Number of Proportion of
employee the Group to
turnover which it belongs
1EFTB AR Z
mREEAB 741
Female
i 641 38.15%
Male
B 994 41.62%
<30
<305k 855 44.30%
30-40
30-40%% 727 36.39%
41-50
41-50% 38 30.65%
>50
>505% 15 93.75%
Mainland China
HEIKRE 1,635 40.19%

method used this year.

RIE - HEREARE

2023

2023F
Number of Proportion of
employee the Group to
turnover  which it belongs
1E B4R
MAEE AR ndl]
478 29.84%
851 39.57%
812 34.09%
478 30.45%
34 24.46%
) 21.74%
1,329 32.30%

HEE : AR IR B PR B OER - AT
AT 1L EEH 2023 F AR B LL ISR

2024FH AFERERERAS QR



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R - HEREGRE

APPENDIX 3: KEY ESG PERFORMANCE [ff$%3: =EESGLEIEE — &3l

INDICATORS - TRAINING METRICS BE
Employee training indicators 2024 2023
EEEIEE 20244 2023%F

Percentage of employees trained (%)
EEZIN B (%) 78.96% 66.84%
Percentage of employees trained by gender (%)

EESZMIESZIETHE

Female

fog: 41.00% 40.00%
Male

B 59.00% 60.00%

Percentage of employees trained by level

EESREBRESZIERE

Senior management

BREBEAE 1.34% 1.02%
Middle management

HREEAS 6.54% 9.09%
General staff

—RES 92.12% 89.89%

Employee training length indicators

& SiElEF RIEHE

Average training hours of employees (hour)
BEFIZINRFEL () 24.9 56.2
Average training hours of employees by gender (hour)

& S =1 B E 5 I F Al BB (NF)

Female

fegc 24.8 54.9
Male

B 25.0 57.2

Average training hours of employees by level (hour)
B SIRB AR E 5 FHZAlIBFE (/MNEF)

Senior management

EREEAS 15.7 51.2

Middle management

hREEAE 28.1 40.5

General staff

—REE 24.8 57.8

Notes: Mz -

(1)  Due to changes in the calculation method for the employee training rate, 1) BHRNEEIIILLAIFTE TS  RBAE
the employee training rate for 2023 is reported based on the calculation BitE 0412023 FE B EZIILLHIER

method used this year.

(2)  Percentage of employees trained = total number of trained employees (2 EEXJES=HEHANTZIIEEEE
during the Reporting Period/(total number of employees at the beginning (FEHYVBREES+ HERATILCRE A
of the Reporting Period + total number of new employees during the £)*100%

Reporting Period) * 100%.

kP8 JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024
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APPENDIX 4: LIST OF ESG-RELATED LAWS [t$%4: ESGHRXH%3*
AND REGULATIONS

A Environment
A IRIE

Environmental Protection Law of the PRC

(REARANMBIRRREL)

Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC
(PEARANMBARRISREAE)

Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC

(RE AR FEMEIKCTRIEED)

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Noise Pollution
(REARANMBIRIZRE TEMIEED

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste
(P ARANBEIE RS RRIRMIEE)

Cleaner Production Promotion Law of the PRC

(REARKNBEBZREEREE)

Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Hong Kong Environmental Protection Department)

(ZRIGREBRG) (BEBREFEE)

B1 Employment
B1 {&{&

Labor Law of the PRC

(hEARAMELEE)

Labor Contract Law of the PRC
(REARKNBELBSRE)

Employment Promotion Law of the PRC
(REARSMBIRZEREE)

Regulation on Work-related Injury Insurances
CTERBRARAD

Law of the PRC on the Protection of Women’s Rights and Interests
(PEARANBEIR 2D RER)

Law of the PRC on the Protection of Minors
(REARLNMBIARNKE AREE)

Tentative Provisions on Payment of Wages
(TEXMNEITHRED

Regulations on the Management of Housing Funds
(EELESEEEG)

Labor Dispute Mediation and Arbitration Law of the PRC
(PEARANBLEFHABMHMEE)

2024FH AFERERAERAS QLR
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B2 Health and safety
B2 @EHERZ

Labor Law of the PRC

(REARLFBEILSEE)

Labor Contract Law of the PRC
(PEARANBEZEHERZE)

Fire Prevention Law of the PRC
(REARKFBEDER A

Occupational Health and Safety Management System
(BERREZ2EERR)

Measures for Ascertainment of Work-related Injuries
(TEREIE)

Regulation on Work-related Injury Insurances
(TERERIFH)

Special Rules on the Labor Protection of Female Employees
(LB TEERERZRRED)

B4 Labor Standards
B4 & T #H|

Labor Law of the PRC

(RE ARAMELEEE)

Law of the PRC on the Protection of Minors
(PEARAMBIREF AMREL)

Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor
(BILFEREIRE)

JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024
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B6 Product Responsibility
B6 EREE

Law of the PRC on Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests
(REARJNBIEEERRREEL)

Civil Code of the PRC

(PEARKNBIRER)

Interim Measures for the Administration of Securities and Futures Investment Advisory Businesses
(BH - PEREZAEEHTIVE)

Product Quality Law of the PRC

(REARKNBERERZE)

Cybersecurity Law of the PRC

(REARANMBRZZZE)

Advertising Law of the PRC

(REARANBIES L)

Data Security Law of the PRC

(REARKNBEIEEZ2E)

Telecommunications Regulations of the PRC
(pEARANBEBEEMD

Provisions on the Administration of Financial Information Services
(EREERBEERRE)

Patent Law of the PRC

(REARANMBEZRED

Trademark Law of the PRC

(REARSNBEBEL)

Measures for the Administration of Internet Domain Names
(EMREEEEIVE)

Copyright Law of the PRC

(REARKEMBEIZERL)

B7 Anti-corruption

B7 RES

Criminal Law of the PRC

(PEARAFMBEAE)

Criminal Procedure Law of the PRC

(pEARAMBIMBFAED

Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC

(PEARANBRTEERTZE)

Interpretation Regarding the Application of the Criminal Procedure Law of the PRC
(PEARANBERSEEEHRE)

Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC

(REEAREME R EEED

Cases issued by the Supreme People ’s Court and the Supreme People’s Procuratorate
(BREARZER - e ARBERENRINERSHBRAHSERM4ERLESE TEENRRE)

Interpretation for Several Issues Concerning the Applicable Law in Handling Criminal Corruption and Bribery

The Group did not breach any relevant laws and regulations that AEERBEHRAREEREAEEEEXR

have a material impact on the Group during the Reporting Period. SENMEBAEER o

2024FH AFERERAERAS QLS
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INDEX TO ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE
OF THE HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE

FRBIXAGRE « HEREBREIES]) AFRSI

Subject Areas, Aspects

FTEHIE - EE

Description
it

Corresponding Section

HEAEE

A. Environment
A IR

Aspect A1: Emissions

EEA1: HER

General Disclosure

— R

Al

Information on:
ERABRRBERBEHEK  MAKRLHAHE
T EEREEEZEVNEESEN

(@) the policies; and

(@) BER ;s &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.

(b) BFHBITABEASENWEBEERRN

Managing Environmental
Footprint

Appendix 4: List of ESG-
related Regulations
ERRIRE IR

Misk4: ESGHRBEER 5
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Subject Areas, Aspects

FTEGRE B\

Description
it

Corresponding Section

HHEAEE

KPI(s) A1.A1 The types of emissions and respective | Appendix 1: Key ESG
FASENIEE emissions data. Performance Indicators —
B E R AR HE A S - Environmental Metrics
Migk1: EZESGENIE
BB
A1.2 Direct and energy indirect greenhouse gas | Appendix 1: Key ESG
emissions and intensity. Performance Indicators -
HEREREEZERERBENEREE - Environmental Metrics
Mi#k1: TEESGHEMIE
BB
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. | Appendix 1: Key ESG
FELEERENEEREE - Performance Indicators —
Environmental Metrics
Misk1: T EESGHENMIE
B MR
Al1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and | Appendix 1: Key ESG
intensity. Performance Indicators —
FEERERENRERTE - Environmental Metrics
Misk1: TEZESGHENMIE
B MR
A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps | Energy Saving Targets
taken to achieve them. and Achievements
HIAPRET L MBERE B R R BESIELBEM | Green Office
RIS ER - ERE B B R EMBR
Feg==k N
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- | Energy Saving Targets

hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
HEEEERBEEREEYNS E » REMAT
AIVHBERERAEREL B EARIMNT
BB o

and Achievements
Green Office

EiRE B ERERER
EEHA
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R - HEREGRE

Subject Areas, Aspects Description
FEEHIS - BE (i

Corresponding Section

HEAEE

EBmEA2: ERER

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

products, and with reference to per unit
produced.

HRmTREEMHNEERBEERNMGE -

General Disclosure A2 Policies on the efficient use of resources, | Green Office
— R E including energy, water and other raw | Z&#HLL
materials.
BERERER (BEER - KREMEMR)H
BUR »
KPI(s) A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by | Appendix 1: Key ESG
FASENIEER type in total and intensity. Performance Indicators —
REMNEINEER HBEEEFREZEERF | Environmental Metrics
E e Migk1: TZESGENIE
B-REER
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Appendix 1: Key ESG
HREKERFE ° Performance Indicators —
Environmental Metrics
Mi#x1: TEESGHEMIE
BB
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) | Energy Saving Targets
set and steps taken to achieve them. and Achievements
W FrET L Mpe R AR B ERAEREL | Green Office
BEFEREVN SR o EiRE B EREMIBER
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in | Energy Saving Targets
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water | and Achievements
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to | Green Office
achieve them. EaE B ERERER
HISREGE AR ERAIEEARERE - URFRET | #eda
YW AKNE B ERBEEEL R EAMEREIN
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished | Energy Saving Targets

and Achievements
BB EREMRER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE - HEREARE

Subject Areas, Aspects

FTEGRE B\

Description
it

Corresponding Section

HHEAEE

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

[BEAS: IRERKRAEIR

General Disclosure A3 Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant | Green Office
— T impact on the environment and natural | Z&#HL
resources.
BIEHRIRR RARERERERZENEEE -
KPI(s) A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of | Managing Environmental
FASEEIRIZ activities on the environment and natural | Footprint
resources and actions taken to manage them. | Green Office
HEEBETBHHRERAAREFNEAZER | EEREEN
ERMEREEZENTE - Brepn

Aspect A4: Climate Change

[EEA4: RiREt

General Disclosure A4 Policies on identification and mitigation of | Climate Change
— iR E significant climate-related issues which have | RIR%& 1t
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.
BRIREHERRUESELZENEARIE
RS E MR o
KPI(s) AdA Description of significant climate-related | Climate Change
FASRERUEE issues which have impacted, and those | Ri&Et

which may impact the issuer, along with the
corresponding actions taken in response.
HMERERAREHRITAELEZENERR
1XMEEEE - RELHTE -

2024FH AFERERAERAT QLS



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R - HEREGRE

Subject Areas, Aspects Description Corresponding Section
FEEHIS - BE (i HHEAEER
B. Social
B. #&
Aspect B1: Employment
EEB1: &
General Disclosure B1 Information on: Talent Recruitment
— iR TR ERE BEREHA - T/ERE - 18 | Employee Rights
H - FEME - 2t RERUAREMSFE | Employee Compensation
KRB and Incentives
Employee Welfare and
(@) the policies; and Care
(@ X & Appendix 4: List of ESG-
related Regulations
(b) compliance with relevant laws and | {BEEAZ
regulations that have a significant impact | & T##
on the issuer relating to compensation | & THENELEE
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, | & T2 AR =
working hours, rest periods, equal | H$#4: ESGHEIERFIEK
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.
(b) BFHBITABEASENMEBEERBRH
HEH -
KPI(s) B1.1 Total workforce (full-time or part-time) by | Appendix 2: Key ESG
FASRIERUIEER gender, employment type, age group and | Performance Indicators —
geographical region. Employee Metrics
ZR - EEEL (NEBSRE) - FRER | W2 TBESGENIE
RitEESHNIEEHLE - Z -8B TRE
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group | Appendix 2: Key ESG
and geographical region. Performance Indicators -
MR FiRARRIbEEIDEERKLLE o | Employee Metrics
Misk2: T EESGHENMIE
Z-ETER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE - HEREARE

Subject Areas, Aspects

FTEGRE B\

Description
it

Corresponding Section

HHEAEE

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EEB2: REER2

General Disclosure B2 Information on: Occupational Health and
— R 5 FERHZ2THRBERRERERESRLHEM | Safety
BEM : BERREEZE
Appendix 4: List of ESG-
(@) the policies; and related Regulations
(@ BX &k Mt#%4: ESGHEEEER DR
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.
(b) BFHBITABEARTENMEEEERBH
&R
KPI(s) B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities | Occupational Health and
FASRIERUIEER occurred in each of the past three years | Safety
including the reporting year. BEREEZ S
BE=ZF (BRERFE)BFRAITHIAR
Kb o
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational Health and
EIGBATFERS - Safety
BEEREZE
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety | Occupational Health and
measures adopted, how they are implemented | Safety
and monitored. BEEREZS
PR B R REE T 2 - UREE
HITRERGE -

202453 NAEREERERLAE EEL



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R - HEREGRE

Subject Areas, Aspects Description
FEEHIS - BE (i

Corresponding Section

HEAEE

[EHB3: R

Aspect B3: Development and Training

employee by gender and employee category.
BRI REEERE D  BEEETKTZIN
TR -

General Disclosure B3 Policies on improving employees’ knowledge | Employee Training and
—iR R and skills for discharging duties at work. | Development
Description of training activities. ETIEIIHER
EERARERTIEBENABR B ENK
R o HEIEIES o
KPI(s) B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by | Appendix 3: Key ESG
FRERERIEE gender and employee category. Performance Indicators —
I REEEFNESNZIEET DL Training Metrics
Mi$%3: T EZESGENIE
B—EIEE
B3.2 The average training hours completed per | Appendix 3: Key ESG

Performance Indicators —
Training Metrics
Mi$%3: EZEESGREMIE

BB IER

[EmB4: 55 T#H|

Aspect B4: Labor Standards

and forced labor practices when discovered.
40 E B2 3R B SRR R E BR A B 1B R AT ERELAY

General Disclosure B4 Information on: Employee Rights
—RiIKE BEEPF LB TS G5 T ¢ Appendix 4: List of ESG-
related Regulations
(a) the policies; and BT
(@ BXR: &k HMisk4: ESGHRBER 5K
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labor.
(b) BFHBITABEALENHEEEERBH
HER o
KPI(s) B4.1 Description of measures to review employment | Employee Rights
FASENIEE practices to avoid child and forced labor. BT
AR BB AR B LU R E T R8HI%
T o
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate child | Employee Rights

ET#m
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE - HEREARE

Subject Areas, Aspects

FTEGRE B\

Description
it

Corresponding Section

HHEAEE

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[ETB5: #EEER

General Disclosure B5 Policies on managing environmental and | Supply Chain Management
— AR EE social risks of the supply chain. HEgEERE
ERMHERNRIRE RS EAMBEK
KPI(s) B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
PSRBT it EE s NHERHE o fEiEEn
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging | Supply Chain Management
suppliers, number of suppliers where the | {HESEEIE
practices are being implemented, how they
are implemented and monitored.
HiEREEARERNES  nEHITERE
PINMERHE - URAEBEHITRERTE -
B5.3 Description of practices used to identify | Supply Chain Management
environmental and social risks along the | {HEHEEE
supply chain, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
B EBERBIMHERESEREANREREER
BREVIES] - ARMBEHITRERGE -
B5.4 Description of practices used to promote | Supply Chain Management
environmentally preferable products and | {tfESEEE

services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.
HERR R EE S ARREm KRB
HEHI - UIRAABEHITRERS % -

20245 AFERERARAT
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R - HERES

W&

Subject Areas, Aspects

FTEEE B\

Description
(i

Corresponding Section

HEAEE

[BEB6: EREE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

privacy policies, how they are implemented
and monitored.
HIUEEEERMRERALBEER - URAEEH
TRERGE -

General Disclosure B6 Information on: Customer Service and
— AR EE EEFMREEERNBEEN@EEZS - ES © | Product Responsibility
BERILBEEURBRSEN Appendix 4: List of ESG-
related Regulations
(a) the policies; and EFREHEERER
(@) Bl & Misk4: ESGHHBER 5K
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.
(b) BFHBITABEASENMEEEERBRH
B o
KPI(s) B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped | Customer Service and
FASENISE subject to recalls for safety and health | Product Responsibility
reasons. EFREHEEREMT
EESCEXERAETREL2EERERM
ARWHBEDLE °
B6.2 Number of products and service-related | Customer Service and
complaints received and how they are dealt | Product Responsibility
with. EFRBHEERSEME
HERE B B R RIS MO0 3F  B AR B % o
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing | Protection of Intellectual
and protecting intellectual property rights. Property
il B A 2 ARBE AR E RE R BB © REHMBERE
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and | Customer Service and
recall procedures. Product Responsibility
HhEERTARREMREBIWRER o EFRBHEERSEME
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and | Customer Service and

Product Responsibility
EERBREEREE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE - HEREARE

Subject Areas, Aspects

FTEGRE B\

Description
it

Corresponding Section

HHEAEE

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[B®EB7: RE/S

General Disclosure B7 Information on: Anti-corruption
— AR EE BRI ILRRRK - 813 - BAFER L RBEM ¢ Appendix 4: List of ESG-
related Regulations
(a) the policies; and RES
(@) Bl & Misk4: ESGHHBER 5K
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.
(o) BFHBITABEARTENHEEEEREH
HER
KPI(s) B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding | Anti-corruption
FARENIEE corrupt practices brought against the issuer or | R &35
its employees during the Reporting Period and
the outcomes of the cases.
RERPAAHBTAREHEEREICSELN
B RARMNEE RFDRER ©
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and | Anti-corruption
whistleblowing procedures, how they are | RE’5
implemented and monitored.
wapp g R RREF - URAEBEHITRE
Bk e
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided | Anti-corruption
to directors and staff. RES
BmESERE TRENRESE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R - HERES

W&

Subject Areas, Aspects

FTEEE B\

Description
(i

Corresponding Section

HEAEE

[EmBs: #HERE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

contributed to the focus areas.

EEIHBBAER (MERHKRE) -

General Disclosure B8 Policies on community engagement to | Practicing Public Welfare
—iR R understand the needs of the communities | and Giving Back to
where the issuer operates and to ensure | Society
its activities takes into consideration | B{TAREItEHE
communities’ interests.
FRUHEZHERTHREENTHETENE
REXBIDHEZREBFIRVBER
KPI(s) B8.1 Focus areas (such as education, environmental | Investor education
FASRERUEE matters, labor demand, health, culture, and | REEHBE
sports) of contribution. Practicing Public Welfare
BV EREE (NHE - BBEE % ITER | and Giving Back to
B~ Xt~ 8BF) - Society
BT AREE S
B8.2 Resources (such as money or time) | Practicing Public Welfare

and Giving Back to
Society
BT ABEELE
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of JF
Smartinvest Holdings Ltd (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”) set out on pages 205 to 300, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31,
2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
December 31, 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in Cayman lIslands, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements
and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

B3 % AT R &

Bn 7 B i ik AR A B IR RAY B I BET
W
(RASESEMRINBERLF)

==

BR

KM EME205F300EFAE N A SiRiE
BERQAB(TEARNREWB AR (&
£@ ) WEHIHBHRER B ERREER
2024F 12 A31 B & H IR RKEEHZE
ZELEFEENEHEREK  AESKEM
2HEWER  EHEZEHERREHARER
ERUKKTE  BREEESTBRENNE
fhfEIEE R -

KMRA  ZESHUBHRREREEES
FEAS ((EESTHAR NBHNEENM
BRELEQ ((FBUHREEYN NEEAF
RRT BEEM2024F12831 HHNEH
BRI AR BEEZE L FENS T HBR
BREHEESRE  WEEREB QTR
KRB B R BB o

BRIEEE

EMPCRETBSTMASHMNEBET
ZR (TEBENERDETER - ZME
ZEEUTARENEECERMNBELZH
BTt F B & F I B R R A NGB E E R D
FE—SRM - RETBSHMASNER
EitArEE TR ([<FR ) U RERMERES
BHESMMBRRNFAAENEMERE
R RMBLR BEH YEREZZR
RREFRETTRMANHBEREME - HM
BiE  RAFESHERERERZI RESR
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Independent Auditor’s Report
ESRYR SRR

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on this matter.

Revenue recognition

Refer to Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies in Note 1(p).

PSS EIA

ARELSEERMRBERAE - ARHY
FHEEHUBRERELTRBEENS
o ZEFHCERMEBLERSHIBR
RXRHEERETRE  HATHZES
HEBHRKRER -

W R 5ERE
FLHE GBI HIHIE3 R AT 1(0) Y
= e i

The Group generates revenue from provision of online
investment decision-making solution services in China.
The revenue from financial software sales and services
(see note 1(p)(i)) were RMB2,306 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024.
BEXEEETEERRERKBASTERRBEENRSE - BE
2024F12A31 AL FE - ERBMHERRBE SRR
(FBEZBMEE1(p)) BARYE2,306 BB T °

Revenue from the service is recognised during the
subscription period on a straight-line, time-elapsed
basis. Due to the high volume of transactions, the Group
uses its information technology system to record the
contracts with its customers, including the contract price
and the periods of the services.

ZIRTE PG KR AR B NG A B A BE RS R HERS TSR o
HRRZERA BEEECAHGEERNARCHEER
FH&ERE  BESEERRREHER -

@ JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024

Our audit procedures to assess the revenue recognition
included the following:
BT RARRNELEFEREUT ¢

° Obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over the
revenue recognition process;

o THRRMEWARIBEDBEEANBEENR
B REFEMD

° Assessing, with the assistance of KPMG IT
specialists, the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of the general control
environment and system automated controls
related to the IT system involved in the Group’s
revenue recognition process;

s HEEBRITEXRNHYT >t EXEEWAER
BREAMSRNITASHEEN —REFRBEREAS
BEMLIEHINRET - BRREERD



KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

Independent Auditor’s Report
BILZBE R &

PAREZEIHE (E)

We identified revenue as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators for the
Group and involved the use of IT systems which a large
volume of revenue transactions was being processed.
EMEKEREARERELSZE  RAhkER BE5E
MERENESEz— U RERITAREEREBRER
5o

On a sample basis, inspecting the terms and
conditions of the sales contracts and assessing
whether the revenue recognition policy is
appropriate with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;
MEREHEESENRRRGEE - XS2RBITER
EHMNER - SHMEREERABRRREEE

On a sample basis, comparing the gross billings
and service period for revenue transactions
recorded during the current year with original
service contracts and bank in slips;
HAFEEZFENBRAR S NETES R KRB IR
B BRHE & B R ERIT A BAR T HIARLLE

Recalculating, on a sample basis, the amounts of
contract liabilities and revenue recognized during
the year; and

HEEFTEFANGRAEERKNEHEIREE &

Evaluating whether the disclosures relating
to revenues complying with the disclosures
requirements of the prevailing accounting standard.
AR RAENRERES NS RIS ENNE
BER-

202458 AFBEREZRARALT QEE



Independent Auditor’s Report
ESRYR SRR

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is

a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

PI[0} JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

B3 % AT R &

%Eﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁ%%%

MBHRELERREBARRHNEBERER
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Independent Auditor’s Report
ESRYR SRR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

202

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the Group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the Group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the Group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

B3 % AT R &
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Independent Auditor’s Report
ESRYR SRR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Yuen Shan.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

March 27, 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

S EER

for the year ended December 31, 2024 E£2024F 12431 A L FE

Expressed in Renminbi (‘RMB”) A B# ([ A R# ) Z7~

2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
st ARETT ARBT T

Revenue Wz 3 2,305,986 1,965,387
Cost of sales SHERA (411,844) (322,123)
Gross profit EF 1,894,142 1,643,264
Other income HA A 4 262,908 231,052
Sales and marketing expenses SHEREHEHBAX (1,059,513) (957,292)
Research and development expenses A (318,780) (287,422)
General and administrative expenses —RRITHEAX (472,807) (419,039)
Impairment reversal/(loss) on receivables {5 BB R (1E%) 1,454 (2,162)
Profit from operations EERF 307,404 208,401
Finance costs [ By I N (1,995) (1,660)
Profit before taxation Bt A iga F1 5 305,409 206,741
Income tax FriSHi 6 (33,044) (16,022)
Profit for the year ERiERF 272,365 190,719
Attributable to: LT &FHFE :

Equity shareholders of the Company AT ERRR 272,365 190,719

Non-controlling interests =R R - -
Profit for the year ERiERF 272,365 190,719
Earnings per share SiEREF 9
Basic E=/N 0.61 0.45
Diluted #E 0.61 0.44

The notes on pages 211 to 300 form part of these financial

statements.

582112300 B AP REAR B AN B 5 ¥R 2k A9 — &P

I o

7]
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

EffERREM2ERRR

for the year ended December 31, 2024 B Z2024F12 431 HILFE
Expressed in Renminbi (‘RMB”) UA B# ([ A R# ) Z 7~

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARET

Profitfortheyear . ... ..........° Fhod . 272365 190719
Other comprehensive income FREMBEERE

for the year (after tax) (Bx#i1%)
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently HEnsEH 88

to profit or loss: ZERMIER ¢
Exchange differences on translation of HRE R R S

financial statements of operations E 3y S L)

outside the Mainland China ERER 9,217 21,790
Other comprehensive income for theyear FhAtZERE 9217 .. 21,790 _
Total comprehensive income for the year FRREWIEEE 281,582 212,509
Attributable to: UT&FHRELN :
Equity shareholders of the Company RN RERBRR 281,582 212,509
Non-controlling interests FIER R - -
Total comprehensive income for the year FAZHEIKGZEEE 281,582 212,509

The notes on pages 211 to 300 form part of these financial 52112300 B K ML AN BE B 3R 3% 49 — &6
statements. 7 e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SHMHBRAR

as at December 31, 2024 42024125318

Expressed in Renminbi (‘RMB”) LA B# ([ A R# ) Z7~

December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
20244 20234
12A31H 12A31H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MIEE AREBTT AREET T
Non-current assets ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment M BEREE 10 18,865 21,036
Right-of-use assets FREEE 11(a) 6,070 5,829
Intangible assets B EE 12 37,199 2,053
Deferred tax assets EERIBEEE 20(b) 220,318 102,817
... 282,452 131,735
Current assets mEEE
Financial assets measured at fair value AV (&2 B HE 5
through profit or loss (“FVPL”) STABRNEmERE 14 665,080 1,322,532
Financial assets purchased under resale EBEARES@EE
agreements 346,928 30,831
Prepayments and other receivables FERRERHMERERIE 15 164,599 227,335
Restricted cash ZREIEE 16(b) 121,668 303
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBESEEY 16(a) 2,208,662 745,870
3506937 2,326,871
Current liabilities REBEE
Financial liabilities measured BRAFEFEBHEE
at fair value through profit or loss STABENEREE 56,544 19,545
Financial assets sold under EHOBESMEE
repurchase agreements - 13,233
Contract liabilities Y =l 17 1,488,902 689,322
Income tax payable NIRRT 20(a) 165,309 47,218
Accrued expenses and other EtERK
current liabilities HiREE & 18 466,043 168,584
Lease liabilities HEEE 11(a) 6,496 5,873
2,183,294 943,775
Netcurrentassets = #B&A=E¥E 1,323,643 1,383,096 _
Total assets less current liabilities WAERRBDASR 1,606,095 1,514,831
Non-current liability ERHER
Lease liabilities HESE 11(a) 1,761 34
. . 1,761 e aease 34
NET ASSETS BEFE 1,604,334 1,514,797
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SHMBRRAR

as at December 31, 2024 82024%12H31H
Expressed in Renminbi (‘RMB”) LA B# ([ A R# ) Z 7~

December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
20244 20234
12A31H 12831H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M AREBTR ARET T
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAX KGR
Share capital [N 21(a) 4 4
Reserves EAE 21(b) 1,604,330 1,514,793
Total equity attributable to equity EATIHESRE
shareholders of the Company FE L HEIR4EEE 1,604,334 1,514,797
Non-controlling interests FEFERRELS - =
TOTAL EQUITY B 1,604,334 1,514,797
* The balance represents an amount less than RMB1,000. * BREHIELRARKE1,000HELEE ©

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on BEEN2025F3 527 Bt EITIZRER M o
March 27, 2025.

Chen Wenbin BR 3T -
Direct » 5=
Chen Jigeng rectors PR R
The notes on pages 211 to 300 form part of these financial %211 Z 300 B FI MR A AN B IS 3Rk AY — 35
statements. 5 e
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Balance at January 1, 2023

Changes in equity for 2023:
Profit and other comprehensive
income for the year
Issuance of ordinary shares
and capitalization,

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
B EREEISR

for the year ended December 31, 2024 E£2024F 12431 A L FE
Expressed in Renminbi (‘RMB”) A B# ([ A R# ) Z7~

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FATRERFME
Share Treasury Capital Exchange  Retained
Capital sharereserve  reserve reserve profits Total

ks EFRHEE S4GH ERRE SRk it
Note ~ RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000

Mz AREFT ARBTRT ARBTRT ARETT ARETT ARETR

1A202351 R 1 B 48R * * (353) 529,776 529,423

2023 FHEREE :
ERETIR
Hft2miaE - -
BTLBRANEAL -
NRRHBITAAR

21,790 190,719 212,509

net of share issuance costs 21() 4 - 853,572 - - 853,576
Dividends approved in respect ERENE-FERE
of the previous year 21(c) - - (214,861) - - (214,861)
Share-based compensation MR AERH M 19 - - 128910 - - 128910
Debt exemption ERHE - - 5,240 - - 5,240
Balance at December 31, 2023 12023E12H318
and January 1, 2024 202451 R 1 BiaEER 4 * 772,861 21,437 720,495 1,514,797
Changes in equity for 2024; 2024 EHEREE :
Profit and other comprehensive FRENREM2ENRS
income for the year - - - 9,217 272,365 281,582
Dividends approved in respect EHANE-FERE
of the previous year 21(c) - - (88,666) - - (88,666)
Share-based compensation MR A E R E 19 - - 78,089 - - 78,089
Repurchase and cancellation of BERGHEBR
ordinary shares 21(a) * - (181,468) - - (181,468)
Balance at December 31, 2024 20245127 31 B4R 4 * 580,816 30,654 992,860 1,604,334
* The balance represents an amount less than RMB1,000. * BRAEHIED R ARKE1,000THILEE ©

The notes on pages 211 to 300 form part of these financial %211 2300 B HIMIZE A8 B 2N B HE 3Rk A — 3P

statements.

7 e
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHRERER

for the year ended December 31, 2024 B Z2024F12 431 HILFE

Expressed in Renminbi (‘RMB”) UA B# ([ A R# ) Z 7~

2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mz ARETR AR®TRT
Operating activities HEEE
Cash generated from operations KEMBSRSE 16(c) 1,660,266 456,928
Income taxes paid 28 (32,454) (12,946)
Net cash generated from BB EHMBRETHE
operating activities 1,627,812 443,982
Investing activities BEE
Payment for the purchase of property, BEYE BMERSE -
plant and equipment, intangible assets BREEREMIERS
and other non-current assets BENIE (7,663) (11,789)
Proceeds from sale of property, HEME  BEREME
plant and equipment, intangible assets B EERHEMIERE
and other non-current assets BEENMEMRIE 55 43
Proceeds from sale of financial assets HESREENMERIE 973,336 4,503,094
Payment for purchase of financial assets BESmMEENNRIE (738,381) (5,073,136)
Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries UL BB BT/ A R FRIE 16(e) (51,768) (63,552)
Interest received BWRIE 17,790 12,834
Dividends received from investments REFZFBRKRE
in securities 238 166
Net cash generated from/(used in) R&ESAE(FRA)
investing activities &% 193,607 (632,340)
Financing activities R EE
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary HERAREESREN
shares relating to the initial public LB BT RIE
offering - 904,187
Capital element of leases rentals paid T HHEESNAEID 16(d) (77,677) (60,894)
Interest element of leases rentals paid T HHEESNFE D 16(d) (1,995) (1,660)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders ERARARERRERE
of the Company 21(c) (88,666) (214,861)
Payment for repurchase of shares AN EN (181,468) -
Listing expense paid e Lmix - (46,099)
Net cash (used in)/generated from B EEEN (FTA),
_financing activites | P@Re¥dR (349,806) 580673
Net increase in cash and R RFESEMEINFEE
cash equivalents 1,471,613 392,315
Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 R1A1HHRERIFEZEY 745,870 352,987
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes [EZEEHHE (8,821) 568
Cash and cash equivalents at P12A31HHRER
December 31 IREEEY 16(a) 2,208,662 745,870

55211 2300 H VM RE B AR AN FE #R % 49 — &P

The notes on pages 211 to 300 form part of these financial
statements. e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the Group.
Note 1(c) provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current accounting period reflected
in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2024 comprise the Company and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).

1 EEEEBE

(a)

(b)

SHREH

ZEMERERDBRIEMEEAN
EBVHEREERD ([BBHIER
XA DERE . UEBEEES
S AR (EESTHAR])
FEA B9 BT 3 R B 18 B B B B A
HEER - FEGTED ([FB
S ER D EBRAL  URE
BARAMGEH 2 ER - ZEMER
KNI EEBHAERZBERA
AFEF L HETEREAEER
E o AEBRANEERTER
IWEWMT ©

ERETMASEEME THE
BB R EEIEEE] - ZEE
ARASEEEMEMEERE
MR ARRFERA - ARADE
RErEEENETTHBERE
ZERRMSIBMZETHRED
ERBRZEHHEHRRS  HE
BERHEE(c) ©

MR ZRREE

B ZE2024F 12831 HIEFER
B ERREIEARQA T REHK
BAT (FHEIAEE]) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B RRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

1

212

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their
fair value as explained in the accounting policies set out
below:

- investments in debt and equity securities (see note

1(e));

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 2.

JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these
financial statements for the current accounting
period:

o Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation
of financial statements — Classification of
liabilities as current or non-current (“2020
amendments”) and amendments to HKAS
1, Presentation of financial statements —
Non-current liabilities with covenants (“2022
amendments”)

° Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease
liability in a sale and leaseback

o Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash
flows and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures — Supplier finance arrangements

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Group’s result and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented. The Group has not applied
any new standard or interpretation that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period.

1 EEERTBE(E)

(c) ERTBURHIEE

AEECHBBETMD
SRMNT I EF B

EEAMERTEARAK
SR S SRR

o HEBEIEAF
258 B RERAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B RRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control commences
until the date on which control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-
group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI”) either
at fair value or at the NCI’s proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in
the consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. NCI in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between NCI
and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans
from holders of NCI and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position in accordance with note 1(m) depending on the
nature of the liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related NCI and other components of equity.
Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary is
measured at fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses, unless it is classified as held for sale
(or included in a disposal group classified as held for
sale).

Investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and
associates, are set out below:

Investments in debt and equity securities are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investments. Investments
in debt and equity securities are initially stated at fair
value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. For an explanation
of how the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see note 22(f). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on
their classification:

1 EEERBER(E

(d)

(e)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B RRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

1

216

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e) Investments in debt and equity securities

(continued)

Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement

categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash flows
which represent solely payments of principal
and interest. Interest income from the
investment is calculated using the effective

interest method.

= fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) — recycling, if the
contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held within a
business model whose objective is achieved
by both the collection of contractual cash
flows and sale. Changes in fair value
are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition in profit
or loss of expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange
gains and losses. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income is recycled

from equity to profit or loss.

- fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) if the
investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised

in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

(f)

Investments in debt and equity securities
(continued)

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At
the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to retained earnings. It is not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified
as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income in accordance with the policy
set out in Note 1(p)(iii).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 1(i)(ii)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Motor vehicles 4 years

— Electronic and other 3-5 years
office equipment

— Leasehold the shorter of the
improvements unexpired term of lease

and estimated useful lives

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life
of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see
note 1(i)(ii)). Expenditure on internally generated goodwill
and brands is recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The following intangible
asset with finite useful life is amortised from the date
it is available for use and its estimated useful life is as
follows:

— Software 2 years
— Trademark and patent 2 years
— License Indefinite useful life
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9)

Intangible assets (continued)

The estimates and associated assumptions of useful life
determined by the Group are based on technical and
commercial obsolescence, legal or contractual limits on
the use of the asset and other relevant factors. Based
on the current functionalities equipped by the softwares
and the daily operation needs, the Group considers a
useful life of 2 years to be their best estimation.

Both the period and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion
that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite
is reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change
and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.

Research expenditures are recognised as an expenses
as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects
are capitalised as intangible assets when recognition
criteria are met, including (a) it is technically feasible
to complete the software so that it will be available
for use; (b) management intends to complete the
software and use or sell it; (c) there is an ability to use
or sell the software; (d) it can be demonstrated how
the software will generate probable future economic
benefits; (e) adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or
sell the software are available; and (f) the expenditure
attributable to the software during its development can
be reliably measured. Other development costs that do
not meet those criteria are expensed as incurred. There
were no development costs meeting these criteria and
capitalised as intangible assets as of December 31,
2024.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for
leases that have a short lease term of 12 months or
less, and leases of low-value items such as laptops and
office furniture. When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value item, the Group decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If
not capitalised, the associated lease payments are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over
the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is recognised using the effective interest
method. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or rate are not included in the measurement
of the lease liability, and are charged to profit or loss as
incurred.
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B BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

Leased assets (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see notes 1(f) and 1(i)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in
an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes
its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

(i)

Leased assets (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
lease modification, which means a change in the scope
of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract, if such
modification is not accounted for as a separate lease. In
this case, the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that
are due to be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit loss (ECLs) on financial assets
measured at amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, debt investments and other
receivables).

Other financial assets measured at fair value are
not subject to the ECL assessment.
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B BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 EETFBRGE
(continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets () EEBEERESERE(E)

(continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets and trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate;

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 EBEEEGTEE (B

(continued)
EEBEREERE (E)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (i)
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)
ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are

expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 BEEETER (&)

(continued)
EEBEREERE (E)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (i)
(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 1(p)(ii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less
allowance for impairment losses) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of
the issuer.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows
to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in
which the recovery occurs.

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;

- intangible assets;

- right-of-use assets;

- investment properties; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.
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B BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In addition,
for goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet
available for use and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is
estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

— Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value
in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

)]

(k)

0

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received from a customer before the Group transfers the
related services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract.
The customers are entitled to the refund of payments in
relation to the proportionate services not yet rendered.
The refund to customers will be accounted for as a
decrease in the contract liabilities.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset (see note 1(j)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see note 1(i)(i))-

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for ECL in accordance with
the policy set out in Note 1(i)(i).
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

1

230

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(m) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities,
trade and other payables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(n) Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

The fair value of restricted share units (“RSUs”)
granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in
a capital reserve within equity. The fair value of
restricted share units is measured at grant date
using the market price of the Company’s shares.
Where the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to the RSUs, the total estimated fair value
of the RSUs is spread over the vesting period,
taking into account the probability that the RSUs
will vest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n)

(o)

Employee benefits (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of RSUs
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is charged/credited to the profit or
loss for the year of the review, unless the original
employee expenses qualify for recognition as
an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to
the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of RSUs that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of
the Company’s shares. The equity amount related
to RSUs is recognised in capital reserve until the
RSUs become vested.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period, and
any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
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1

232

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(o)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused
tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in
periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred
tax assets can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credit, that is, those differences are taken into account if
they relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period,
or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(o)

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are
not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that
the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B RRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(o) Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company and the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company and the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p)

Revenue recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the provision of services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when service is transferred to
the customer at the amount of promised consideration
to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding
those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax (“VAT”) or other sales
taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to
the customer for more than 12 months, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction with the
customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. The Group takes advantage
of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15
and does not adjust the consideration for any effects
of a significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B RRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 EBEEEGTEE (E)
(continued)

(p) Revenue recognition (continued) (p) WrHER2 (&)

A R E A A R
B — SR ET :

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

236

For financial software sales and services,
the Group earns revenue by providing a data
and financial information software sales and
services to paying customers in China during the
subscription period for a fixed fee. These financial
software sales and services, including market data
processing, data analysis, investment decision-
making support, cloud chart viewing, prerecorded
online investor education courses, livestreaming
broadcasts, express market reviews, indicator
analysis tools, as well as various online high-
end premium services, are tailored for the mass
affluent class of individual investors. The revenues
are recognized during the subscription period on a
straight-line, time-elapsed basis.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under
the effective interest method using the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
For financial assets measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see
note 1(i)(i))-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p)

(q)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Dividends income from equity investments is
recognised when the investor’s right to receive
payment is established.

Government grants are recognised in the
consolidated statements of financial position
initially when there is reasonable assurance that
they will be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them.
Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or
loss on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that
compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are
deducted from the carrying amount of the assets
and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by
way of reduced depreciation expense.

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of group companies at
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B RRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(q) Translation of foreign currencies (continued)
Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCl and
accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the
extent that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items are translated into
RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

(r) Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(r) Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(ii)

(i

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member);

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party;

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); or

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.
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B B RRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

1

240

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(r)

(s)

Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statement, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

The Group’s chief operating decision maker has been
identified as the Chief Executive Officer, who reviews
consolidated results when making decisions about
allocating resources and assessing performance of the
Group.

For the purpose of internal reporting and management’s
operation review, the Group’s Chief Executive Officer
and management personnel do not segregate the
Group’s business by service lines. All service categories
are viewed as one and the only operating segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following accounting judgements:

(a)

(b)

Recognition of income taxes and deferred tax
assets

Determining income tax provision involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions.
Management evaluates tax implications of transactions
and tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax
treatments of such transactions are reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax
legislation. Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect
of deductible temporary differences. As those deferred
tax assets can only be recognised to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences
can be utilised, management’s judgement is required
to assess the probability of future taxable profits.
Management’s assessment is revised as necessary
and additional deferred tax assets are recognised if it
becomes probable that future taxable profits will allow
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Fair value of share-based compensation
payments

As mentioned in Note 19, the Group has granted Pre-
IPO RSU Scheme to its employees. The Group has
used discounted cash flow method to determine the
total fair value of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme granted to
employees, which is to be expensed over the vesting
period. Significant estimate on assumptions, such as
the discount rate, terminal value and terminal growth
rate, discount for lack of marketability and target share
price, is required to be made by the Group in applying
the discounted cash flow method.
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B B RRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

242

(c)

Impairment of other receivables

The Group estimates the amount of loss allowance
for ECLs on other receivables that are measured at
amortised cost on the credit risk of the respective
financial instruments. The loss allowance amount
is measured as the assets carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows with the
consideration of expected future credit loss of the
respective financial instrument. The assessment of the
credit risk of the respective financial instrument involves
high degree of estimation and uncertainty. When the
actual future cash flows are less than expected or more
than expected, a material impairment loss or a material
reversal of impairment loss may arise, accordingly.

REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
major products or service lines is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers
within the scope of HKFRS 15
Financial software sales and services

BRPBEREERE 1555
HENEFEHWRE
B E R AR

2 EstHERRfhE (&)

(c) HibFEWRIERE
AEEZRREBESMIANER
B fh SR B R AT B H A
FEYGRENTREREANER
BETHE BREBBSENERE
ERAERMGTRRESRER
HitE  UEZEHEEESHMIA
MEHARRERERX - HESH
TANERRRFESRSEM
SR AEEN  c BEMARES
RELREMASREALRE - °
FEAEHRENREBRREKR
R

g
BEEXRERIBBREDINEFSHK
@A -

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSFT AREET T
2,305,986 1,965,387
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

REVENUE (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
the timing of revenue recognition is as follows:

Over time —EREFE AU A

3 MeE (&)

RN EREEE SNBSS
T:

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBT T

2,305,986 1,965,387

The Group’s customer base is diversified and no customer
individually accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s total
revenue in 2023 and 2024.

Remaining Performance Obligation

The Group has elected the practical expedient not to disclose
the information about remaining performance obligations
which are part of contracts that have an original expected
duration of one year or less and do not disclose the value of
remaining performance obligations for contracts in which the
Group recognises revenue at the amount to which the Group
has the right to invoice.

All of the Group’s operating assets are located in the PRC and
all of the Group’s revenue and operating profits are derived
from the PRC during the years of 2023 and 2024. Accordingly,
no segment analysis based on geographical locations is
provided.

REBNEFHEZ TLEMEEFERS
{E AR B 2023 F K 2024 F 4N ZE10%
BLE -

IR TRYOERE
FEECREERERS L THRES
RRMEFHBIFIUATHEN -2
NRTENEENEEESR - BTRE
AEEZREBEMARZNSERIW
BNEHNNRTENEETEHE -

M2023F 2024 5F - REBFAERKE
BEEHNVRPE > mASERERER
KEHRIIDFEAPE o Eitt - WEEE
HEA BB D ERDHT o
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4 OTHER INCOME 4 HA
2024 2023
20245 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT ARET T
Government grants BUFEBY

- VAT refund — B EBRH 258,390 150,140
— other government grants — H At BT 19,421 40,722

Net (loss)/gain on financial assets at fair BRAFEFEBESEFTA

value through profit or loss BRlEmEE (58),/
Wz R 5 (64,077) 14,780
Interest income FIEUA 17,790 12,834
Exchange (loss)/gain X (5518) e (8,821) 568
Others Hth 40,205 12,008
Total wst 262,908 231,052

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

5 FR¥BiRTERF]

BRBLAT AR EHERUAT BIBESEH ¢

(a) Staff cost (@ BImAF
2024 2023
20244 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IEREMER 1,155,460 894,840
Contributions to defined contribution A5 E SRR KT IR ()
retirement plan (i) 63,714 55,833
Equity-settled share-based DREREEURDBERDN
compensation expenses B 2 78,089 128,910
Total @t 1,297,263 1,079,583
Included in: itA :
Cost of sales THERA 389,520 307,575
Research and development expenses 3B 269,654 259,562
General and administrative expenses ~ —MRRTHBI X 253,169 224,209
Sales and marketing expenses HERZHEEX 384,920 288,237
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5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

(a)

(b)

Staff cost (continued)

Note:

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered and operated by the
local municipal government. The Group’s subsidiaries in
the PRC contribute funds which are calculated on certain
percentages of the average employee salary as agreed by
the local municipal government to the scheme to fund the
retirement benefits of the employees.

Contributions to the PRC local retirement schemes
pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
as incurred and not reduced by contributions forfeited by
those employees who leave the plans prior to vesting fully
in the contributions.

5 Br¥ianaF (&)

(@) BEIRAE(E)
FyeE -

M

AREBETEHEARNESR
2PN T IR E T MO
B SR ERFRARE S - AEE
o 30 B B8 2 AR 4 75 T R 169
ENFHREEFEN—EBD
LRt E AT SR - AR
BERAKERN

R4 B0 BB S BRI
B ¥ieh IR B
RETERRRABEOZ
- T eRRAER2RE
A B & IR M R
M -

Finance cost (b) BAFERLAE
2024 2023
2024 5 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBT T
Interest expense on lease HEEBNFEHRX
liabilities (note 11) (MF5E11) 1,995 1,660
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5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 5 PBBignER (&)
(c) Other items (c) HIEH
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBTT

Internet traffic procurement expenses B EREREAX 674,594 669,055
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEENITE
assets (note 11) (FffaE11) 79,912 58,937
Taxes and surcharges BrERMINE 42,947 25,257
Cloud server operation fee ERHEETEE 34,538 18,192
Rental and property fee HERYFEE 22,650 17,874
Technology service fee HATARTE & 20,965 13,315
Office and travel expenses PR E R 12,114 8,815
Depreciation charge (note 10) wEEA (KiE10) 8,987 9,077
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 12) & & E#k S (HizE12) 1,953 4,940
Audit fee EitE 1,910 2,300
Donation B 80 5,604
Impairment (reversal)/loss ERIERE{CIDIZE=ES (1,454) 2,162
Listing expenses EHBEE - 22,680
6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6 FtAEHIEBERRIIAFEHR
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statements of (a) EffEERPHBIE :

profit or loss:

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
g ARETR ARBT T
Current tax BNEABIIE
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax — SR EIZEFTEH
(“EIT”) Provision ([EEEMEH ) BE
for the year 20(a) 165,309 47,218
— Over-provision in respect  —BFFEBEARE
of prior years 6(b) (14,764) (6,454)
Deferred tax REFHIA
- Origination of temporary —IEMERENES
differences 20(b) (117,501) (24,742)
33,044 16,022
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

st A S HiERmRIIFTEH

(%)

RERBRTRABIER T
ErTaFIBIEER

(b)

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Profit before taxation Rt A F 305,409 206,741
Notional tax on profit before taxation, REAREREEEERERN
calculated at the rates applicable BEFTTEWBRFADER
in the jurisdictions concerned BEHIE 85,182 71,553
Tax effect of PRC preferential tax rate ~ P EIEER RWBIIFEE (32,113) (14,984)
Super-deduction of research and INET BRI 2L B
development expense (58,722) (62,624)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A f1%iBE X AL 7522 21,186 15,919
Tax effect of tax losses and temporary ~ RFEFAFIIEEE KR
differences not recognised R E RS 35,846 13,435
Recognition of previously unrecognised R SCHI AR ERFIEE R
tax losses and temporary differences RERMEER (3,571) =
Over-provision in prior year B FEHEEERE (14,764) (6,454)
Others Hoth - (823)
Actual income tax expense ERmEHAX 33,044 16,022
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6

248

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:
(continued)

Notes:

Cayman Islands and BVI

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands and BVI, the Group
is not subject to tax on income or capital gains. Additionally, upon
payments of dividends by JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd to its
shareholders, neither Cayman Islands nor BVI withholding tax will
be imposed.

Hong Kong

The Company’s Hong Kong subsidiary, are subject to an income
tax rate of 16.5% for the year ended December 31, 2024. No
provision for Hong Kong Profits tax was made as the Group’s
Hong Kong subsidiary had no estimated assessable profit that
was subject to Hong Kong Profits tax during the years of 2023
and 2024.

PRC

All the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC, are subject
to an income tax rate of 25%, according to the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax Law (the “EIT Law”) in the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2024.

Jiufangyun was granted the “Key Software Enterprise” status in
May 2024, and therefore was entitled to a preferential income tax
rate of 10% for the fiscal year of 2023.

Jiufangyun was granted the “Eligible high-tech enterprise” status
in December 2024 and therefore was entitled to a preferential
income tax rate of 15% for the years ended 2024, 2025 and
2026, as long as it continues meeting the related requirements.

JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024

st A S HERRIIFAEHR

(%)

(b)

B AR E ER BRI
ERTEFIEER - (&)

B

Al

HERERABELEHE
BRERSHEREBEZHSHRITE
Bl - REBEHATLKALE RN a4
B oo BES - BASTBERIERBER AR
A H AR RO SR - TR & IR
FERHBREBRE LSRN -

B
RNATME BB A R EREZE2024
F12 A31 B IEFEIZ16.5% KT =5
METRH - AR A EENT BB A
AR 2023 4F 2 2024 G b 4 i 51 FE AR
T M BB MNESFIEH - &R
BATISTIEHR R -

HE
RIEFBIAEMRETOE ([ EMEHR
AL ARRRAES BRSNS
RREINEZE20234F K 2024512 A 31
H IEFE 9 RH225% M B X SN
W °

NI ER20244F5 AR [ EZ# 4t
D2 FESE - N 2023 FHEREE
B10%ERFERBE -

A ER2024F 12 BER [ =235
M AR WRABEBERFEE
BT - BIEE 20244 - 20254 &
2026 F |FFEZH15%EBRFISH
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7 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 7 EE#ME
(a) Directors’ and the chief executive’s cash (a) EBRITBAEIZNIRENE

emoluments

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBT T

Directors’ fees EFHEE - =

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 « 2Bt R EVIEF 3,194 1,345

Discretionary bonuses BETEAL 300 300

Retirement scheme contributions BRIRET R 224 70

Total #st 3,718 1,715

The cash remuneration of each director for the year
ended December 31, 2024 is set out as follows:

B ZE2024F 12831 BIEFE >
BNEENRSHFMOT :

Year ended December 31, 2024

#ZF20245F12A31BLERE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonuses contributions
e EUR
ExfEe EhEF BYETEAl  BARETEIRR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
Executive directors BITEE

Cali Zi (iii) 7 F (i) - 213 - 22
Chen Jigeng RER - 1,121 - 84
Chen Wenbin BR S - 651 - 73
Zhang Peihong (iii) SRIBAL (i) - 387 300 45

Non-executive directors  JEHITES
Yan Ming =G| - - - -
CHEN NINGFENG CHEN NINGFENG - - - -
Fan Yonghong BER - 274 - -
Tian Shu H&F - 274 - -
Zhao Guoging i)zl - 274 - -
- 3,194 300 224
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7 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and the chief executive’s cash
emoluments (continued)
The cash remuneration of each director for the year
ended December 31, 2023 is set out as follows:

7 EEWNE (A

(a) EFRITHARMESWNE
(&)
BZE2023512A31ALEFE -
BUESNWRSHMOT :

Year ended December 31, 2023

BZE2023F12A31ALEE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions
e EUK
0k BUEF METREA  RUGTEMER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Executive directors BiTESE
Cai Zi 7 F (iii) - 670 300 70
Chen Jigeng FRERR - - - -
Chen Wenbin FR ST - - - -
Non-executive directors ~ FFHITES
Yan Ming B - - - -
CHEN NINGFENG CHEN NINGFENG - - - -
Fan Yonghong BEE - 225 - -
Tian Shu H&F - 225 - -
Zhao Guoging HEE - 225 - -
- 1,345 300 70
Notes: Mz -

(i) During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to the director as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. No director
of the Group waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the year.

(ii) The emoluments shown above includes remuneration
received from the Group by them in their capacity as
employees of the Group during the year.

(iii) Cai Zi resigned as a director of the Group with effect from

April 22, 2024. Zhang Peihong was appointed as a director
of the Group from May 20, 2024.
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REERN  AEBEESHEN
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7 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Directors’ and the chief executive’s other non-
cash emoluments

The remuneration of the directors and the chief
executives of the Group encompasses directors’ fees,
salaries, allowances and benefits in kind, discretionary
bonuses, retirement scheme contributions, and
other non-cash remuneration. Apart from the cash
remuneration outlined above, the term “other non-cash
remuneration” refers to share-based payments. For the
year ended December 31, 2024, the accrued share-
based expenses for Executive Directors Chen Jigeng
and Zhang Peihong amounted to RMB71,271 thousand
and RMB35,623 thousand, respectively (for the year
ended December 31, 2023, the corresponding amounts
were RMB32,239 thousand and RMB64,455 thousand
for Executive Directors Cai Zi and Chen Jigeng). As at
31 December 2024, the shares granted to the directors
and chief executives of the Group under the Pre-IPO
RSU Scheme and 2024 Share Incentive Scheme (Note
19) are as follows:

7 EEME (E)

(b)

Outstanding
as of 31
December
2028
(Shares)
2023
12A318
AT ()

7,110,000

14,215,000

= 7,105,000

Number Exercise
of Grants Vesting  price (HKD/
Date of grant (Shares) periods share)
i
gzt RFYE(R) BB (2R
Executive directors
WiTES
Caizi February 3, 2023 7,110,000 60 months -
1¥ 2023%2R 3R 6018 A
Chen Jigeng February 3, 2023 14,215,000 60 months -
RER 2023F2A3R 60f8A
Zhang Peihong February 3, 2023 7,105,000 60 months
AL 2003%25 3R 60fER

EERTHEAZNEMIERS
[

AEEESRITHRARNGHNE
FESWE  FE - EHRE
YRR~ BIBTEAL - BIREEIH
o REMIFVESEHM - BRULE
B IR S HE N o [ E IR
SHM | —RANEURDAEER
AR - BiE 2024512 831 H
IEEE > HITEERERIRE
AWEST ARG BEENTRD
BlAEARMET1 271 FT R AR
35,623 F Tt (BI£2023F 12 A
S1HLEFE  HITESATRR
HERNEHESEEA ARES2,239
FRREARYG4,455F L) o R
20245 12H31H ' AEBES
RITBAHRBEERXAMBER
32 PR & AR 10 BE v 5T 2 ;2 2024 F %
BB SR MR (FHEE19)
T

Forfeited/
Cancelled  Outstanding
Exercised during the as of 31
during the Reporting December
period Period 2024
(Shares) (Shares) (Shares)
20045
#EMA  12R318
BrrRR) Rb/HER) HRGER)
- 7,110,000 -
- - 14215000
- - 7,105,000
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8 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 8 mpilEAL
EMOLUMENTS
The number of directors and non-directors included in the five EZE2024FE R2023FEILFEE » AEE
highest paid individuals for the years ended 2024 and 2023 EFMATHWNEERIEEZTE AHEHY
are set forth below: mT
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A A
Directors = 2 2
Non-directors FES 3 3
5 )
The emoluments of the directors are disclosed in Note 7. EEMMEAMET7IRE - HEfE o 5B
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining ATHENSBEZEANT -

highest paid individuals are as follows:

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBT T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EAREYER 17,001 4,531
Retirement scheme contributions BT EIHRK 157 180
Discretionary bonuses EYBTEAL 4,260 1,545
Share-based payments DA AD R ERE RN - 32,216
Total et 21,418 38,472
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INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 8 mEMEAL(E)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
The emoluments of the other individuals with the highest HtteMe AW &N FLUTE
emoluments are within the following band: :
2024 2023
2024 20234
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AR A
Nil - HKD2,000,000 £ 22,000,000 T - -
HKD2,500,001 — HKD3,000,000 2,500,001 % 7T £ 3,000,0005% T - 1
HKD3,000,001 — HKD3,500,000 3,000,001 7T £ 3,500,0007% JT - 1
HKD5,500,001 — HKD6,000,000 5,500,001 7T £ 6,000,000 7T 1 -
HKD7,000,001 — HKD7,500,000 7,000,001 7T 27,500,000 7T 1 -
HKD10,500,001 - HKD11,000,000 10,500,001 % 7T £ 11,000,000 7T 1 -
HKD36,500,001 - HKD37,000,000 36,500,001 & 7t £ 37,000,000 7T - 1
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9 EARNINGS PER SHARE 9 HwiET
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) SBEREXRT
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on BREABIANGERERAA
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders AEBERRREMERFE %
of the Company and the weighted average number of THEBRINEFITE -

ordinary shares in issue.

Profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the RRAFEEERRREL R
Company
2024 2023
20244 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBTT

Profit attributable to all equity RATZEERRR
shareholders of the Company FE(L =R 272,365 190,719
Effect of unvested shares under BHRAFZRERZRS
the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme (note 19) IRAD B 5T B AR ER B
IR HI S22 (FiEE19) (14,232) -

Profit attributable to ordinary equity RATERERRR

shareholders of the Company PR 258,133 190,719
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic): LR INFET G S (BAAR) ¢
2024 2023
20244 20234
Ordinary shares at beginning B E B 466,087,000 81,230
Effect of treasury shares at beginning ~ HiFIEZR DAL (28,430,000) (5,686)
Effect of Capitalization Issue on March 7420233 10 HE A1t
10, 2023 (note 21(a)) BT E (MiEE21(a)) - 377,644,456
Effect of shares issued upon the HAAHBEZTHEDEIT
completion of the IPO (note 21(a)) IR 2 (BiEE21(a)) - 48,750,585
Effect of shares repurchased HEE RS2 (MisE21(a))
(note 21(a)) (11,492,971) -

Weighted average number of ordinary @R INEFIE (BEA)
shares (basic) 426,164,029 426,470,585
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(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

Basic earnings per share (continued)

(a)

9 ®ikEF (&)

BiRERRF (&)

Basic earnings per share: BREARRR
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
Profit attributable to ordinary equity RATEREERRR
shareholders of the Company &R (AR T T
(RMB’000) 258,133 190,719
Weighted average number of ordinary  Ei@R INEF5E
shares 426,164,029 426,470,585
Basic earnings per share attributable to 21 B & BEER R
ordinary equity shareholders of the BihEREREF]
Company (RMB per share) (BRARYT) 0.61 0.45
Diluted earnings per share (b) BiREFRF

For the year ended 2024, unvested shares under
the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme and 2024 Share Incentive
Scheme (note 19) were not included in the calculation of
diluted loss per share because their effect would have
been anti-dilutive. Accordingly, diluted loss per share for
the year ended 2024 were the same as basic earnings
per share.

For the year ended 2023, the calculation of diluted
earnings per share for the year is based on profit
attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding after adjustment for the effect of
unvested shares under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme.

BE2024F I FE RO
ERIZ PRI M EN T EIR2024
FROBE G E R E B (K
F19) HHE AR E SR EMmARE
SR EEEBMNTERR °
It BE2024F I FENETRE
BERESRERETER -

BZE2023F L FE > FESRE
BREIWGTERENRAQATER
EERREGEFREEX AR
BEASIRFIIRMDEMTEIRE
BRONSEETAREBNT
TEBERAMEFIE -
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9 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

256

(b)

JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024

Diluted earnings per share (continued) (b)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted):

9 #ix&F (&)
BizEER (&)
LERMET S (58) -

2023
2023%F
Weighted average number of SRR METEH
ordinary shares 426,470,585
Effect of unvested shares under the XA BB E A 2 PRI 7 B (v 5T &
Pre-IPO RSU Scheme (note 19) REBRAHNZE (IEE19) 6,162,851
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ ZE@ERINEFIIE (#E)
shares (diluted) 432,633,436
Diluted earnings per share: BREFEF
2023
20234
Profit attributable to ordinary equity IRA B E B IR R AR (R R F
shareholders of the Company (AR®BT )
(RMB’000) 190,719
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ ZERRINEFIE (#5E)
shares (diluted) 432,633,436
Diluted earnings per share attributable 782 5] iz IR REL S REERF
to ordinary equity shareholders of the (BRARYT)
Company (RMB per share) 0.44
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 10 W% - RERREE

Electronic and
other office Motor Leasehold
equipment vehicles  improvements Total
ST RAM HEYE
ARG RE & ct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Cost: A
At January 1, 2023 20231818 29,899 264 4,663 34,826
Additions B 10,305 - 161 10,466
Disposals HE (104) - - (104)
At December 31, 2023/ R2023%E12A318/

January 1, 2024 2024%1A1R 40,100 264 4,824 45,188
Additions nE 2,877 1,802 2,161 6,840
Disposals = 217) - - 217)
Addition through acquisition BBRERBLRRE

of subsidiary 2,175 - - 2,175

bttty WOAF12A81A M5 2066 6985 53086
Accumulated depreciation: RitiE:
At January 1, 2023 20231818 (13,687) (149) (1,329) (15,159)
Charge for the year FRR (8,884) (57) (136) (9,077)
Disposals L& 84 - - 84
At December 31, 2023/ R2023%E12A318/

January 1, 2024 2024%1A1R (22,487) (206) (1,459) (24,152)
Charge for the year FRMB (8,211) (48) (728) (8,987)
Disposals HE 177 - - 177
Addition through acquisition BBRERBLRRE

of subsidiary (2,159) - - (2,159)
At December 31,2024 ROMERASA (32680) . @4 @181 . (35,121)_
Net book value: REFE:

At December 31, 2024 R2024F12831H 12,255 1,812 4,798 18,865
At December 31, 2023 2023128310 17,613 58 3,365 21,036

20245 NHBRIBBERAT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

11 LEASE 11 #HE
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) NEHMABRAFEZNE
statements of financial position: B
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBTT

Right-of-use assets EREESE
— Buildings —18F 6,070 5,829
Lease liabilities HEAE
— Current — R (6,496) (5,873)
— Non-current — 3ERE (1,761) (34)
(8,257) (5,907)
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets FREEERAFEIMESNWT

is presented below:

Office buildings

WoEF
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBTT

At January 1 M A1H 5,829 46,147
Additions NE 85,942 35,274
Lease terminations HERIE (5,789) (16,655)
Charge for the year F AR (79,912) (58,937)
At December 31 MW12H31H 6,070 5,829

pAtl  JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

11 LEASE (continued)

(a)

(b)

11 #HE (E)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated

(a) MEHUBRRAREZHE

statements of financial position: (continued) (&)
The following table shows the remaining contractual of TRIIRAEBRERE B HE
the Group’s liabilities at each report date: REENEHNEE
2024 2023
2024 2023F
Present Present
value of the value of the
minimum lease  Total minimum  minimum lease  Total minimum
payments lease payments payments lease payments
RkHE RikHEE REHE RS
fIRIERE ik ARNERE A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
Less than 1 year 1ER 6,496 6,673 5873 5,041
After 1 year but within 2 years 1 #%{B2FER 1,459 1,513 34 34
After 2 years but within 5 years 2 %{B5FE R 302 305 - -
Subtotal Nt 8,257 8,491 5,907 5,975
Less: total future interest o RRFIEBERAE
expenses (234) (68)
Present value of lease liabilities ~ HEBEHNHE 8,257 5,907

The analysis of expense items in relation to
leases recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

(b) WiE&GEZHESRFANMX

HEHS T -
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARBTFR

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ~ FAREENITEER 79,912 58,937
Interest expense on lease liabilities HESENFIERX 1,995 1,660
Expense relating to short-term leases HESRHEEENEX 629 96
Gain on lease terminations and modifications & & Lt R 152 Ky Uz (126) (338)
Total st 82,410 60,355

Details of total cash outflow for leases, and the future
cash outflows are set out in Note 16(d) and Note 22(b),

respectively.

HENRSREARAKRRRES
FRHBFED BIER KM 16(d) &
FzE22(b) ©

02458 K ERBRERAT
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B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 12 WP EE

Trademark
Software and patent License Total
B HERET T @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT
Cost: 7% 38
At January 1, 2023 M2023F1 A1 H 28,788 6,024 - 34,812
Additions e 1,321 1 - 1,322
At December 31, 2023/ R2023E12831R,/

January 1, 2024 20245181A 30,109 6,025 - 36,134
Additions = 822 2 - 824
Disposals HE - - - -
Addition through acquisition of ~ EBWEKBATRE

subsidiary (note 16(e)) (KizE16()) 2 97 36,187 36,286
At December 31, 2024 M2024F12 83108 30,933 6,124 36,187 73,244
Accumulated amortisation: RaHEs
At January 1, 2023 R202351818H (25,867) (3.274) . (29,141)
Charge for the year FRMk (2,189) (2,751) - (4,940)
Disposals HE - - - -
At December 31, 2023/ R2023E 128318,/

January 1, 2024 202451818 (28,056) (6,025) - (34,081)
Charge for the year ERMR (1,944) ) - (1,953)
Disposals HE - - - -
Addition through acquisition of ~ EBUEEHBARRE

subsidiary (note 16(e)) (KizE16()) 7)) C)] - (11)
MDecombers1, 2004 ROWAETRNE o0 60 - (660
Net book value: ARESE :

At December 31, 2024 M2024F12 8310 931 81 36,187 37,199
At December 31, 2023 202312 831H 2,053 - - 2,053

JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND
STRUCTURED ENTITIES

(a)

Investments in subsidiaries:

13

The following list contains only the particulars of
subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets
or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is
ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Company names

TR

Subsidiaries:
HEAR:

JF Smartinvest (BVI) Limited

HERBVERAT

Silver Runner Limited

Silver Runner Limited

Fine Joy Ventures Limited

Fine Joy Ventures Limited

JF SmartTrade (BVI) Limited

JF SmartTrade (BV) Limited

JF Smartinvest (HK) Limited

MRER (ER)ERLT

Place of incorporation

or other establishment/

principal place of

operation/kind of legal  Date of

entity incorporation
EARRRILE

Rbriss/

TR/ BN AR AS
BVI/N/A/Limited liability ~ May 14, 2021

company
ZBRABE/TER/ 202155814
BREAAT

BVIN/AVLimited liabilty
company

RBRLBE/TEE/ 21%E5A148
BREFAT

May 14, 2021

BVIN/A/Limited liabilty ~ June 8, 2021
company

ZBRLHE/FEH/ 20215678R
BREAAT

BVIN/AVLimited iabilty ~ Oct 29, 2024
company

RERZBE/TEE/ 204105298
BREFAT

Hong Kong/Hong June 1,2021
Kong/Limited liability
company

BE/BE/HR 221%6A1A
BN

Particulars of
Registered and
paid-up capital

iR
R

USDI/NIl

USD50,000/
USD50,000
50000£7/
50000£7

USD50,000/
USD50,000
50000£7,/
50,000%7

USDI/Nil

HKD1/Ni

1%7/%

REBAS REHEEEEDN
R&E

(a)

Group’s
effective
interest

t58
EReER

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

2024F 3 MBHERIERBRAT

R BATRIRE -
UTHREGAETEFELERE
XiE EEIRENMBAR
& BRESEHA  BRIFAER
HERHEER o

Held Held
by the by the
Company  Subsidiary

Principal
activities

HEAT

FATRE fE IRRH

100% - Investment holding

REER

RSU Holding Entity

XRHRHER

TRER

o

RSU Holding Entity

XRHROE
REER

100% - Investment holding

RERR
- 100%

Investment holding

REER
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B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND 13 RHBATREBHERD
STRUCTURED ENTITIES (continued) #& (&)
(a) Investments in subsidiaries: (continued) (a) WMMBATIEKRE : (&)
Place of incorporation
or other establishment/
principal place of Particulars of  Group’s Held Held
operation/kind of legal ~ Date of Registeredand  effective by the bythe  Principal
Company names entity incorporation paid-up capital interest Company Subsidiary activities
EAE BB
Kbmiiss/ R AEE WBAT
ASER BB itfeii A8 BREKHRE ERER X0TNF e IEER
JF (Shanghai Information China/China/Limited July 23, 2021 RMB500,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Technology Co., Ltd (*JF liability company HKD500,000
Shanghai) f7%5( L)/ S 5l
BIRAF (notes (i) and (ii)
B% (LRGRAMERAT  wE/4E/ER 221 %E7A23A AR% REER
(T L) (M) R i) EIAT 500,000,007,/
500,007
Shanghai Fudong Culture China/China/Limited ~ Qctober 10, 2009 RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Media promotion
Media Co., Ltd. (‘Fudong’) liability company RMB10,000,000
DEEILERERAT
(notes (i) and (ii)
LEEgLERERAR T/ AR 20095108108 AKE10,0000007/ jFBsE
(FE3 J) (=) i) EfAAH ARE10,000,0007
Shanghai Jiufangyun Intelligent ~ China/China/Limited ~ August 19, 1996 RMB100,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Financial software
Technology Co., Ltd. liability company RMB100,000,000 sales and services
(‘Jiufangyun’) EENHEBRM
HAERA (formerly known as
Shanghai Xinhuitong Investment
Consulting Co,, Ltd. (L BHER
RERHERLF) (notes () and
(i)
LENAEBRNEARLAA (L B/ 8/ AR 1996%8A19R  AR#100,0000007/ SRBHHERRH
FE)(HRLENERRERE BELF AR#100,000,0007

262

ARAR) (WO R i)
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B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND 13 RHBASREEMHERD
STRUCTURED ENTITIES (continued) #"E (&)
(a) Investments in subsidiaries: (continued) (a) WMMBATIAKRE : (&)
Place of incorporation
or other establishment/
principal place of Particulars of ~ Group's Held Held
operation/kind of legal  Date of Registeredand  effective by the bythe Principal
Company names entity incorporation paid-up capital ~interest Company Subsidiary activities
A
Kfomiiss,/ R AEE G
ARER TEEY /B itfeii B8 YREKHRE ERER X0TNF Ke IEEH
Shanghai Yingma Computer China/China/Limited ~ October 19,2018 RMB100,000,000/ 100% = 100%  Operation agency
Network Technology Co., Ltd. liability company RMBA60,000,000 services
(“Yingma') LERBHEHEE
BEARAT (notes () and (i)
LERGHERGENEAR  P8/1E/5R 2018F10A 198 ARE 100,000,007/ EefERE
DR (RS (£ i) G ARH60,000,0007
Shanghai Shangjie Network China/China/Limited ~ April 30, 2021 RMB20,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Multi-channel
Technology Co., Ltd. (‘Shangjie”) liability company RMB20,000,000 Network operation
LERRAENEERAT
(notes (i) and (ii)
LEBRBENERRAR T/ /AR A2154A308  ARE20,0000007/ SRERGEE
(F5.) (RO Ri) B0 AR20,000,0007
Shanghai Juxinge Network China/China/Limited ~ May 31, 2021 RMB22,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Multi-channel
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Juxinge”)  liability company RMB22,000,000 Network operation
LERERAENEARLT
(notes (i (i) and (v)
LEREBRLNEARDT tE/hE /AR A21E5A318  ARE22,0000007/ SRERGES
(T8 )) (WEE0)~ (iR BT AEH22,0000007
Shanghai Pianjin Network China/China/Limited April 30, 2021 RMB20,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Information and
Technology Co., Ltd. (‘Pianjin’) ~ liability company RMB30,000 technology
LESERENEERAR
(notes (i) and (ii)
LESEREREARLA e/ AR A2154R308  ARE?20,0000007/ EEREH
(&R 1) (R () Rei) BARA AR#300007T

2024F 3 MBHERIERBRAT
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B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND 13 PMBASIRGIEHEREN
STRUCTURED ENTITIES (continued) "E (&)
(a) Investments in subsidiaries: (continued) (@) MKBATMRE : (&)

Place of incorporation
or other establishment/

principal place of Particulars of ~ Group’s Held Held
operation/kind of legal  Date of Registeredand effective by the bythe  Principal
Company names entity incorporation paid-up capital  interest Company Subsidiary activities
G4
Kbmiiss/ iR AEE WELAT
ASER TEEEY B itfeii A8 YREKHRE ERER X0TNF K% IR
Held through Contractual
Arrangement:
BRRHZERE .
Shanghai Beixun Industrial Co,, ~ China/China/China/ November 28, RMB80,000,000/ 100% - 100%  value-added
Ltd. (‘Shanghai Beixun”) E¥§8  Limited liability 2011 RMB80,000,000 telecommunications
HELERAT (hotes () (ijand  company business
()
LEEBERERAG(LEE  +E/48/ER 0115118288  ARA80,0000007/ BESEEE
81 (B35 » ()R () BAAE ABH#80,000,0007
Zhangzhong Weishi (Beijing) China/China/China/ March 1, 2006 RMB19,900,000/ 100% - 100%  value-added
Technology Co., Ltd. Limited liability RMB19,900,000 telecommunications
(‘Zhangzhong Weishi") E4 %% company business, audiovisual
() BHBRAT (notes () (i) network services
and (iv) and production of
radio and television
program services
VMR (LR)REERAY  HE/hE/ER 065381 ARE199000007/ BESEEE RE
(TEhEi ) (M) k)  EEAT ABR#19,900,0007 PERBRERSR
FIEEES

JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND
STRUCTURED ENTITIES (continued)

(@) Investments in subsidiaries: (continued)

Notes:

(i) These entities are limited liability companies established in
the PRC.

(ii) This entity was registered as a foreign-invested enterprise
under the laws and regulations in the PRC.

@iy  The official name of these entities is in Chinese. The English
name is for identification purpose only.

(ivy  On April 10, 2024, the Group entered into a series of
contractual arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements”),
to wholly acquire shares of Shanghai Beixun and its
subsidiary with the consideration of RMB38,420,000 (note
16(e)). The Group was able to obtain control of Shanghai
Beixun and its subsidiary on April 10, 2024 (the Acquisition
Date) and started to consolidate the acquiree thereon.

The Group is engaged in offering investment decision-
making solutions to its customers by equipping investors
with financial knowledge and market experience via online
investor content services, which entail providing recorded
videos or online live streaming courses. The purpose of
the acquisition of the Group is to acquire Dissemination
of Audiovisual Programs on Information Networks (‘AVP
License”) and Operation of Radio and Television Programs
(“RTPPO License”) to provide personalized customization
services by itself through a forementioned technology
and services, in order to strengthen business cooperation
and improve overall efficiency. The acquisition meets the
definition of assets acquisitions. Further details of the net
assets acquired are set out in note 16(e).

R BAT REGHEMERDN

®’E (&)

(a) MKBATMRE : (&)
Bt 5T

@

(i)

(i

(iv)

<
‘mﬂ}
i

ZEERBNETEWRTX -
E@X%TET\E%‘J

MR2024F4 108  X&EE
RN —RINEHRHE ([EH%
BEl) - BAAR¥38,420,0007T
MREZEWE L/gHs R H
i A R E Ak (HiEE16(e)) ©
ANEER2024F4 A108 (WK
E%EIHJ%)HX g aEEh K HHT

ARG - Wtttk s
/a\ﬁ?%&%l,ﬂ%ﬁ o

AEEBNREPRHEIRER
RERNE  BEBLKREE
AR R (BIEREESREG R
S EEERE)  RREE
RSB ABMTIHER -
SEHKE R NEREESH
HEBEGERGEFAE ([FES
WEERREHETAIED R
EEERE B LA E
(EEERGE LR
&) BB R R RIS 1R
HAEIE(EE BIBRTS - PASNSR2E
BAE  REERMEX - 2K
BUREERENEE - AH
FREEEUF B ERE — S FHEH
RIIEE16(e) ©

o
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

13

266

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND
STRUCTURED ENTITIES (continued)

(a)

Investments in subsidiaries: (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iv)

(continued)

According to applicable PRC laws and regulations, the AVP
License and RTPPO License is subject to restriction on
foreign ownership, JF Information (“WFOE”), an indirectly
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
Contractual Arrangements with Shanghai Beixun and its
registered shareholders to be able to exercise control over
Shanghai Beixun and consolidate all the economic benefits
generated by Shanghai Beixun and its subsidiary.

The equity interests of Shanghai Beixun are legally held
by individuals and companies who act as registered
shareholders of Shanghai Beixun on behalf of the WFOE.
The Contractual Arrangements include an Exclusive
Services Agreement, an Exclusive Option Agreement, an
Exclusive Option Transfer Agreement, an Equity Pledge
Agreement, a Shareholders’ Rights Proxy Agreement, Loan
Agreement, Spouse Undertakings, (collectively, the “VIE
Agreements”). Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements,
the WFOE has the power to direct activities that most
significantly impact the Shanghai Beixun and its subsidiary,
including appointing key management, setting financial
and operating policies, exerting financial controls and
transferring profits or assets out of Shanghai Beixun and
its subsidiary at its discretion. The Company has the right
to consolidate the financial results of Shanghai Beixun and
Zhangzhong Weishi into the Group’s financial information
as if they were the Company’s subsidiaries.

On March 14, 2024, the deregistration of Juxinge, a
subsidiary of the Group, was completed.

JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024
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(a)
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(#8)
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RRAIREEENE R RES
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND 13 PMIBASIRGEMEEDN
STRUCTURED ENTITIES (continued) B&E (&)
(b) Investments in structured entities: (b) MEEMERNRSE :
The Group also consolidated structured entities as WMEE14(VI) TR E - AEBTE
disclosed in note 14(vi). PHEEBMER -

14 FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR 14 BRAFEFIEBHEHFTA

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BRI EREE
2024 2023
The Group REEE 20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
izt AREBTRT ARBET T

Funds H2e (i 549,741 686,776

Wealth management products HEER (ii) 61,410 10

Listed equity securities FHRARE S (iii) 53,129 386,612

Structured deposit ERMTER 800 -

Bonds (6 (iv) - 138,175

Asset management plan EEEETE (v) - 105,858

ABS BEEETES - 5,101

665,080 1,322,532

2024 2023

The Company ¥ /N 20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

MiEE ARETR ARET T

Funds e (i) 252,557 515,621
252,557 515,621

Notes: BitsE

(i) Funds are managed by fund management companies, the 0] ESHESEENREE HBKRE
underlying investments are mainly restricted shares, government FEZAZBRHRG « BUSES - 208
bonds, corporate bonds and other fixed income investments. All BEHEREMEEREIRE - TEZE
of which have readily determinable fair values and are measured BREHEEIREENATE TR
at fair value. Funds can be redeemed upon demand. AFERE - ESAIRERED -

(i)  Wealth management products issued by banks mainly invest in (i) RITBITHNEVERTIZRENRE
money market and fixed income products, including government MEREEREER  BREBGE
bonds, treasury bills, and other fixed income investments. Wealth % - BESHREMETERERE - B
management products can be redeemed upon demand. HERAREER o

20245 NHBRIBBERAT
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

14 FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

(i

(vi)

(vii)

268

Listed equity securities include listed stocks, funds and tradable
convertible bonds. All of which have readily determinable fair
values and are measured at fair value.

Bonds include government bonds, corporate bonds, and private
equity bonds. All of bonds have readily determinable fair values
and are measured at fair value.

Asset management plans are managed by fund management
companies, the underlying investments are mainly listed
stocks and fixed income investments, all of which have readily
determinable fair values and are measured at fair value.

The Group determines whether or not to consolidate structured
entities depending on whether the Group has control over them.

The Group enjoys equity in structured entities initiated by third-
party institutions through direct or indirect holding of investments.
The unconsolidated structured entities mainly including funds,
asset management plans and wealth management products. The
purpose of the Group holding these structured entities is to obtain
investment returns, capital appreciation, or a combination of
both. There was no contractual liquidity arrangement, guarantee
or other commitment between the Group and unconsolidated
structured entities.

As at December 31, 2024, the interests held by the Group
in the consolidated and unconsolidated structured entities
are RMB825,283,000 and RMB611,151,000 (2023:
RMB1,255,439,000 and RMB792,644,000), respectively.

As at December 31, 2024, the individual investment exceeding
5% of total assets before the consolidation of the structured
entities is as follows:

Panhou Weiran Wisdom Select Private
Securities Investment
Fund No.10

AERSREES

BEFR-SBHE105%

14 BATEIEERSHIA
RIS AE (5)

(i)

(iv)

(V)

(vii)

ETRABSBELTRE  ZER
XS ARBES - RS HR
ABFHARSREEHAFE - L
RATEE -

EHRERAES  ARESRLE
BB - FERSEFHAE IR
BROATE - WRATEHE -

BEREFIRESEEARERE
HEAKRE T2/ EMREREE WS
RE  MMARSREVERINERE
WAFE - WA FERS -

AEERBEASEEEEHNEBLEE
BIRRERDEAB TR -

AEERBEEIBERARENE
BEZTHRBHRRINEBIEER
HHE - SER BT ERTIERR
Ee BETEAINMEVER &
SERBEZREEBEERNANER
TRESREDRKEANILE  HWE
A o NEBEIESHERILER
BB A KDRBNE LT - IR
H it

R2024F12A318  XEBRE
HRIEEHEBEERPEANE
=P Rl B ARK-S25,283,0007T &
AE®611,151,0007T (20234 :
AER#1,255,439,0007T K AR
792,644,0007T) ©

A2024F12H31H - BBEEME
BRHRABEESYNEEREN
T :

2024
2024 £F
RMB’000
AREBTT

214,443
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15 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 15 FEFIRIAR HibFEURIE

RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
The Group AEE MiaE ARETR ARET T
Prepayment for acquisitions (note 23)  UXEETE{TF0IE (HizE23) 36,400 63,552

Amounts due from related parties, net FEUREREE 5 708 -
of loss allowance HEREEEE (i) 34,809 35,675
Prepayment to suppliers FEHL R RIE 28,992 54,950
VAT refund receivable FEWUBEBRB 24,688 9,720
Deposits REFEE 15,357 14,871
Employee loans EEER 4,750 11,600
Receivables from IT services FEWRITARS TR E 683 9,497
Loan to a third party BFE=/EXR - 23,831
Others Hith 18,920 3,639
164,599 227,335
2024 2023
The Company b /N 2024 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AREET T
Amounts due from related parties FE UL BE B 5 FRIE 7,632 5,378
Prepayment to suppliers FE(T R ER RRIE 1,265 851
Deposits RES 364 181
Others Hith 206 975
Total et 9,467 7,385

20245 NHBRIBBERAT
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15

270

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 15
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note:

(i) As at December 31, 2024, the nature of amounts due from
related parties is as follows:

R AR AR
AE
MIEE

() 72024512318 - IR TR

HREEMT ¢
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTR ARBET T

Amounts due from related parties e BRESE 5 FRIE

- Trade -85 34,809 35,675

- Non-trade —-¥FES - =
34,809 35,675

(i) Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
prepayments and other receivables during the year is as follows:

(i)  FRBERETARFIA R E MK FRIAR

ERBERESIT
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTR ARBET T

Balance at January 1 A1 B 1B ESER 2,162 =
Impairment losses (reversal)/recognised (BE)  FRREEE (1,454) 2,162
Balance at December 31 12 831 B M&EeR 708 2,162
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B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
RESTRICTED CASH, AND OTHER CASH

FLOW INFORMATION
(a)

16 RMERREFRY - TRH
ReRAMBEEREEH

Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) RMERRLEEFEVEIE:
2024 2023
The Group AEE 20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Cash at banks RITEE 2,161,512 737,036
Cash equivalents (i) WEZEEY() 46,976 8,630
Cash on hand FHRE 174 204
Cash and cash equivalents HEeERRESEEY 2,208,662 745,870
2024 2023
The Company b N/NC | 20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBTT
Cash at banks IRITHE 72,678 108,284
Cash and cash equivalents HERBESEEY 72,678 108,284

(i) Cash equivalents represents cash balances kept in third
party payment companies, which can be withdrawn by the

Group at any time.

Restricted cash

(b)

Restricted cash

ZRERE

(b)

ReSEMEFRRE=A XN AE
HIR B AERR - AR B ATREREZER o

ZIREIRE

2024
2024
RMB’000
AREBTRT

121,668

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARET T

303

Restricted cash consists of funds that are contractually
restricted as to usage or withdrawal due to regulatory
requirement. The Group’s restricted cash are all
denominated in RMB and are all placed at financial
institutions in the mainland of the PRC. The Group has
presented restricted cash separately from cash and
cash equivalents on the consolidated statements of

financial position.

2024F 3 MBHERIERBRAT

ZRFRSEEHREEREM
ZRNRFEARRENNES -
AEENZREBREZHUAAR
WEHE - A2 MEHRRPE A
M E RS - REBCREHH
BRAKRPUREESRBESEEY
THZFIZRFERL -
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B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, 16 IRERIINEEEY « ZTRHI
RESTRICTED CASH, AND OTHER CASH RNERHEMBIRERESH
FLOW INFORMATION (continued) (#8)

(c) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (c) MeBipiRFBREERFRaE
generated from operations: iR :
2024 2023
20245 2023F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFRT AR®BTR

Profit before taxation BRER AR 305,409 206,741
Adjustments for: BT & B 2
Depreciation charge wEEA 8,987 9,077
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEE 1,953 4,940
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREESENITE 79,912 58,937
Finance cost BA R AR 1,995 1,660
Net realised and unrealised gain from BRAFEFTEEEEZBTA

financial investments at fair BalEriRENSEIR

value through profit or loss R AREIE W R FRE 64,315 (15,349)
Interest income FIE UL A (17,790) (12,834)
Dividends income from investments RENREWA (238) (166)
Gain on lease terminations HEL RIS

and modifications (126) (338)
Gain on sale of property, plant and HEWE BMERERE

equipment, intangible assets and B EEREMIER

other non-current assets BRI (15) (23)
Equity-settled share-based LR EEURMGH

payment expenses HERNZpxX 78,089 128,910
Exchange loss/(gain) EREE (has) 8,821 (568)
Impairment (reversal)/loss on receivables {5 FR{E (BE) 8% (1,454) 2,162
Changes in working capital EEEaEE
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and ~ FE{SF/IE K Hth FE U FRIE

other receivables WA, (3Eh0) 73,279 (24,498)
Increase in contract liabilities BRE/‘EEM 799,580 112,170
Increase/(decrease) in accrued expenses fEFTE AR EMERE

and other liabilities #2h0, GRd) 257,549 (13,893)
Cash generated from LEEBMEES

operating activities 1,660,266 456,928
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B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, 16 HEREEEY  ZRHI
RESTRICTED CASH, AND OTHER CASH ReRHMRSREEN
FLOW INFORMATION (continued) (&)

(d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (d) MEFEBRELBBHR:

financing activities:

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRFVNAEERETHFESE
from financing activities, including both cash and non- EENEY  BRERREKRFRS
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities BE  METBAELEEELR
are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash EREBCLIARRBERESE
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash RAEBEHRERERIES
flow statement as cash flows from financing activities. RMETEESRESRENERE -

Lease liabilities

HEaE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARBT T

Balance at January 1, ®1 A1 8846k 5,907 48,520

Changes from financing cash flows: BIER&REFRELES) :
Capital element of lease rentals paid TREENAREHD (77,677) (60,894)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ZHHEESNRE D (1,995) (1,660)

Total changes from financing cash flows BEBREREFMESE

ggEw (79,672) (62,554)

Exchange adjustments ERAE ~ [ o
Other changes: Hith 28 :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering & B AT M HFEAIM

into new leases during the year HESEIEM 85,942 35,274
Lease terminations HELIE (5,915) (16,993)
Interest expenses FIERI 1,995 1,660
Totalotherchanges 1 Htgmesm 82022 19,941
Balance at December 31 ®12H31 BRY4EER 8,257 5,907
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B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, 16 IREREZFEY « TR
RESTRICTED CASH, AND OTHER CASH ReRHMRSREEN
FLOW INFORMATION (continued) (&)

(e) Net cash outflow arising from the acquisition of (e) WHE—REMBATEENRE
a subsidiary e 2]
The recognised amounts of assets acquired and RWEBEHEARE B IENEE
liabilities at the date of acquisition of the DREENERIASEEBREN
subsidiary comprise the following: o
2024
20244
RMB’000
ARETRT
Intangible assets (note 12) \mERE (fHEE12) 36,275
Financial assets measured at fair value ~ RAFEFEBESFHTA
through profit or loss ERerEE 39,924
Accrued expenses and other current EstERAREMREEE
liabilities (39,911)
Others Hih 2,132
Total consideration A 38,420
Prepayment from the previous year FFEEZEARIE (23,052)
Prepayment for acquisition of other W E A B A B 2 B TR
subsidiary (note 24(c)) (Ff5E24(c)) 36,400

Net cash outflow arising from the KiE—EM B AT ELMR SR HFE
acquisition of a subsidiary 51,768
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

17 EHEE

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARETT

Advances received from customers EEF B8R 1,488,902 689,322
Movements in contract liabilities BHAaRBES

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT AR®T T

Balance at January 1, »1 81 B WEeR 689,322 577,152
Additions iz 3,625,219 2,536,175
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result FREZNEDS

of recognising revenue during the year REHNEBHKE

that was included in the contract liabilities SIBENEERD

at the beginning of the year (479,847) (481,074)
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result G F R a5 2h

of recognising revenue during the same year &K &G (1,826,139) (1,484,313)
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result EESEEEEE K

of refund to customers EHRNEaERD (519,653) (458,618)
Balance at December 31 12 B 31 B &5 eR 1,488,902 689,322

The contract liabilities relate to the advance subscription fees
received from customers, for which revenue is recognised
over time. Subscription fees of RMB2,536 million and
RMB3,625 million were received in the year 2023 and 2024
respectively, of which, RMB1,484 million and RMB1,826
million were recognised as revenue in the same year.

EHNEEHEEEFWENEMSTEE
BE  WRMERERER - R2023F K
2024 F R RN EIFT BB ARYE2,536 B
BT AR¥3625HEEB T ERHAR
#1484 HETR ARY1,826B 8T
REFEERBWRE o
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B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

18 ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER

276

18 FEstERRHEMBREEE

CURRENT LIABILITIES
2024 2023
The Group AREE 2024 2023%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MisE AREBTR ARET T
Accrued payroll and welfare st TEREF 203,177 90,943
Advances from customers BEEBX 151,214 6,849
VAT and surcharges payable BB ER R NE 53,183 27,811
Accrued internet traffic st BB RARERERx
procurement expense 44,859 14,282
Other accrued expenses HitnfEStEAR
and other payables HAh T FRIE 11,179 17,071
Amount due to employee EEERIE 2,431 9,112
Amounts due to related parties FEAS Ba s 5 7 IE (i) - 2,516
Total st 466,043 168,584
2024 2023
The Company RN F] 20245 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARET T
Other accrued expenses and HittfEstBAR
other payables H At FRIE 1,387 3,053
Accrued payroll and welfare st TERER 208 204
Total “ast 1,595 3,257
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER
CURRENT LIABILITIES (continued)

Note:

(i) As at December 31, the nature of amounts due to related parties

8 ETERRHEMKIER

(%)
Fi s -

0] W12 A31 8 - B RS RIEAE

is as follows: N
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARET T

Amounts due to related parties FE 1 BRI S RRIE

— Trade -2 - 2,516
- Non-trade -kE5 - =
- 2,516

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

On February 3, 2023, the Company granted all Awards under
the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme with an aggregate of 5,686 Shares,
which adjusted to 28,430,000 Shares upon completion of
the IPO. The RSUs granted would vest in tranches from the
grant date over a certain service period, on specific service
condition that the employees remain in service.

At the reporting date, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of RSUs that vest.
During the year of 2024, 7,110,000 Shares are forfeited due
to the vesting conditions are not satisfied and corresponding
expense of RMB32,228,000 are reversed.

On September 27, 2024 and October 14, 2024, the Company
has adopted the 2024 Share Incentive Scheme with an
aggregate of 1,753,177 Shares. The RSUs granted would vest
in tranches from the grant date over a certain service period,
on specific service condition that the employees remain in
service.

19 LIERERE UG BERL

X5

M2023F2H3H » ARFARHERD
HBEAZRERMOEMTETHME
RS 5,686 R 0 REIRABE
EX K% A28,430,000 IR °
SR HZ R IR BN AR E B B
ERERBHRASHFEE (RBIRKE
R REESFERYE)

RBEBH  FNEEHERBEAIW
HREFHAZE  URBFAEBIRE
BREMHNEREE - R2024%F >
7,110,000 B% B% 19 B 7R 32 5K 55 B 1R 1
MERW > WEHOEERZ AR
32,228,000 °

AR2024F 9 F27HK%2024F 10814
H » AQTCEHAM2024 F RD BB
2 HFREHA,753,177TRKRD - °F
HZREIR D ENS R L BH#EE
BERBEERAD RS (RERIEE
HRESFHER)
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B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

19 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 19
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Set out below are the movements in the number of equity
instruments under the equity incentive plan:

AR S H LUk 6 B BT
X5 (&)

T SCHB B S 88 T T 28
BHEE :

2024 2023

20244 20234
At the beginning of the year READ 28,430,000 -
Exercised B17E - -
Granted [BEsdy 1,753,177 28,430,000
Forfeited (=934 (7,110,000) =
Cancelled [SEEaiz] - _
At the end of the year RER 23,073,177 28,430,000

The total expenses recognized in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for RSUs granted to the Group’s employees
under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme and 2024 Share Incentive
Scheme are RMB78,089,000 and RMB128,910,000 during the
year of 2024 and 2023, respectively.

20 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 20
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement
of financial position represents:

2024 F 2023 F - FIREEH X AR
BERZREIRMDEMTEIRK2024F
BB ST 2R FAEE S TSRS
BAOBMMERNREHHEERNBE R
ORI A ARYET78,089,000 TR AR
#£128,910,0007T °

SHHBRRRPEIFEH

(a) EHMHBRARPHIENIABIE

35 :
2024 2023
2024%F 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBTT

PRC Corporate Income Tax FEI TSR

At January 1 M A1H 47,218 19,400
Charged to profit or loss (note 6) RIEEINBR (iEE6) 150,545 40,764
Payments during the year FREA (32,454) (12,946)
At December 31 M®12831H 165,309 47,218
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B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

20 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 20 AHMBRKRRPEIFREH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (&)
(continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) EEDREBEEHESEERAR :
The components of deferred tax assets recognised REGI BRI REZN
in the consolidated statements of financial position EERIBE EMWAHRI 2
and the movements during the year are as follows: URFERSEBIERMOT :
Other
Changes deductible
in the Contract Credit loss temporary
fair value liabilities allowance differences Total
Deferred tax Hibai0H
arising from: BEREELR: ATESS AMBRE EEBEEE | ERhHEE st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETE  ARMTR  ARBTR = ARETR  ARETR

At January 1, 2023 R2023E1818 344 86,572 - (8,841) 78,075

Credited to profit or ST AR (FiE6(a)
loss (note 6(a) 342 16,826 13 7438 24,742

At December 31, 2023 and 12023%12A31R
January 1, 2024 R202451 718 686 108,398 136 (1,403) 102,817

Credited to profit or SRS (KE6(a)
loss (note 6(a)) (967) 119,937 (30) (1,439) 117,501

At December 31,2024 7A2024F12531H (281) 223,335 106 (2,842) 220,318
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B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

20 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 20
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:
(continued)

Net deferred tax assets recognised A& FFEI IR REZH
in the consolidated statements BEEBIREEFE

SHABRARPIIFES

(%)

(b) CHEDEEHRIEEERAE :

(%)
2024 2023
2024%F 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBTT

of financial position 220,318 102,817
Net deferred tax liabilities RE G RAR R R IR

recognised in the consolidated EEFIEEEFEE

statements of financial position - -
At the end of year RER 220,318 102,817
The Group has not recognised deferred tax 12023F % 2024512 A 31

assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
RMB137,548,370 and RMB280,295,532 as at
December 31, 2023 and 2024, as it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the losses
can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdiction before they expire.
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B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

20 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 20 SHIAFBKRRRPIFREH

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (#8)

(continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) EHEPELEHRESEREE:

(continued) (&)
At December 31, 2024, temporary differences M2024F12831H
relating to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries RPE AR EKEB AR
in Mainland China amounted to RMB1,020,155,016 Z 1 K 2k E R S R
(2023: RMB796,712,992). Deferred tax liabilities CERMEEZEEARARYE
have not been recognised in respect of the tax 1,020,155,0167T (2023
that would be payable on the distribution of these F: AR®796,712,992
retained profits as the Company controls the JT) ° HRARREFZE
dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has MEBLARZREME i
been determined that it is probable that these ERELEAFERNRRR
profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable AREFE D KZE R
future. Jﬁﬂljt*/?fm KZEB T
% FE A R B TE T SRR IE Y
BHEE -
21 CAPITAL AND RESERVES 21 EXRfEE
(@) Share capital (@) MK=xE
2024 2023
20245 2023
No.of shares No.of shares
('000) RMB'000 (000) RMB'000

R (Fik) AREFT  REEFR ARETFR

Ordinary shares, issued BETRYREER
and fully paid

At 1 January RK1A1H 466,087 4 81 :
Shares issued BRTRHD - - 59,937 :
Shares repurchased BEERG (17,730) () - -
Effect of Capitalization Issue BERCBTHZE - - 406,069 4
At 31 December W12A31H 448,357 4 466,087 4
* The balance represents an amount less than RMB1,000. * B SRIEL R ARK1,000

JCHYE %R ©
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

21 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

282

(a)

Share capital (continued)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands in May 2021 with an authorised share capital
of HK$20,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 shares of a
nominal or par value of HK$0.00001 each.

On July 20, 2021, 81,230 shares were allotted and
issued to shareholders of the Company with par value of
HK$0.00001 each.

Upon completion of the IPO, the Company issued
4,999 shares for each share and issued 59,937,000
new ordinary shares at par value of HK$0.00001 each
for cash consideration of HK$17.00 each, and raised
gross proceeds of approximately RMB904,187,000. The
share issuance costs paid and payable mainly include
underwriting commissions, lawyers’ fees, reporting
accountants’ fee and other related costs, which were
incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance
of the new shares and were treated as a deduction
against the share premium arising from the issuance.
The respective share capital amount was approximately
RMB4,000 and share premium arising from the issuance
was approximately RMB853,572,000, net of the share
issuance costs.

During the year of 2024, the Company repurchased a
total of 17,730,000 ordinary shares that had been listed
on the stock exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The
total amount to repurchase these ordinary shares was
approximately equivalent to RMB181,468,000. As at
December 31, 2024, a total of 17,730,000 repurchased
ordinary shares have been cancelled.
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(a)

& (48)

AATR2021 F5 ERHERHE
ML 0 SEERAA20,00058
JT » 9 #2,000,000,000 8% & AR H
B 5850.00001 78 TTHIRR 1D ©

202157 H208 © #581,230%
IR E{E0.00001 % 7T H IR 17 EL
BRBITTARDTRE °

REXAHBEZTRE  &AAQ
AMERRMDET4 999K
7 WELEIR17.008 TR E
R1E3£1759,937,000 R R E
fE£0.00001 BT ZBAR -
EEFESRELAFNOARE
904,187,0007T ° B K EATHY
BREOBTRANETECESHER
& EEE - BHRBTAESE
BRA  HBBRTHREEEMN
PIE A - RIEBBITEEN
IR 10 s E WY HR o HIBRAR 192517
BA% > HERASBENAAR
#4,0007T 0 BITEENR DR
BH A AREES53,572,0007T ©

R2024F » XAFHER
17,730,000 R ERFREBEH AR
SHERATD LETHZSER - B
EZETERNEASTENSERA
FE#5181,468,0007T ° 142024 F
128318 » £317,730,0008% 8
LBRE R o
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85

21 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

Reserves

Silver Runner Limited and Fine Joy Ventures
Limited was incorporated in the BVI with limited
liability and wholly-owned by the Company’s
ultimate owners (“RSU Holding Entity”), holding
ordinary shares for and on behalf of employees
under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme and 2024 Share
Incentive Scheme (note 19).

As the Company has power to govern the relevant
activities of Pre-IPO RSU Scheme and 2024 Share
Incentive Scheme, and can derive benefits from
the contributions of the eligible employees who
are awarded with the shares under the Pre-IPO
RSU Scheme and 2024 Share Incentive Scheme.
Therefore, the ordinary shares of 5,686 issued to
RSU Holding Entity, which adjusted to 28,430,000
Shares upon completion of the IPO was accounted
as treasury shares according to IAS 32. For the
avoidance of doubt, such 28,430,000 were not
treasury shares under Rule 1.01 of the Listing
Rules as they were not repurchased and held by
the Company or its subsidiaries.

The capital reserve mainly comprises the following:

- the portion of the grant date fair value of
restricted share units (“RSUs”) granted
to employees that has been recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for share-based payments in note
1(n)(ii); and

- the share premium arising from the issuance
as set out in note 21(a).

21 HXRf#E (E)
fittE

Silver Runner Limited &
Fine Joy Ventures Limited
ARABREZEBEMK
YHERQE » WHARA
ANBREEAZEHES
(IZRFIRMDEMLFEE
Bl REBRAAERE
A PR&EI R D E st &R
2024 F R 10 BB =T &) (Pt =t
19)ARKKREEFEEE

B ©

HRAABREREERE R
AHBEAZREIRMDE
T2 %2024 F K7
B Et BRI ABREEE > A
RBBEERXLAHEBEANT
PR #I R 10 BB (v 5T &I 2 2024
FROBETEER TR
BHEEREENERF
EEAZ - At > @ZR
HIRMDEMNFEERET
H5,686 R EER (ERE
RABBREZTHERAESR
28,430,000 8% B 17 ) 1R 1%
ElFR &5t 2 RISE328% A BR
NEETFERG  AREER
RS+ $%28,430,000 % ;% 12
Wk EREBIZET.01RFR
EMEFR®D  BAZE
P& 49 3 3F B 7K 4 B 2k H
BARBEEEE -

EXRRBETEBEATS
Ig :

- RBEERHNZRSF
B& A2 B8 A ([ 2 PR A%
PE ) WIRH B
AFEERERIEM
&F1(n)(ii) BT E ik BABR
7 BB FRETR
A0S 5T UK T R R
D &

- ME21(RBE T
EENRGEE -
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

21 EFXRfEE (E)
(b) Mkt ()

21 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) Reserves (continued)

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 1(q).

Statutory reserve is established in accordance
with the relevant PRC rules and regulations and
the articles of association of the companies
comprising the Group which are incorporated in
the PRC.

In accordance with the PRC Company Law,
certain subsidiaries of the Group which are
domestic enterprises are required to allocate
10% of their profit after taxation, as determined
in accordance with the relevant PRC accounting
standards, to their respective statutory reserves
until the reserves reach 50% of their respective
registered capital. For the entity concerned,
statutory reserves is non-distributable other
than in liquidation and can be used to make
good previous years’ losses, if any, and may be
converted into capital in proportion to the existing
equity interests of investors, provided that the
balance of the reserve after such conversion is not
less than 25% of the entity’s registered capital.
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21 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Dividends

On March 27, 2025, the Board of directors
proposed the payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.33 per share, amounting to approximately
HK$148 million, for the year ended December 31,
2024. The proposed final divided is subject to the
approval by shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The final
dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
period has not been recognised as a liability at the
end of the reporting period.

21 HXRf#E (E)

(c)

Final dividend in respect of the TAF EHA R & Rk 3
previous financial year, approved FESBFEERARE

and paid during the year, of HK22 ~ B&IR 2278l

Iz 8

M2025%3H27H » £
EEZRBEE2024F12
A31ALFEENREARE
FR0.337BT » BELEY
B148E BB T - BERE
REBEARNTRRNED
BETHBRREFAE L
ok - EHMEREBER
TREE R RHR BEERE B
RAERAEE -

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARET T

cents per share (2023: HK50 (20234 : 507&AlL)
cents) 88,666 214,861
Capital management (d) BEFREE

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at
a reasonable cost. Neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

FEEERERANEIEZERABR
BASEFEEENED  BXR
HuZBEEMRRBHEERE
RBRAF —BRBBEAERAR
MSRE  BEDRREHRD R
EAEMASEEERMERNES
RRBREEMHE R RRER
FRINEBFEMEIEARZR o
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign
exchange risk and price risk arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business. The Group’s exposure to these risks and
the financial risk management policies and practice used by
the Group to manage these risks are described below.

286

(a)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group did not have
trade receivables. The counterparties of the Group’s
other receivables are mainly the Group’s related parties,
management makes periodic assessments on the
recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience to accrue
impairment loss (see note 15(ii)). The exposure to credit
risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with a low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able
to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as
far as possible, that it will have sufficient cash to meet
its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements, and to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of 2023 and 2024 of the Group’s
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and
the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22 BiEREERSRTERN

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AFHE(18)
(continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) mENMEREE ()
2024
20244
Undiscounted cash flow
KUFREHE

Within ~ Morethan ~ More than
1 year 1yearbut  2years but

oron less than lessthan ~ More than Carrying
demand 2 years 5years 5years Total amount
15R5 ailE a2k

REX BN BORSE 5L @t fREE

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFT  ARETRT ARETR ARETRT ARETR ARETR

Accrued expensesand  FEFTERR

other current liabiliies ~ HtRBAR 466,043 - - - 466,043 466,043
Lease liabilities HEEE 6,673 1,513 305 - 8,491 8,257
472,716 1,513 305 - 474,534 474,300
2023
20235
Undiscounted cash flow
AERBSRE

Within More than More than
1 year 1yearbut 2 years but

oron less than less than More than Carrying

demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
15RE, BB1EF BiB2F

REX  AORF  BORSE SELLE At REE

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TR ARETR AR®TR ARETR ARETR

Accrued expensesand  [EFTERR

other current liabilities ~ EftiREIEE 168,584 = = = 168,584 168,584
Lease liabilties REEE 5,941 34 = - 5,975 5,907
174,505 34 = = 174,559 174,491

02458 K ERBRERAT
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

288

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest
risk arising from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is not significant due to the short-term
maturity of these financial instruments. Thus, the Group
is not exposed to significant interest rate risk during the
years of 2023 and 2024.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
payables and cash balances that are denominated in a
foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily
Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars. The Group
manages this risk as follows:
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22 EiEREERESETER

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 2AFE (E)
(continued)
(d) Foreign exchange risk (continued) (d) SMEERPE (&)
The following table details the Group’s exposure TRFLAEBRN RS
at the end of the reporting period to currency 7R P B LA ME B B B8 Th e
risk arising from recognized assets or liabilities EBLUNERTENERE
denominated in a currency other than the REERBEREENE
functional currency of the entity to which they MR BREFNMmMS &
relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts e REUARKESIR I
of the exposure are shown in Chinese Yuan, FREEBNENHEZRR
translated using the spot rate at the year end date. "o
2024 2023
20245 2023%
United United
Hong Kong States Hong Kong States
Dollars Dollars Dollars Dollars
& £ BT EVe
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETR ARBTR ARBTT

Trade and other B 5 Rk EERIE

receivables 9,520 53 18,554 11,130
Cash and cash ReRBEEEY

equivalents 72,687 451 108,322 440
Financial assets at fair ~ RAFEER

value through HEBt ABRN

profit or loss THEE 98,570 143,851 177,106 87,695
Trade and other B REMEATIE

payables (9,205) (25) (18,528) (12,421)

Net exposure to foreign ~ SNERD B4
exchange risk 171,572 144,330 285,454 86,844
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22 BiREREERSRTERN
AFE(E (&)

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(d) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit after tax and
accumulated loss that would arise if foreign
exchange rates to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of the reporting period had
changed at that date, assuming all other risk
variables remained constant.

2024
20244
Increase/
(decrease)
in foreign
exchange
rates

SMERE®
7/ (FR)

HKD BT 1%
(1%)

1%
(1%)

usb

A
=l

(d) HMEERBE ()

Effect on
profit after
tax and
retained
profits
HRHE
BFHREF
gtz
RMB’000
ARETRT

1,458
(1,458)
1,207
(1,227)

TRETRBRAEHME
REBHERETE  HAE
B E MR E R EAE
PR MNEE RN Z A RE
5 AEBEBRBEEF

RZFTEBEE HBR AR
2023
2023F
Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) profit after
in foreign tax and
exchange retained
rates profits
HERBiR

HEEX BNRER
R/ (TH) BEnzE

RMB’000

ARETR

1% 2,426
(1%) (2,426)
1% 738
(1%) (738)
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(e)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price changes risk arising from
equity securities (see note 14).

Price risk the Group facing is mainly the proportionate
fluctuation in the Group’s net profits and equity due to
the price fluctuation of the financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss.

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s net profit and equity that would
arise assuming that the changes in the stock market
index or other relevant risk variables had occurred at
the end of the reporting period and had been applied
to re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to price risk at the
end of the reporting period. It is also assumed that
the fair values of the Group’s equity securities would
change in accordance with the historical correlation
with the relevant stock market index or the relevant risk
variables, and that all other variables remain constant.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2024, it is estimated
that with all other variables held constant, an increase/
decrease in the fair values of equity securities by 1%
would have increased/decreased the Group’s profit
before tax by RMB13,225,000 and RMB6,651,000,
respectively.

22 HAEMEERESRT AR

AFEGHE)

(e)

Efs R
REEHEHRARE S (F2S K
H14) FFEENERSEER -

AEEHEHENEREREERR
NFEFEREESBFTABEN
SEMTANERRBASIZAE
B AR R R AR EL IR B o

BREIMERBRRETSE
YR H AR AR BN E S
REREE  AEBEAR KRS
SHIRWESSE - WAREHR
SREAEEBAEMIIHAEER
BERRERERRROSHT
A o WES T BRRAEERA
BHENLAFESRBERBRE
mEEHIEERREHNBE
BMREE2E  URHESK -2
BAERTE -

B E2023F K% 2024512 A 31
H ZHH - JEHEEFTT
B AFERAESQFEE
m/ B A1 %4 5| A &£ B
BRE AR R o B N A A
E#13,225,000t K AR
6,651,000 °
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

292

(f)

Fair value measurement

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
financial instruments measured at the end of each
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS
13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair
value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22 EiEREERESETER
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AFE(E)
(continued)

() Fair value measurement (continued) (H AFEE(E)
2024
20245
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
FE—h LR BER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBTRT AREBTT
Assets BE
Funds & 308,201 241,540 -
Listed equity securities ARG S 53,125 4 -
Wealth management products IEEIZEm - 61,410 -
Structured deposit BT - 800 -
Total st 361,326 303,754 -
Liability &ff
Financial liabilities measured R AFEEH
at fair value through HE 8t A
profit or loss BEniemas - 56,544 -
Total wst - 56,544 -
2023
2023%F
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
F—H ER E=R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T
Assets BaE
Funds 2 456,212 230,564 -
Listed equity securities RS 185,226 201,386 -
Bonds &% 138,175 - -
Asset management plan EEEHETE - 105,858 -
ABS EEENES - 5,101 -
Wealth management products 2B E M@ - 10 -
Total st 779,613 542,919 -
Liability &ff

Financial liabilities measured A FEEH
at fair value through profit or ~ H&Ezt A B
loss WEREE - 19,545 -

Total st = 19,545 =
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22 EiEREERESETER

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AFE ()
(continued)
() Fair value measurement (continued) ( AFEEGE)
During the years of 2023 and 2024, there were no A2023F 2024 F » E—4REd
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into FoR o EMEET  EEA
or out of Level 3. REHE= o
The fair value of funds, asset management plan, F_RES EEETETE - £
listed equity securities, ABS and wealth management TRAES EEEAESFRIE
products in level 2 is determined by using the net asset BMEMNAFETIERARE A
value or quoted prices as at the reporting date. The NWEEFEIREETE - HER
underlying investments include listed equity securities ERELMRAFSREMEE
and other fixed income investments, all of which have WHKRE  HhE2EHIEIZINE
readily determinable fair values and are measured at fair EMNAFELIZRAFEGTE -
value.
23 COMMITMENTS 23 HiE
Commitments outstanding as at December 31 not provided I 8 A B AR AR BB R A
for in the annual financial report. 12 A31 B e REITAIE ©
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBT T

Contracted for acquisition of subsidiaries 2B HE A A
(note 24(c)) (Ff5E24(c)) 15,600 109,868
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24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Name and relationship with related parties

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024,

the Group entered into related party transactions with:

Name of the entities

HiSEW

Shanghai Rong Qi Information Technology Service
Co., Ltd. (“Ronggi”) (i)
EBRBERRMRBARAE (TEAE D)

Shanghai Yin Sai Computer Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Yinsai”) (formerly known as Shanghai Yin Tian Xia
Technology Co., Ltd.)

PEREFERBEERAR (THRE])

(Al B A TR BRAA)

Shanghai Yintech Investment Group Co., Ltd
(“Yintech Investment”)

EERHMARKREREARAF (TRMLIR D)

Yintech Investment Holdings Limited (“Yintech
Investment Holding”)

RV REERARAE (MBBHREZER )

Forthright Securities Co., Ltd. (“Forthright Securities”)
FEESZBRAR ([HEERS ]

Forthright Management Services Co., Ltd.
(“Forthright Management Services”)

FREERBARLE (HEEERS D

Shanghai Xie Yu Properties Co., Ltd. (“Xieyu”)
EEREMREEFRA R ([ )

Shanghai Qijian Information Technology Co., Ltd
(“Qijian”)
LERENMRERRMERAE ([RE D)

Beijing Guangfa Insurance Brokerage Co., Ltd

(“Guangfa Insurance”)

trEBRRRELCERIE ([ERRE )

()  In April 2024, the equity of Ronggi has been fully

transferred and no longer a related party.

24 EERBAHRXS

(a) FAEEHBEREHEZEIR
B Z2023F K2024F12A31H
LFE AEBENTELFL
BHARS
Relationship
Bz
Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners
HEAERE AESINAFE

Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners
HREER AZFINATE

Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners
HREER AZFNATE
Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners
HRREE AZFINA T

Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners
HREER AZFINATE

Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners
HRREE AZFINA R

Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners
HREAEE AZGNAT

Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners
HRREE AZGINA R
Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners

HEKER AZFNDF

(i) HA2024F4 8  FiERIIRE
E2EEZEE B A B
j‘j- °
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24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 24 BEEMEBARS (E)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b) EEEEASFHN
Remuneration for key management personnel of the AEERFANEEEEAES
Group during the year is as follows: BT
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARBTT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind  #FH& » EEREYEF 3,000 3,204

Discretionary bonuses EYETEAL 990 1,404

Retirement scheme contributions BRRETEIHR 273 320

Share-based payment AR 19 BERE TR 71,626 96,694

Key management personnel remuneration EZEEIE A & %M 75,889 101,622

(c) The significant related party transactions are (c) EXEABtAZSHMAMMNT :

summarised as follows:

2024 2023

20244 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBTT

Services provided by related parties FAEE 1R R AR TS

— Ronggqi — A& 457 5,486
- Yinsai —iRE - 2,516
Purchase of property, plant and REYE MERRE

equipment
- Yintech Investment —REIRIRE 1,496 -
Expenses paid by related parties FAEt A 2T ER
- Yintech Investment Holding —IRBHREZR - 4,408
- Forthright Securities —HiEFES - 3,068
- Forthright Management Services — HEEERE - 149
Office lease from Xieyu BRAERAE
— Depreciation charges during the year - FRMEER 78,169 57,851
— Interest expenses during the year —FRFEREZ 1,814 1,589
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24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

(d)

The significant related party transactions are
summarised as follows: (continued)

On March 8, 2024, the Group entered into the Equity
Transfer Agreement with Qijian and Guangfa Insurance
to acquire the entire equity interest of Guangfa
Insurance held by Qijian. The total consideration for
the Acquisition is RMB52,000,000. As at December 31,
2024, the Consideration of RMB36,400,000 has been
paid and the Acquisition is awaiting regulatory approval.

On December 31, 2024, Jifu, a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the Information System
Procurement Agreement with Yintech Investment,
pursuant to which the Group shall procure and purchase
from Yintech Investment Group information systems and
software to be used for the business and operations of
the Group.

The balances of transactions with related
parties:

Trade B35
Prepayments and other receivables
- Xieyu — BRI
- Yinsai —iRE
- Ronggi —&E
Accrued expenses and other

current liabilities
- Yinsai —RE
Right-of-use assets ERESE
— Xieyu — BB
Lease liabilities HEER
- Xieyu — BRI

AARIERH thRERIE

EstERR AR AR

24 EEEBHRS (E)

(c) EXFABAHZZMmT

(#8)

A2024F3H8H - AREBEER
BN EHRBITLREERT
Z 0 LNBRESEERREN
EPIRAE - WIESTEMEARES
AER#52,000,0007T ° 742024
F12A31H ' EXRHARE
36,400,000 THIRME - MIEE(R
EBWIBSEEWEEHI

MA2024F12H31H » XAFZE
BB ARBTHEEBRAIR L
FEEABGRERZ Bt » K&
EORNEREEFERES
BEERGREMS  LARKER
HIEBREE o

(d) ERAEEFH I HEGER

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREF T
21,365 17,974
13,444 17,244

- 457

- 2,516

2,627 4,707
4,740 4,758
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25 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF

298

FINANCIAL POSITION

25 ATEREMEFERAER

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
20245 2023
12H831H 12A31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FMIEE AREBTRT ARET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BERRE 207 =
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,095 =
Long-term equity investment RERAKKRE * )
1,302 g
Current assets RENEE
Financial assets at fair value BATEFEBEEZE
through profit or loss STABENEMERE 14 252,557 515,621
Prepayments and other receivables  FA{IFIE R EAFEUEIE 15 9,467 7,385
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY 16 72,678 108,284
... 884702 681,290
Current liabilities REaE
Accrued expenses and other EBtEAR
current liabilities HiRE 8 E 18 1,595 3,257
Lease liabilities HEAE 935 =
. 2530 . 3,257
Netcurrentassets === #®B&EFE 332172 628,033
Total assets less current liabilities  MREREBMAM 333474 628033
Non-current liability EREBEE
Lease liabilities HEARE 11(a) 637 -
N . 637 T
NET ASSETS BEFE 332,837 628,033
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25 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 25 ATSEEMATFEIRAE ()
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

December 31, December 31,

Notes 2024 2023
20245 20234
e 128318 12831H
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRRHiE
Share capital (&N 21(a) 4 4
Reserves & 21(b) 332,833 628,029
TOTAL EQUITY HELR YA 332,837 628,033
The balance represents an amount less than RMB1,000. * BREAZBSRIEL R ARA,000TH &
B o
Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors EEEMN2025F3 27 At /ENLIRFE
on March 27, 2025. Bl o
Chen Wenbin R ST #
i =13 %%
Chen Jigeng Directors BRE =

20245 NHBRIBBERAT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B RRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#BIUN RBIIT + 5 HaE8H50)

26 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

26

27

300

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended standards,
which are not yet effective for the year ended December 31,
2024 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following which
may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in
foreign exchange rates — Lack of exchangeability
HERBSHERNE2 REZLZEGHTENIER] — RS T

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7,
Financial instruments: disclosures — Amendments to the
classification and measurement of financial instruments

HEBVKRELZNEFLH T AREBHEHRELER
ETHEHTA  BENET — BT A BN 25T

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

HEBYBHREEASTHEANFERE-F+ M

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements

BB EERE 18R B IR AT IRAKEE

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures

BRYBREENFNSRHF ARSI AT B LA - KF

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements.

COMPARATIVES 27

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation.

JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024

EiE#{EE, F2024E12 A 31
B IEFE i R AEFAVIERT
T EBI R EEA S TTEE
HE
HEZEUBBRTIHEEAL B8
SMAEEEMZIEREZE20245F
12 831 BILFE M REKR B I ERZ
ZPBBRDFEANTTREBTE
B o ZZ R RAETHIEAEB A
B o

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUUT HRjZ 2 & FiaHY

BT RIEIE X

1 January 2025
2025%1H1H

1 January 2026

20261 A1H

1 January 2026
2026F1H1H

1 January 2027
2027F1H1H

1 January 2027
2027%1H1H

REEEFEZSRRERITERANRE
NERTE - 2SHNERD KRS
BRAATREHSHPBRREREKN

E/
o

A
ETFHBBFEEEN ) EUGEEE
REHOBIH -



“Al”
[AlL

“AlIGC”
[AIGC

“Annual Report”

[ FEHRS

“App(s)”
[App]

“Articles” or “Articles
of Association”

[0 8 k[ ABERMA ]
“associate(s)”
[BREEA

“Audit Committee”
[BRZEEE ]

“Award(s)”
ELY
“Board”
[Exg]

“CG Code”
[EER<TH ]

” o«

“Company”, “our Company”,

“the Company” or
“JF Smartinvest”

[RSNSHE
[hAERER]

Definition

R

the forthcoming annual general meeting for the year ended December
31, 2024 of the Company
AARBE2024F12 AN BLEFENEERREFRE

artificial intelligence

ALTEg

Al generated content

ATEEERAR

the annual report of the Company for the year ended December 31,
2024 as published on April 25, 2025
RAFA2025F4 A25 AR MNBIZ2024F12A31 B LFENFER

H
=

application software designed to run on PC, smartphone and other
mobile devices

RETHEPC ~ B FHEREMBERE LBTHREARMA

the second amended and restated articles of association of the
Company, adopted pursuant to the special resolution passed on June
20, 2024, and as amended from time to time

RIER2024F6 A20 HBBFRIRBEREMNA AT E IRLBITR
BIABERMA - TSR

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB LR AR T AR E

the audit committee of the Board
EESERETES

award of restricted share or share units under the Pre-IPO RSU
Scheme and 2024 Share Incentive Scheme
REERAEREAZIRFIRDEN T EIMN2024 F RO BT EEFH
PR HI M AR A9 S AR A0 BE L 2R

the board of Directors of the Company

ARBREEE

the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
TEERTARTGEERRE

JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd (J15 & RIZRER A F), an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on
May 3, 2021, with its Shares listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on the Listing Date under the stock code 9636
NGERERERAR - R20215F5 38 EHSR ST MR ILNESR
REMRAT » HRHORN LEH BHEBRAAER LS (RHAKIE 1 9636)

202453 NAEREZERBRAE gl



Definition

R

“connected person(s)”

[BZEAL

“connected transaction(s)”
[EERS ]

“controlling shareholder(s)”

[ERRR

“Corresponding Period”

[TEI58

“Director(s)”

[EE ]

“Enjoy-Stock Pad” or
“Stock Learning Machine”

[ 5 ZIRIE —
NFERKRRE
BEK
[IREEEH

“gross billings”

[HATETH]

“Group”, “our Group”, “the

Group”, “we”, “us”, or “our”
[ A& =k [ F M
“Guangfa Insurance”
[EE R

“HKAS(s)”
[EBEsER

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BEAEWARRIFRE T 8% E

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB EmRAIME T RS

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRARR T AEE

the year ended December 31, 2023
BZE2023F12A31HLLFE

the director(s) of our Company

RARES

a groundbreaking product launched by the Group during the Reporting
Period. This product provides nine major areas of contents including
stock selection, timing, risk control, strategy and etc., through six core
modules, namely, course, live streaming, information, market trends,
smart investing tools and real-time trading, based on three base
systems, which are the hardware system, Al system and investment
research system. It is designed to help investors further enhance their
finance knowledge and investing capabilities

AEEEREHANELN —KFERIMER - RERUBEHRE - AIR
G RMASG=ZAREERSAKT BERE -BEH &M 7B -8
RIA  BRXFAAROER  ARBREER - 8K - B - KRZ
NKRER - BHAFFHERABSSRABKTHNIRERED

the total amount of cash received for the financial software sales
and services in such period including tax, net of the total amount of
refunds for a specific period
REBHEANFEESHRMHEERRE VR SEATE (B85 - KNRYE
EHERRRERE)

the Company and its subsidiaries and, in respect of the period before
the Company became the holding company of its present subsidiaries,
the businesses operated by such subsidiaries or their predecessors (as
the case may be)

AARRHEMBARUR (BAARKAHREMBARNERARZ
AIERRIT =) ZEMBARRNEA S AR (RBERME) KENEK

Beijing Guangfa Insurance Brokerage Co., Ltd. (It RERRBELE
PR~ 7l), a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability on
November 2, 2009

T FEBRBELHRDT - R2009F11 B2 BEFBEFEMARZNER

nH]

Hong Kong Accounting Standards
BEETTEER

K028 JUF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024



“HKD” or “HK$”
M

“HKFRS”
[EBNIEREER

“HKICPA”
[EREEIAE ]

“Hong Kong” or “HK”
(&%

“IPO”
[PO |

“JF Information”

[&HEE ]

“Jiuyao Stocks” or
“small-amount
series products

(XK IR
[NEERFIEm ]

“KOL”

[KOL]

“Latest Practicable Date”

[REERTTHA

“Listing Date”

[EmEH

Definition

R

the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BREERY

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA
BESHMASHEANT B ERELER

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
ERETMAE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEARANBEEBFIITHE

initial public offering
EPNGE 4

JF (Shanghai) Information Technology Co., Ltd. ({& (L 5)1E B fiiE
FR‘A®]), a company incorporated in the PRC on July 23, 2021, and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

B (L8 EREMAERAT » R2021%F7 A23 BEFEIFMAMHA
A ARARNEEZENBAR

standardized products developed by the Group based on its strengths
in data analysis and Al technology, and by applying professional
strategy and signal analysis. It is designed to lower the investing
threshold, help customers identify risks and assist investors in rational
and scientific decision-making in the course of investing based on
advanced Al technology and professional investment research analysis
U MMARNEEZARE  EREXERKNERIMITENE
EiEmR  EREBBAEENARMANEXNRADN  BEREPE
HEYEFEBRAR  AREEEREBRETREEEAEMNBIIRKE
Bf

acronym for “key opinion leaders”, the users of an internet product
who are accepted or trusted by other users of the internet product and
can significantly influence their decisions

[BREREM INENES  BEBAERNEMERERINEHE

WHEREBEAZENNEBRRERERE

April 24, 2025, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of
this Annual Report for ascertaining certain information herein
2025F4 A 248 - IAFERENNARBEEHF rEE TERNRRE
BRTTAH

March 10, 2023, the date on which the Shares are listed and on which
dealings in the Shares are first permitted to take place on the Stock
Exchange

202338100  ROREEXZ LT RROBRBENBEIAEENA
HA

202453 NAERIEFRBRAS X



Definition

R

“Listing Rules”
[ LAl
“Main Board”
[ EM

“MCN(s)”

[MCN |

“Model Code”
[#ZEE<F A ]

“Over-allotment Option”

[ R AR E

HPC!!
[PC]

“Period” or
“Reporting Period”
[ZH IR [ #RE&EHA

“PRC” or “China” or
“Mainland China”

[FREE IR hE At

“Pre-IPO RSU Scheme”

[BER DB EAZRE
RGBT ]

“Prospectus”
[ERER]

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

(BRHERZFMERATRS LWHRA)  KBFEHER] « BRSUEM
FHEH

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the
Stock Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel
with the GEM of the Stock Exchange
MERFrEENREZRZ M (TREPETS) - BYNE X PTGEMIEL
HIITEE

acronym for “multi-channel network,” is an organization that offers
assistance in areas such as production, content programming,
monetization and audience development to internet KOLs or internet
celebrities

[ZREPHR NENES  RAEBFEKOLIMALRMUAMEE - AR
iz - BRRERMRE ST EBBAIHE

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers

(EMBITAESETESZZNEESAD

has the meaning as defined in the Prospectus
BERRERMERNEE

acronym for “personal computer”

[BAZERINEXES
the year ended December 31, 2024
HE2024F12A31BLLEE

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this
Annual Report, Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and
Taiwan

REARANE  BAFEREMS @ TEEEE  BFBITHRER

restricted share unit scheme adopted pursuant to a resolution of the
Board dated June 1, 2021
RI52021 56 A1 BMNEETSREBEREMNZIRHIMR D E TS

the prospectus of the Company dated February 28, 2023
RATRBEAR2023F2 528 HMNBRER

JF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024



“Qijian Technology”

[RAR R

“RMB” or “Renminbi”
[ARH]

“SAC”
[SAC]

“SFO”
EE T C Ll

“Shanghai Beixun”
[ LigH8)

“Shanghai Feixiu”

[ £ |

“Shanghai Fudong”

[EEE%]

“Shanghai Jiufangyun”

[ESABE]

“Shanghai Yingma”

=3

Definition

R

Shanghai Qijian Technology Information Technology Co., Ltd. (L&
BAEREEHMT AR D F), a company established in the PRC on
October 11, 2013, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Yintech
Holdings

LEBRANKEERMARAT - R2013F10811 HERBER LN
8 BAEHERNEZEZERB LR

the lawful currency of the PRC
HEDEEE®

Securities Association of China

HEESEGE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance

(R REERG)

Shanghai Beixun Industrial Co., Ltd., a company established in the
PRC on November 28, 2011
LSHEEXARAT - R2011F11 B28 B ERERINAH

Shanghai Feixiu Internet Technology Co., Ltd., a company
incorporated in the PRC on January 21, 2019 and an indirect
subsidiary of Yintech Investment Holdings Limited
EEEFHEXBFZARLT - —ER20195F1 A21 BERBEFEMA L
DA BEFHREEZERAR A BDNEEHNE L

Shanghai Fudong Culture Media Co., Ltd., a company established
in the PRC on October 10, 2009, and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

EBEFHULEEBRAT 0 HN2009F10 B 10 BEFBEIKILNAF -
AXQTNEEE2EWBLF

Shanghai Jiufangyun Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd., (formerly known
as Shanghai Xinhuitong Investment Consulting Co., Ltd., Xiamen
Xinhuitong Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. and Xiamen Bubutong
Mobile Phone Accessories Co., Ltd.), a company established in the
PRC on August 19, 1996, and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company

EBAFEEEREERAR (AIBLBFEEREBEBERAR -
EFTHEBREZAGRATAREM TSI BRDEFRMHERL
Al M1996F8 A 19 BRI AR » RAA RN E2ENE

nE

Shanghai Yingma Computer Network Technology Co., Ltd., a
company established in the PRC on October 19, 2018, and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

L ERETERAKBEERAR - N2018F10 819 B EHBEIK LK
RNE BARAANEEZEME LA

202453 NAERIERBRAS LS



Definition

R

“Share(s)”

(B i
“Shareholder(s)”

[ |

“Smartinvest App”

[T ERApp] B

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 32 | B

“Stock Navigator Series”

[REEMAZT ] 5}
“subsidiary(ies)”
[HEEAaE &

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a par value
of HKD0.00001 each
AR BRAHEREE0.000018 THEBR

holder(s) of the Share(s)
RMEFE A

Smartinvest Stock Quote Software, a proprietary App of the Group,
which is equipped with products such as the Stock Navigator Series,
Super Investor and Jiuyao Stocks, and integrates features of data
display and analysis, trading, live video streams by famous experts,
insights and professional information. It provides intelligent services
such as multi-dimensional stock selection, Al stock diagnostics and
risk monitoring that can meet the diverse and personalized needs of
users

NGERRETERY  XEEBENApp - BHERBEBEMARS - BR
REZR - WXREER  UETHERETRESN - X5 - BMREERE
BE - EXEAR -8 TRESHEER - ADR - BREEZSEER
% WmERAFPZHA - EMEER

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBBERSMEBRAHE

a product built on years of the Group’s experience in the investment
advisory service industry in response to user’s practical needs. It
encompasses features such as text/video live streaming, exclusive
insights, expert courses, smart investing tools and dedicated
customer service, and is designed to help investors seize immediate
market opportunities, master stock selection methods and build up
investment portfolios

UASEZFRBRBTESRAER  EEAFERERITE 88
XFREEE  BREBEY - AWRE BRIA - - EEERSME
HPREERWIEETERS  ZRERS L BEURERAR

has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 15 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEEBEHE22E (A TR (BAKEET - HRNAE MG X E
B0 B 151R PR T AR

K[0[GN JUF Smartinvest Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2024



“Super Investor”

BRIRER

“traffic”
[ARE]

HVAT"
[VAT]

“Yinke Chuangzhan”

[RAAIR

“Yinke Group”
[RAIEEE ]

“Yintech Financial”

['Yintech Financial |

Definition

R

a product developed by the Group’s JF Financial Research Institute
with the engagement of numerous experienced investment advisors.
It encompasses features including simulated portfolios, video live
streams, expert courses, software indicators, article columns and
exclusive private investment advisory services, and is designed to
help investors induce right investing concepts and develop scientific
investment portfolios

HAEENG ERARMEERZSERREBBITE  S2EHES
BIRERE - KMRE - PHEE - XEEW EBRELEZRBESE - B
IREEBEERNWREES  BUNBNRERA

in terms of traffic in our market matrix, the flow of audience on various
media platforms

REMATSEETNORENS - RZARETFENZITRE

value-added tax
BER

Shanghai Yinke Chuangzhan Investment Group Co., Ltd., a company
incorporated in the PRC on April 14, 2015 and an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of Yintech Investment Holdings Limited
LERBMARKREEEERQT - —BN2015F4 A 14 BEHEIEMR
MWAT > RRBHREZRERARNEZEZEMBE AR

Yinke Chuangzhan and its subsidiaries and associates from time to
time

RYUBRRAETEZWBELRRBEQT

Yintech Financial Holdings Company Limited, a company incorporated
under the laws of the British Virgin Islands on December 12, 2016 and
a wholly owned subsidiary of Yintech Holdings as of the date of this
Annual Report

Yintech Financial Holdings Company Limited * 742016512 812 A1}
BREEZHESELEZIMALNAR  BEAFERE APREBRHER
N2 EKE DT

202453 NAERIERARAS Bl



Definition

R

“Yintech Holdings”

[RBHEAR | B

“Yintech Holdings Group’

[REHEIREE | b
“Yoy”

[ ] B
“%!!

[%] b

“2024 Share Incentive Scheme”

Yintech Investment Holdings Limited, an exempted company
established in the Cayman Islands on November 4, 2015 with limited
liability, whose American depositary receipts were previously listed on
the NASDAQ (ticker symbol: YIN) and were delisted from the NASDAQ
on November 18, 2020. It is ultimately controlled by Mr. CHEN
Wenbin, Mr. YAN Ming and Ms. CHEN NINGFENG, all being Directors
and controlling shareholders of the Company, as to 36.14%, 23.72%
and 21.10%, respectively, as at the date of this Annual Report
IRRIREEREIRAT - R2015F 11 B4BEHERERINWERRE
RAF HEFGFAREZAEMITER LT (RERE | YIN) » ER
2020F 11 B 18 HEMMERRT - RAFERE AN » ZLAHRKH
AARESRERBRRBRIWEL - BALERCHEN NINGFENGZ £
D RIIEHI36.14% ~ 23.72% K 21.10% I #E

Yintch Investment Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries and
associates from time to time

RMREERERDARETEHBEARRBE QT

year-on-year

Btk

percent
Aotk

the share incentive scheme approved and adopted by resolutions of
the Remuneration Committee and the Board dated September 27,
2024

[2024 5 R0 F B =81 B RIB2024F9827 ANFHMEE SR ESSRBRFRANR G BB TS
* The English translation of the PRC entities, products, enterprises, § ARFEEREFPBDENATHRERE - EHR -

nationals, facilities, regulations in Chinese included in this Annual Report
is for identification purpose only. To the extent there is any inconsistency
between the Chinese names of the PRC entities, products, enterprises,
nationals, facilities, regulations and their English translations, the Chinese

names shall prevail.

2R Rt ERHPEFREHRE
AzB-mRPEER -Em- X A
R & AR R REH R ET
—BU AR BB -
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